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PROJECT MKULTRA. THE CIA'S PROGRAM OF
RESEARCH IN BEHAVIORAL MODIFICATION

WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 3, 1877

TN, SExATH,
SELECT COMMITIEE ON INTELLIGENCE,
AND Stpcosnrres ox Hesnrn
AND NCENTiFIe RESEARCH
of Tik Cosxrrrer o Homan Resovrees, -
Washington, D.C.

The committees met, pursuant to notice, at $:07 a.mn. in room 1202,
Dirksen Senate Oflice Building, Senator Daniel K. Inouye (chairman
of the Select Committee on Intelligence) presiding.

Present : Senators Inouye (presiding), Kennedy, Goldwater, Bayh.
Hathaway. Huddleston, Hart, Schweiker, Case, Garn, Chafee, Lugar
and Wallop.

Also present : William G. Miller, staff director. Select Committee on
Intelligence: Do Lawrenee Horowitz, staflt divector. Subeommittee
on Health and Scientific Research: and professional statf members of
both committees,

Senator Inxovrye. The Senate Select Committee on Intelligence is
meeting todav and is joined by the Subcommittee on Health and
Scientific Research chatred by Senator Edward Kennedy of Mas-
sachusetts and Senator Richard Schweiker of Pennsylvania. Senator
Hathaway and Senator Chafee are members of both committees. We
are to hear testimony from the Director of Central Intelligence. Adm.
Stansficld Turner. and from other Agency witnesses on issuex concern-
ing new documents supplied to the committee in the last week on drug
testing conducted by the Central Intelligence Agency.

It should be made clear from the outset that in general, we are
focusing on events that happened over 12 or as long as 25 vears ago.
It should be emphasized that the programs that are of greatest con-
cern have stopped and that we are reviewing these past events in
order to better understand what statutes and other guidelines might be
necessary to prevent the recurrence of such abuses in the future. We
alsn need to know and understand what is now being done by the CIA
in the field of behavioral research to be certain that no current abuses
are occurring.

I want to commend Admiral Turner for his fall cooperation with
this committee and with the Subeommittec on Health in recognizing
that this issue needed our attention. The CIA has assisted our com-
mittees and staffs in their investigative efforts and in arriving at
remedies which will serve the best interests of our country.

(1)
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The reappearance of reports of the abuses of the drug testing pro-
gram and yeports of other previonsly anknown drug programs and
projects for hehavioral control nnderline the necessity for effective
over-ight procedures hoth in the exeentive branel and in the Con-
gress, The Seleet Committee on Intelligenee has been working very
closely with President Cavter, the Viee President. and Admiral
Tarner and his associates in developing hasic eonceptx for statutory
auidelines which will govern all activities of the intelligence agencies
of the United States,

In fact. it i= myv expectation that the Pre<ident will =0on announce
his decisions on how he has decided the intelligenee acencies of the
United State- <ha!! e organized. This comittee will he warking
closely with the President and Admiral Turner in placing this new
ctrtetnre under the Taw and to develop effective oversight procedures,

1t i elear that effective oversight reguires that information must
be full aned fortheoming. Full and imely information i« obviously
necessary i the conmittec and the pullic’is to he confident that any
triiseroesions can be dealt with guickly and forcefully.

One purpose of this hearing is to give the committee and the publie
an under<tanding of what new information hax been discovered that
add- to the knowledge already available fram previous Church and
Kennedy inguiries, and to hear the reasons why the<e documents were
not available to the Chineel and Kennedy committees, It is also the
purposc of this hearing to address the issnes raised by any additional
Mega) or iniproper activities that have emerged from the files and to
develop remedies ta prevent <uch improper activities from occurring
agcain.

Finallv, there is an obligation on the part of hoth this committee
and the CITA 1o make every effort to help these individuals or institu-
tions that mav have heen Tiarned by any of the=e improper or illegal
activitie. T am certain that Admiral Turner will work with this com-
mittee to<ee that this will be done.

1 would now like to welcome the most distingnizhed Senator from
Aluesachueett~. the chairman of the Health Subconunittee, Senator
Kennedy,

Qenator Kexyeny. Thank vou very mmeh. Mr. Chairman, We are
delishted to join together in this very important arei of public in-
auiry and public interest,

Some 2 vears ago., the Senate Health Siheommittee heard ehilling
tetimony about the hunan expervimentation setivities of the Central
Tntelignee Ageney. The Deputy Director of the CT.A revealed that
over 30 aniversitive and institntions were nvolved inan “extensive
te~ting and experimentation” program which inehaded covert drug
tost~ on unwitfing citizens “at all social Tevels, high and low, native
Amerieans and Toreien,” Several of these tost~ involhved the adiminis-
tration of =D to “nnwitting subjects in ~ocial <ituntion=.”

At Teast one deathe that of D, Olsen, vesulted from these activities,
The Avenev it=el acknowledged that these test- made little scientifie
cen=e. The neents doing the monitoring were not qualified seientific
oheerver=. The test subijects were seldom acce=sible hevond the first
hours of the test, Tn o number of instances, the test snbjeet beeame ill
for hours or dayvs, ind effective followup wa- impo=sible,
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Other experiments were equally offensive. For example, heroin
addicts were enticed into participating in LSI) experiments in order
to gt o reward—heroin.

Perhaps most disturbing of a1l wax the fact that the extent of ex-
perimentation on human subject~ was unknown. The records of all
these activities were destroved in January 1973, at the instruction of
then CIA Dirvector Richard Helms In spite of persistent inquiries by
both the Iealth Subcommittee and the Intelheence Committee. no
additional records or information were forthcominge. And no one—
no single individual—could be found who remembered the details. not
the Divector of the CIA. wha ordered the doenments destroved, not

' the offivial responsible for the program. nor any of his associates.

We believed that the record. incomplete as 1t was, was as complete
as it was going to be, Then one individual, through a Freedom of In-
formation request. accomplished what two U.S. Senate committees
could not. He spurred the ageney into finding additional records per-
taining to the CIA s program of experitientation with human subjects.
The<e new records were disecovered by the ageney in March, Their
exiztence was not made known to the Congress until July.

o The records reveal a far more extensive series of experiments than
’ had previously been thought. Eighty-six universities or institutions
were involved, New instanees of unethical behavior were revealed.
The intelligence community of thix Nation, which requires a shroud
of seerecy In order to operate, has a very =acred trust from the
American people, The CLA's program of human experimentation of
the fifties and sixties violated that trust, Tt was violated again on the
day the bulk of the ageney's records were destroved in 1973, Tt is
violated each time a responsible official refuses to recollect the details
of the program. The best safewuard against abuses in the future is a
complete public acrounting of the abuses of the past,
I think this i~ ilestrated, as Chairman Inouve pointed out. These
. are issues. are questions that happened in the fifties and sixties, and
go back <ome 13, 20 year< aga, but they ave front page news today, as
we see in the major newspapers and on the television and in the media
of this country: and the reason they are. T think. is beeanse it just con-
tinuously begins to trickle out. sort of. month after month. and the
best wayv to put this period behind us, obvionsly, is to have the full
information. and I think that i the desire of Admiral Turner and of
the members of thix commitiee,

The Central Intelligenre Acency drugged American citizens with-
out their knowledge or consent. Tt nsed university facilities and per-
sonnel without their knowledze, Tt funded leading researchers, often
without their knowledgo,

These institutec. these individuals. have a right to know who they
are and how and when they were used. Ax of today. the Agency itself
refuses to declassify the names of these institntions and individuals,
quite appropriatelv. T might sav. with recard to the individunals under
the Privacy Aet. Tt scems to e to be a fundamental responsibility to
notify those individuals or indtitutions, rather. T think many of them
were eanght up in an unwittine manner to de research for the
Aceney. Manv researchers, distingnished researchers. some of our
most outstanding members of our scientific conununity. involved in
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thiz network, now really do not know whether they were involved or
not. and it seems to me that the whole health and elimate in terms of
onr university and our seientitic and health facilities are entitled to
that response,

So. T inter] to do all T ean fo persnade the Ageney to., at the very
least. officially inform those inetitutions and individuals involved. '

Two vears ago. when these ahuses were first revealed. 1 introduced
Jeeiclation. with Senator Schweiker and Senator Javits, designed to
minimize the potential for any similar abu=es in the future. That
legistation expanded the jurisdiction of the National Commission on
Human Subjects of Biomedieal amd Behavioral Research to cover all
federally funded research involving hnman subjects. The re<carch
imitinlly was just divected towand W activitios, but this legislation
covered DOD as well asthe CTAL

Thi= Nation ha< a biomedieal and behavieral research eapalility
cocond to none. 1 has had for subjeets of HEW funded researeh for
the past 3 vears a svstem for the protection of human subjects of hio-
medieal and hehavioral research second to none. and the Human kEx-
periimentation Commis<ion has proven its valne, Todav's hearings
and the record already established underscore the need to expand 18
jurisdiction,

The CLA supported that legi-lation in 1975, and it pas~ed the Senate
ananimonsly Tast yvear. 1 helieve it i~ necded in order to assure all
our people that they will have the degree of protection in human ex-
perimentation that they deserve and have every right to expect.

Senntor Inovye, Thank von very much. Now we will proceed with
the heavings. Admiral Turner?

[ The prepared =tatement of Admiral Turner follows:]}

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ADMIRAL STANSFIELD TURNER, InRECTOR OF CENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE

Mr. Chairman - In my letter to yvou of July 15, 1977, I reported our recent dis-
covery of seven boxes of documents reluted to Project MKULTRA. a clusely held
CIA project conducted from 1953-1964. As yon may recall, MRULTRA was an
cambrelln praject’” under which vertain sensitive subprajeets were funded. in-
volving aong other thinos rescarch on drugs and behavioral madification, 1mr-
ing the Rockefeller Commission and Church Commitiee jnvestigations in 1970,
the cryptonyin became publicly knowu when details of the druc-related death of
Drr. Frank Olson were ||nhlivi7.(-(l. In 1903 . Olsou, a civilian employee of the
Army at Fort Detrick. leaped 1o his death from a botel room windew in New
York City about o weeh after having unwittinzgly consuined LRI administered to
Bim ns AN experituent ntoa meeting of LS researchers called by CIA.

AMaxt of what was known ahout the Agency’s involvenent witli behavieral
druss during the investigations in 1975 was contained inoa report on P'roject
MEULTRA preparsd by the Inspector General's office in 1103, As a result of
that report’s recommendations, unwitting testing of drugs on .8 citizens was
sutmequently diseontinued. The MKULTRA-related report was made available to
the Chinurech Commitiee investizitors and to the staff of Renator Kennedy's sub-
connuittee on Health. T ntil the recent discovery, it was helieved that all of the
MKULTRA tiles dealing with behavieral modifieation had been destroyed in
1053 n the orders of the then retiring Chief of the Office of Teclnieal Nerviee,
with the authorization of the then DCL as has heen previonsh reported. Almost
all of the people wWho had had any conuection with the aspects of the project
which interested Nenate investigators in 1975 were ho lonzer with the Agency
at that tite, Thus, there was little detailed knowledge of the MRKULTRA snh-
projects available to CLA during the Church Connnittee jnvestigations, This
lack of available detailx. 10Teover, was probably not wholly attributahle to the
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destrnction of MKULTRA files in 19731 the 1963 report on AMKULTRA by the
1uspector General notes on piaze 14 : “I'resent practive is to maintain uo records
of tis- planning and approval of test progrims’”

When 1 reported to you last on this matter, my staff had not yet had an
opportuuity to review the newly located material in depth. This has now heen
aceomplished, and I am in a pasition to zive you a description of the contents of
the recoversd materiall 1 helieve you will be most interested in the followinu
aspects of the recent discovery:

11w the material was discovered and why it was not previously found;

The nature of this recently located material

How much new jnformation there is in the matertu! which may not have
been pru\'jun;\']_\' known and reported to Nenate iuvestigntors; and

What we believe the most siimiticant aspects of this find to be,

To bogin, as to how we discovered these materinls PThe material had hbeen
cent to uur Retired Records Center ontside of Wiashingston and wax discovered
there ns a result of the oxtensive seireh efforts of an employee charged with re-
spon~ibility for maintaining our holdings on behavioral druzs and for responding
to Freedom of Information Act regquests on this subject. During the Chureh
Committee investigation in 1075, searchies for MKULTRA-related material were
mude hy examining both the active and retired records of all branches of C1A
con~idered at all likely to have Lad association with MKULTIRA documents. The
retired records of the Budret and Fiscal Section of the Branch respomsibile for
such work were not searclied. however This was hecause finnneial papers as-
socinted with sensitive projects such s MEULTRA were normally maintained
by the Branch jtselt under the project file. not by the Budgzet and Fiscal Section.
In the vase at hand. however, the newly located materinl was sent to the Re-
tired Recomls Center in 1970 by the Budget and Fiseal Nection as part of fts
own retired holdings. The reason for this depurture from nornald procedure is not
known, As a result of it. however, the miaterial escitped retrieval and destruction
in 1973 by the then-retiring Director of the Office as well ax discovery in 1970
by CTA ofticials responding to Senate investiziators,

The emplovee who Jocated this materind did so by leaving no stone unturned
in his efforts te respond to FOILA requests, He reviewed all listings of material
of thisx Rraueh stored at the Retired Records Center, including thoxe of the
Rudget and Fiseal Section and. thux. discovered the MRULTRA-related docn-
ments which had beet missed i the previous senrohios. In sum, the Agency failed
to nneover these particular docutients in 1973 in the process of attempting to
dextroy them @ it similarty failed to Jocite them in 1975 in responxe to the Church
Connnittee hearings. 1 am convineed that there wis ho attempt to conceal this
materinl during the enrlier seirches. .

Next. as to the nature of the recently located material, it is important to
realize that the recovered folders are finabee folders. The hulk of the materinl in
thetn consists of approvils for advance of fumdds, vouchers, acconntings, and the
like—mnst of which are not very informitive as to the nature of the activities
that were undertaken. Qe sjonal project proposals or memoranda comnent-
ing on solle aspect of a subproject are seattertd throughout this material.
In general, however, the recoverad materinl does not jnclude status reports or
other docents relating to operationil considertions or progress< in the various
snhprojects, thougl some elaboration of the activities contemplited does gppear.
The recovered documents fall roughly into three categories: .

First, there are 144 MAULTRA subprojects. mand of which appear to have
come connection with research into behavioral modiication, drug ucquisition
and testing or administerime drugs surreptitionsly.

Second, there are two hoxes of niis elaneous MRKULTRA papers. including
andit reports and finaneinl statements from cent-ont” i, intermediary)
funding mechanisms used to coneenl C1A's sponsorship of various research
]lrllj(‘|‘t~,

Fiually. there are 52 additional subprajeets enneerning certain intelligence
activities previousiy funded under MEULTRA which have pothing to do
either with behavioral modification, drug~. ad toxins or with am other re-
1ated matters.

We have attempted 1o gronp the aetivitios eovered by the 140 subprojects into
categories under desceriptive headines, In hroad outdine, at Jeast, this presents the
contents of these files. The activities are pliaced in the following 18 categories:
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1. Research into the effects of behavioral drugs and/or alcohol :

17 subproejects prahably not involving human testing .

14 subprojects definitely involving tests on human volunteers:

19 subprojects probably incinding tests on human volunteers. While not
known, some of these subprojects may have included tests on unwitting sub-
jeets ns well:

6 subprojects involving tests o nnwitting subjects.

2 Resenreh on hypnosis : S subprojects, including 2 involving hypnasis and drugs
in combination.

3. Acquisition of chemicals or drues: 7T subprojects.

4 Aspects of magicians’ art useful in eover! operations: eg. surreptiticus de-
livers of drng-related materials o 4 subprojects,

= Qiudiex of human hehuavior. sleep research. and behavioral changes during
pryehotherapy @ 8 subprojects,

6. Library searches and attendance at seminars and international conferences
on behavioral modification : G subprojects,

7. Maotivationnl studies, studies of defectors, assessment. and trainiug tech-
nigues: 23 subprojects,

& Polveraph research @ 8 subprojects,

o Funding mechanisms for MKULTRA esternal research activities: 3
subprojects

10. Re<earch on druzs. toxins, and biologicals in human tisene ! provision of
exotic pathogens and the eapability to incorporate them in effective delivery
systems - G subproject s,

11. Activities whose objectives cannot he deterinined from available documen-
tation : 3subprojects,

12 Subprajects involving funding support for unspecified activities connected
with the Armn s Special Operations Division at Fr. Detrick. Md. This activity is
ontlite in Book Tof the Chureh Caommnittee Report, ppe 388-380. (Sea Appendix A,
pp. 6500 Under CLA's Project MKNAOMI. the Army Assisted C1A in develop-
ing. testing, and maintaining biological agents and delivery systems for use
agninst humans as well as ngainst animals and crops, The ohjectives of these
subprojects cannot be fdentified from the recovered material beyond the faet
that the money wis to he nsed where normal funding channels would require
more written or oral justification than appeared desirable for SOCUTITY TeiSons
or where aperational cottsiderations diciated short Tead tinees for purchases. Ahout
11400 was invelved during this period TO53- 160 0 2 subproject s,

12 Ningle subprofects in suel areas ax effects of elect ro-shock, harassment tech-
nigques for offensive vseoaunlysis of extrisensory prereeption. gas propelled sprays
and nero<ols, and four suliprojects involving erop amlimaterial sabotigze.

34 One or 1wo sabprojeets on esch of the following

“Rland Grouping” research, eontrolling the activity of animals, energy
stornge and transfor in organic systemsand

stimulus and response in hiological systems,

15, Three subprojects cancelled hefore any waork was done on them having to
Qe with Iaboratory drug sereening. research on brain concussion, and research
on biologically active niaterials tohe tested throngh the skin on human volunteers.

Noav, s to how much new the recovered material adds to what hax previously
been reported to the Clinreh Committee and to SKenator Kennedy's Kubeommirtee
on Hentth o these topies, the answer is additional detail. for the most part @ e.g.
the names< of previously unidemtified researchers and institutions associated on
either g witting or unwitting basis with MKULTRA activities. and the names nf
CIA officials wha approved or monitored the various subprojects. Some new sub-
stantive materinl i~ al-o present : eg. details concerning proposals for exjperi-
mentation and elinicia}l festing associated with varions research projects, and B
poss<ibly improper contritmtion by CIA to o private institution. However. the
principal types of activities inchuded have, for the most part, either een outlined
to vome extent or generally deseribed in what wis previously available to CIA
in the way of documentation and wax suppdied by 1A to Senate investigaiors.
For example:

Finaneial dishursement records for the period 19%60-1064 for 6 of the 149
numbered MKULTRA sulprajects had been recavered from the Office of Finance
by C1A ond were made available ta the Chureh Connnittee investigators in Augist
or September 1975,

The 1963 Tnspector General report on MKULTRA made available to both the
Church Cotumittee and Senator Kennedy's Subcommittee mentions electro-shock
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and h-:\rnwxfwm substances (pp. 4. 16) ;0 covert testing on uvnwitting U.S. citizens
(pp. 7. 10-12) ¢ the search for new materials through arrangements with special-
fstx in universities. pharmaceutival houses, hospitals, state sand federal institu-
tions, and private research organizations (pp. 7. 9) : and the fact that the Tech-
nical Service Division of CIA had initinted 144 subprojects related to the control
of human behavior between 1953-1963 (p. 21).

. The xtel.e\‘m\t section of a 19 7 Inspectar General report on the Technical Serv-
ice Division was also made available to the Church Connuittee staff. That report
discusses techuiigues for buman assexsment and unorthodox methods of cow-
munication (p. 2001 : discrediting aud dixabling materials which can be covertly
administered (pp 201-202) ; studie~ on magicians’ arts as applied to covert ox)ef-
ations (p. 2021 ; specific funding mechanisms for research performed outside of
CIA (pp. 202-203, 205) ; research being done on “K” (knockout) material, alcobol
tolerance. and hypnotism (p. 203) ; research on L8D (p. 204) ; anti-personnel
harassment and assassination delivery systews including aerosol generators and
other spray devices (pp, 206-208, : the role of Fort Detrick in support of CIA’s
Biological ‘Chemical Warfare capability (p. 208 ; and material sabotage research
(p. 204%). Much of thix material is reflected in the Church Committee Report,
Rk T, pp. 387422 (See Appendix A, pp. 65-102).

The must significant new data discovered are, first, the names of researchers
and institutions who participated in the MKULTRA project and, secondly, a
pos-ibly improper contribution by ClA to a private juxtitution. We are now in
possession of the names of 183 non-government researchers and assistants who
are identitierl in the recovered material dealing with the 14% subprajects, The
pames of N institutions where work was done or with which these people were
affiliated are also mentioned.

The institutions include 44 colleges or universities, 15 research foundations or
chemical or pharmaceutical compunies and the like, 12 hospitals or clinics (in ad-
dition to those associated with universities), and 3 penal institutions. While the
identities of some of these people and institutions were known previously, the
discovery of the new identities adds to our knowledge of MKULTRA.

The factx as they pertain to the possibly improper contribution are as follows:
One project involves a eontribution of $375.600 to a building fund of a private
medical institution. The fact that a contribution was made was previously
known : indeed it was mentioned in a 1957 Juspector General report on the
Technical Service Division of ClA. pertinent portions of which had been re-
viewed by the Church Committee staff. The newly discovered material, bowever,
mukes it clear that this eontribution was made through an intermediary, which
made it appear to be a private donation. As a private donation, the contribution
was then matched by federal funds, The institution was not made aware of the
true source of the gift. This project was approved by the then DCI, and concurred
in by C1A's top management at the timne, including the then General Counsel who
wrote an opinion supporting the legality of the contribution.

The recently discovered documents give a greater insight into the scope of the
unwitting drug testing but contribute little wore than that. We now have col-
Inborating information that some of the unwitting drug testing was carried on
in safehouses in San Francisco and New York City, and we have identified that
three individuals were involved in this undertaking as opposed to the previously
reported one persan. We also know now that some unwitting testing took place
on criminal sexual psychopaths confined at a State hospital and that, additional-
iy, research was done on a knock-out or “K” drug in parallel with research to
develop pain killers for eancer patients.

These. then are the principal findings identified to date in cur review of the
recovered miterial. Ax noted earlier. we believe the detail on the identities of
researchers and institutiops invelved in CIA's sponsorship of drugs and be-
havioral moeditieation is a new element and one which poses a considerable prob-
lem. Most of the people and instifutions involved are not aware of Agency
sponsorship. We shonld certainly assume that the researchers and institutions
which conperated with CIA on a witting basis acted in good faith and in the
belief that they were aiding their government in a Jegitimate and proper purpose.
1 believe we all have a moral ebligation to these rescarchers and institutions to
protect them from any unjustified emba rrassment or damage to their reputations
whieh revelution of their identities might bring. In nddition. I have a legal
obligaition under the Privacy Act net to publicly disclose the names of the in-
dividual reseircihers without their consent. Thix is expecially true, of course, for
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those researchers end institutions which were unwitiing participants in ClA-
spolsnred aetivities

Nevertheless, recoguizing the right and the need of both the Senate Seleet
Committer on Intelligence and the Senate Xubeonnnittee on Iealth to investigite
the circumstanees of these activities in whatever derail they consider necessary.
I am providing your Committee with all of the names on a clissitied ha<is |
hope that this will facilitate your investigation while protecting the individuals
and institutions involved. Let me emphasize that the MEULTRA events are 12
to 25 years in the past, ¥ assure you that the CIA is jn no way engaged in either
witting or unwitting testing of driogs today.

Finally, 1 am working ¢losely with the Attorney General and with the Seeres
tary of Health. Edueation and Welfure on this matter. We are making available
L the Attorney General wlhatever materials e may Qeeln Lecessary to any
investigation be may elect to undertake, We npe working with hoth the Attorney
General amd the Recretary of Heabth, Edueation and Welfare to determine
whether gt is practicable from thisc new evidenece to attemp? to identify any of
the persons to Whom drugs may have been administered unwittingly No sueh
names are part of these records, bt we are working to determine if there are
adequate chaes to Jead to their identitication - and if so, how to go about fultilling
the Government's responsibilities in the matier.

TESTIMONY OF ADM. STANSFIELD TURNER. DIRECTOR OF CENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE, ACCOMPANIED BY FRANK LAUBINGER. OFFICE
OF TECHNICAL SERVICES: AL BRODY. OFFICE OF INSPECTOR
GENERAL: ERNEST MAYERFIELD. OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL:
AND GEORGE L. CARY, LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL

Admiral Terxer. Thank you. Mr. Chairman. T would like to begin
by thanking vou and Senator Kennedy for having a joint hearing this
morning. 1T hope this will expedite and facilitate onr getting all the
information that both of your committees need into the vecord quickly,

T would like also ta thank you both for prefacing the remarks today
by reminding us all that the events abont which we are here to talk
are 12- to 24-vear~ old. They in no way represent the current activities

What we are here to do ix to give vou an fhe information that we

now have and which we did not previonsly have on a subject known
as Project MKULTRA. a project which took place from 19533 to 1964,
Tt was an umbrella project under which there were numerous sub-
projects for recearch. among other things, on drugs and behavioral
modification. What the new material that we offer today is a sup-
plement to the considerable material that was made available in 1975,
during the Clinreh commitice heavines. and also to the Senate Suly-
committee on Hlealth and Seientific Research.

At that time, the CTA offered up all of the information and docu-
ments it helieved it had available. The principal one availalile at that
time that gave the greatest amount of information on this subject
wit~ i veport of the CLAS Tnspector General written in 1962, and which
led directly to the termination of this activity in 1964, 13 vears ago,

The information available in 1975 to the varions investigating
group~ was indeed sparse, first hecanse of the destrnetion of material
that took place in 1973, ax deintled by Senatar Kennedy a minute ago,
with the conenrrence of the then Director of Central Intellizence and
under the snpervicion of the Director of the O -+ of Technical
Services that supervised Project MKULTRA.
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The material in 1975 was also sparse hecanse most of the CTA people
who had been involved in 19533 to 1964 in this activity had retived from
the Ageney. T would further add that 1 think the material was sparse
in part beeanse it was the practice at that time not to keep detailed
rerords in this category,

For in-tance. the 1963 report of the Inspector General notes:

Present praetice is to maintain no records of the plimning and approval of
test progras.

In brief. there were few records to begin with and less after the
destruction of 1973, .

What 1 would like to do now. though, is to proceed and Jet yon know
what the new material adds ta onr knowledge of this topic. and 1
will start by deseribing how the material was discovered and why it
wia~ not previonsly discovered. The material in guestion. some seven
boxe~. had been gent to our Retired Records Center ontxide of the
Washington area. It was dizcovered there as the result of an extensive
search by an eniplovee charged with the vesponsibility for maintan-
ing onr oldings on behavioral dimgs and for responding to Frecdom
of Information et requests on this subject.

During the Church committee investigation of 1975, searches for
MEULTR A -related material were made by examining both the active
and the retired records of all of the branches of CIA considered likely
to have had an association with MKULTRA documents, The retired
records of the Budget and Fiseal Seetion of the hranch that was respon-
sible for sueh work were not ~earched. however. Thix was beeause the
financial paper as<ociated with sensitive projects such as MKULTRA
were normally maintained by the hranch it<elf under the project title,
MKULTRA. not by the Budget and Fiseal Section under a special
budgret tile,

In the ease at hand, however, this newly loeated material had been
sent to the Retired Records Center in 1970 by the Budget and Fiseal
Seetion of this braneh as part of its own retived holdings, Inshort. what
should have been tiled by the braneli itself was filed by the Budget
and Fiszeal Seetion, and what should have heen filed under the project
title. MRKULTRA. wa< filed under hudget and fiseal matters. The rea-
soni for this departure from the normal procedure of that time issimply
not known. and ax a result of it. however. the material escaped retrieval
and destruetion in 1973, as well a~ discovery in 1975

The emplovee who loeated this material did so by leaving no stone
unturned in his efforts to respond to a Freedom of Information Aet
request, or several of them. in fact, e reviewed all of the listings of
material of this hranch. stored at the Retired Records Centerinelnding
those of the Badget and Fiseal Sceetion, and thus discovered the
MEKULTEA-related documents, which iad been missed in the previous
senrehes,

In sum. the ageney failed to uncover these partienlar documents in
1973, in the process of attempting to destroy them. Te similarly failed
to locate them in 1975, in response to the Churel committee hearings.
1 an personally persuided that there is no evidenee of any attempt to
conceal this material during the earlier searches, Moreover. as we will
discuss as we proceed. T do not helieve the material itself is such that
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there wonld be a motive on the part of the CTA to withhold this, having
disclosed what it did in 1975,

Next, ket me move to the nature of this reeently located material.
It i~ important to remember what 1 have just noted. that these folders
that were discavered are finanece folders, The bulk of the material in
them consists of approvals for the advanee of funds, vouehers. and
accountings and sneh most of which are not very informative as to
the nature of the activities that they were supporting. Oceasional proj-
ect proposals or iemoranda commnienting on some aspect of a subproject
are seattered thronghomt this material, In general. however, the re-
covered material does not include overall status reports or other doeu-
ments relating to operational econsiderations, or to the progress on
various subproject=, though some elaboration of the activities contem-
plated does appear from thne to time,

There are roughly three categories of projeete. First. there are 149
MRULTRA subprojects. niany of which appear to have some connee-
tion with research into hehavioral modification. drag acquisition and
testing, or administering driges surreptitionsly. Seeond. there are two
boxes of miscellancons MKULTRA papers, including audit reports
and financial statements from intermediary funding mechanisms used
to coneeal CIA sponsorship of various research projeets.

Finally. there are 33 adiditional subprojects concerning certain in-
telligence activities previously funded under MKULTRA but which
have notling to do either with behavioral modifications. drugs and
toxins, or any clo~ely related matter.

We have attempied to group the activities covered by the 149 snb-
projects into eategories under deseriptive headings. In broad ontline,
at least, thiz presents the contents of these files. The following 16
categories are the ones we have divided these into.

First, vesearch into the effeets of behavioral drugs and ‘or aleohol.
Within thi< there are 17 projects prohably not involving human test-
ing. There ave 14 subprojects definitely involving testing on human
volunteers, There ave 19 subprajects probablv ineluding tests on human
voliteers  and 6 sulprojects nvolving  tests on  unwitting
huwsan heingrs,

Second, there is resenreh on hypnosis, eight subprojects. including
two involving hypnosi= and drugs in condbination,

Thirl. there are seven projects on the acquisition of chemicalx or
druges.

Fourth, four suhprojects on the aspects of the magician’s art. useful
in covert operations. for instanee, the surreptitions delivery of drug-
related materials :

Fifth, there are nine projects on studies of hnman behavior. sleep
research. and behavioral chanee Quring psyehotherapy, .

Sixthe there ave projects on library searches and attendants at semi-
nars< and international conferences an behavieral medifications,

Seventh, there are 23 projects on motivational studies, studies of
defectars, asses<ments of behavior and training teehniques.

Eighth, there are three subprojeets on polyvegraph vesearch,

Ninth. there arve three suliprajects on funding mechanisms for
MEULTR A sexternal researels activities,
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Tenth. there are six subprojects on research on drugs. toxins, and
biologicals in human tissuc. provision of exotic pathogens. and the
capability to incorporate them in effective delivery systems.

Eleventh. there are three subprojects on activities whose nature
simply cannot be determined.

Twelfth. there are subprojects involving funding support for un-
specified activities conducted with the Army Special Operations Divi-
sion at Fort Detrich. Md. This activity is outlined in Book 1 of the
g hurch committee report. pages 388 to 3%9. (See Appendix A, pp-

R-(9), .

Under CIA’s Project MKNAOMI. the Army assisted the CIA in
developing. testing. and maintaining biological agents and delivery
system~ for use against humans as well as against animals and crops.

Thirteenth. there are single subprojects in such areas as the effects
of electrozhock. harassment techniques for offensive use. analysis of
extrasensory perception. gas propelled sprays and aerosols, and four
subprojects involving crop and material sabotage.

Fourteenth. one or two subprojects on each of the following: blood
grouping research controlling the activities of animals: energy stor-
age and transfer in organic systems: and stimulus and response in
biological svstems. :

Finally. 15th, there are three subprojects canceled before any work
wax done on them having to do with laboratory drug screening. re-
search on brain concussion. and research on biologically active
materiils.

Now. let me address how much this newly disecovered material adds
to what has previously heen reported to_the Church committee and
to Senator Kennedy's Subecommittee on Health. The answer is basi-
cally additional detail. The principal types of activities included in
these documents have for the most part been outlined or to some
extent generally deseribed in what was previously available in the
wayv of documentation and which was supplied by the CIA to the
Senate investigators,

For example. financial dishursement records for the period of 1960
to 1964 for 76 of these 149 subprojects had been recovered by the
Office of Finance at CIA and were made available to the Church
committee investizators. For example. the 1963 Inspector General
report on MKULTRA made available to both the Church committee
and the Subcommittee on Health mentions electroshock and harass-
ment substances. covert testing on unwitting U.S, citizens, the search

for new materials through arrangements with specialists in hospjtals
and universities, and the fact that the Technical Service Division of
CIA had initiated 144 subprojects related to the control of human
behavior.

For instance also. the relevant section of & 1957 Inspector General
report was also made available to the Church committee staff. and
that report discusses the techniques for human assessment and un-
orthodox methods of communication, diserediting and disabling ma-
terinlz which can he covertly administered, studies on magicians” arts
as applied to covert operations. and other similar topics.

The most significant new data that has been discovered are. first,
the names of rescarchers and institutions who participated in
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MKULTRA project=. and <econd. a possibly improper contribution
by the C1A to a private mstitution. We are now in the posses-
ston of the naues of 190 nongovernment resenvehers and assistants
who ure ddentificd in the recovered waterial dealing with these 149
.‘lll)'r)t)j(-r!»_

There are alzo names of S0 in<titutions where work was done or
with which these people were afliliated. The institutions include 44
eolleges or nniversities, 10 research foundation or chendeal or pharma-
centical companies or the ke 12 hospitals or elimes, in addition to
those associated withe the universities, and 3 penal institutions,

While the ddentities of some of these people and institntions were
known previously. the discovery of the new identities adids to our
knowledge of MKULTRA.

The fact- a- they pertain to the possibly improper contribution are
as follows, One project involves a contribufion of ¥375.000 to a huild-
g fund of o private medieal institution. The faet that that con-
trilation was made was previonsly known, Indeed, it was mentioned
in the 1937 report of the In-pector General on the Technieal Service
Division of CLA that supervised MKULTRAL and pertinent portions
of thix had been reviewsd by the Church committee stafi,

The newly discovered material, however. makes it elear that thi«
contribution wias nude throngh an termediary, which made it ap-
pear o be a private donation. A= a private donation. the eontribntion
wi~ then matehed by Federal funds. The institution was not made
aware of the true souree of the gift. This project was approved h-
the then Director of Central Intelligenee and eoncurred in by CIA's
top manacement ineluding the then General Counsel. who wrote an
opition supporting the legality of the contribution.

The revently discovered documents also give greater insight into
the scope of the unwitting nature of the drug testing. but contribute
httde morve than that. We now do have corroborating information that
same of the unwitting Jdmg testing was earried out in what is known
in the mtelligence trade as safe honse< in San Franeizeo and in New
York City. and we have wdentified that three individuals were in-
volved in this undertaking, whereas we previonsly reported there was
oulv one person,

We also know now that some nnwitting testing took place on erimi-
nal sexual pryehopaths confined at a State hozpital, and that addi-
tionally resenreh was done on a knockout or K drag in parallel with
resenrch to develop painkillers for eancer patients, .

These. then, arve the principal finding- identificd to date in our re-
view af thi- recovered material. As noted cartier. we believe the de-
tail em the wlentities of researchers and institutions involved in CT A
spon=onr<lip of drmg and behavioral modification rescarch 15 8 new
element and one which poses a consideralle prolidem, Most of the peo-
ple and institutions involved were not aware of CTA sponsor<hip. We
should cortainly assume that the vesearchers and institutions which
coaperated with CIA on a witting basis acted in goad faith and in
the belief that they were aiding their Government in a legitimate and
l)rﬂ‘)l‘l' ‘lll]'ll(l\\(‘,

T bielieve that we all have a moral alligation ta these researchers
and Institntions to protect them from any nnjustified embarrazement
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or damage to their reputations which revelation of their identities
might bring. In addition. T have a legal olligation under the Privaey
Act not to publicly disclose the names of the individual rescarchers
withont their consent.

Thi- is especially true, of coursc. for those researchers and institu-
tione which were unwitting participant< in C1.A sponsored activities.

Nonetheless, Mr, Chairman. T eertainly vecognize the right and the
need of hoth the Kenate Seleet Committee on Intelligence and the
Senate Subeommittee on Health and Seientific Research to investigate
the cireumstances of these activities in whatever detail you consider
neces=ary. 1 an providing your committee with all of the documenta-
tion. including all of the names, on a classified basis. T hope that this
will facilitate vour investization while still protecting the individuals
and the institutions involed.

Let me emphasize again that the MKULTRA events are 12 to 24
vears in the past, and 1 assure yon that CLA is in no way engaged in
either witting or unwitting testing of drugs today.

Finallv. T am working closely with the Attorney General on this
matter. We are making available to the Attorney General whatever
materials he may deem necessary to any investigations that he may
clect to nndertake. Bevond that. we ave also working with the Attorney
General to determine whether it is practicable from this new evidence
to identifv anv of the persons to whom drugs may have been admin-
istered unwittingly, No such names are part of these records. We have
not identified the individnals to whoin drngs were administered. but
we are trving now to determine if there are adeguate clues to lead to
their identification. anid if <o how best to go about fulfilling the Gov-
ernment’s responsibilities in thi< matter,

AMr. Chairman. as we proceed with that process of attempting to
identify the individuals and then determnining what is our proper re-
eponsihility to them. T will keep both of these committees fully ad-
vised. T thank vou. sir.

Senator Ixovyr. Thank ven very much. Admiral Turner. Your
spirit of eooperation is mmel appreciated. T would like to announce to
the committee that in order to give every member an opportunity to
participate in this hearing. that we would set a time limit of 10 minutes
per Senator,

Admiral Turner. please give this committee the genesis of MKUL
TRA. Who or what committee or commis<ion or agency was responsi-
We for dreamine up this grandiose and sinister project. and why was
it necessarv? What is the rationale or justification for such a project
and wa- the President of the United States aware of thiz?

Admiral Terser Mr. Chairman, T am going to ask Mr. Brody on
my right. who is a long-time member of the CLA to address that in
more detail. T helieve evervthing that we know abont the genesis was
turned over to the Chureli committee and is contained in that ma-
torial. Basicallv. it was a CTA-initiated project. Tt started out of a
concern of our being taken advantage of by other powers who would
n<e drnges against our personnel, and it was approved in the Agenev. T
have asked the question vou jnst asked me., and have heen assured that
there i< no evidence within the Ageney of any involvement at higher
ochelons. the White House. for instance. or specific approval. That
does not say there was not. but we have no such evidence.

wp-4np (- TT -2
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Mr. Brody, wonuld yon amplify on my comment~ there, please?

M. Bropy. Mr. Chairman. T really have very little to add to that.
To my knowledge, there was no Presidentinl knowledge of this proj-
ect at the time, It was a CLA projeet, and as the adimiral said, it was
a project designed to attempt to counteract what was then thought to
be a ~etions threat by onur enemies of using drigs against us. Most of
what ¢lse we know about it is in the Senate Church connnittee report.

Senator Ixovyve. Were the authorized members of the Congress
made aware of this project through the budgetary process?

A Brony. We have no knowledee of that, <ir,

Senator INovyE. Are you suggesting that it was intentionally kept
away from the Congress and the President of the United States?

Admiral Tukser. No. sir. We are only saving that we have no evi-
denee one wav or the other as to whether the Congress was informed
of thi< particular project. There are no records to indieate,

Scenator Inovyve. Admiral Turner. are vou personally satisfied by
actunl imvestigation that this newly diccovered information was not
intentionallv kept away from the Senate of the United States?

Admiral ‘Tersen, T have no way to prove that. sir. That is my con-
vietion from evervthing T have seen of it,

Nenator Inovye, Now, we have been advised that these docnments
were initinllv discovered in March of this year. and you were notified
inJulv of this vear. or June of this vear. and the committee was noti-
fiedd 31 Julyv, Can von tell us why the Director of Central Intelligence
wa~ notified 3 months after its initial diseovery. why the delay?

Admied Teeser Yes sir. Al this started with several Freedom of
Information Aet requests, and Mr. Laubinger on my left was the in-
dividual who took it upon himself to pursne these requests with great
diligence, amd got permission to go to the Retired Records Center, and
then made the decision to look not only under what would be the ex-
pected subject files, but through every file with which the branch that
conducted this type of activity had anyv conecivable connection.

Very late in March, he discovered these =even hoxes, He arranged
to have them shipped from the Retired Records Center to Washing-
ton. to our headquarters. They arrived in early April. He advized his
appropriate superiors. who asked him how long he thought it would
take him to go through these and screen them appropriately, clear
them for Freedom of Information Act release,

There are. we originally estimated. 5000 pages here. We now think
that wa~ an underestimation, and it may be closer to §000 pages. He
estimated it wonld take about 45 davs or into the middle of May to
do that. He was told to proceed, and as he did so there was nothing
uncovered in the beginning of these 149 eases that appeared particu-
larly startling or particularly additive to the knowledge that had al-
ready been given to the Chureh connittee. some detailx, but no major
revelations,

Ile and his asso-iates proceeded with deliberateness, but not a great
sense of urgency. There were other interfering activities that eame
and demanded his time also. He was not abile to put 100 percent of his
time on i, and there did not appear to be canse for a_great rush here.
We were (rving to be responsive to the Freedom of Information Act
request within the limits of onr manpower and our priorities.
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In early June. however, e discovered two projects, the one related
to K drug~ and the one related to the funding at the institution, and
realized ammiediately that he had substantial new information, and
Le innpediately reported thi- to his snperiors,

Two actions were taken. One was to notify the lawvers of the prin-
cipal Freedom of Tnformation Aet requestor that we would have sub-
stantind new material and that it would be fortheroming a~ rapidly as
po~sible. and the second was to start_a memorandum up the chain
that indicated his belief that we shonld notify the Senate Seleet Com-
mittee on Intelligence of this discovery heeause of the character at least
of these two documents,

A that proceeded up from the 13th of June, at each echelon we had
to go through the legal oflice. the legislative linison oftice and at each
echelon about the same question was asked of him: Have vou gone
through all of thi< so that when we notify the Senate Select Com-
mittee we do not notify half of the important relevations and not the
other half 2 The last thing T want. Mr, Chairman, is in any way to
he on any topie, give the appearance on any topic of being recaleitrant,
reluctant. or having to have vou drag things ont of me. and mny sub-
ordinates, mach to my pleasure, had ea~h asked, have vou really gone
threugh these 2000 pages enongh to know that we are not going to
uncover a bombshell down at the bottom?

By late June. about the 25th. this process reached myv deputy. He
notiticd me after his review of it on the 7th of Julv. which i= the first
T knew of it. 1 hegan reading into it. T asked the same probing ques-
tion directlv. T then notified my superiors. and on the 15th delivered
to vou my letter letting von know that we had this, and we have heen
workine. many people. many hours since then, to be sure that what we
are telling vou taday does inclwde all the relevant material.

senmtor Ixorye. T would like to commend Mr, Laubinger for his
Ailicence and expertise, but was this diligence the resnlt of the Free-
dom of Information Aet or coulid this diligence have been exercised
Jurine the Chureh hearing<? Why was it not exercised?

Admiral Teexre. There is no question that theoretically this dili-
gence could have leen exercised at any time, and it may well be that
the Freedom of Information Aet has made us more aware of this.
Wonlid von speak for vour<elf, please.

Mr. Laveiveer. T reallv don’t attribute it. Senator. to diligence so
weh as thoronghness, 1 you ean imagine the pressures under an
organization trying to respond, which 1 think the CIA dud at the time
of the Chinrelr vonmittee hearings, the hallwayvs of the floor I am on
were full of boxes Trom our reconds center. Every box that anyone
thonght conld possibly contain anything was called up for search. It
wia~ one of a frantic ¢flort to comply.

When the pressure of that situation cools down. and yon can start
lookine at things svstematically, von are apt to find things that yon
wonldn't under the Tieat of a erasli program.and that is what happened

re.

e .L‘vn:nm- Txorve: Thank vou very much, Senator Kennedy?

Senator Kexseoy, Admiral ‘Toener. this is an enormounsly distress-
ing report that you give to the Ameriean Congress and to the American
people taday. Granted, it happened many years ago, but what we are
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basieally talking about is an activity which took place in the country
that invalved the perversion and the corruption of many of our out-
standing rescareh centers in this comtry. with C1A funds. where some
of onr top rescarchers were unwittingly involved in research spon-
sored by the Ageney in which they had no knowledge of the back-
gronnd orthe support for.

.\Iu«'l.’uf it was done with Awerican citizens who were completely
unknowing in terms of taking various drags, and there are perlm];s
any nuredwr of Xmericans who are walking around today on the east
coast oy west coast who were given drugs, with all the kinds of plivsical
and psychological dumage that ean be cansed. We have gone over that
in very careful detail. and it is significant and severe indeed.

T do not know what could be done in a less demoeratic conntry
that would be more alien to omr own tradition~ than wa= really done
in this narrow area. and ax you give this report to the committee, 1
would like to get some sense of Your own concern about this type of
activity. and how vou react, huving assumed this important responsibil-
ity with the confidence of President Carter and the overwhelbning
support. obviously, of the, Congress. under this set of cireumstances,

I did not get mnch of a feeling in reviewing vour statement here this
morning of the kind of abhiorrenee to this type of past activity which
T think the American peaple woulld eertainly deplore and which 1
believe that you do. but conld yon comment upon that question, and also
perhaps give us what ideas you have to insure that it cannot happen
again?

Admiral Teever. Senator Kennedy, it is totally abhorrent to me to
think of using a human being axa guinea pigand inany way jeopardiz-
ime hi= Yife and his health, no matter how great the canse. T am not
here to pass jndgment onany predecessorsc bt T ean assure yvou that
thi~ is totally bevond the pale of my contemplation of activities that
the CLA or any other of onr intelligence ageneies shonld undertake.

T o taking and have taken what 1 believe are adequate steps to
msure that snelithine~are not continning today,

Senator Kexxuoy. Could von tell us a hittde hit about that?

Adndral Teever, T have asked for a special report assurving me that
there are no drug activities extant. that ix. drug activities that invelve
experbpentation. Obwvionsly. we caolleet intelligence abont drugs and
drug use in other countries. bt there are ho experinentations being
condueted by the Central TuteHjgence Ageney and 1 have had a special
cleek mude hecanse of another ineident that was< uteovered some vears
ago abont the unanthorized retention of some toxie nuteriads at the
CIALT have had an actual inspeetion made of the storage places and
the cevtification from the people in chiarge of tho-e that there ave no
steh ehiciien) biddagieal materials present in our keeping, and 1 have
iscued express orders that that <hiall not be the case.

Beyond that. T have to rely in Tavge measure on my sense of com-
mand ol direetion of the people and theiy knowledge of the attitude
I have just expre-=ed to vou m this regard.

Senator Kexveny, 1think that 1= very conmendable,

Adwira) Terser, Thank vou, <ir,

Senator Kexxepy, T think ot is important that the Ameriean people
wnilerstand that.
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Yau know. mueh of the research which 1= our area of interest that
wa= being done hy the Ageney and the whole involved sequence of ar-
tivities done by the Agency. T am convineed could have been done in a
legitimate way through the research programs of the National Insti-
tutes of Mental Health, other sponsored activities. T mean, that is some
ather question, hut T think vou went to an awful lot of trouble, where
these things conld have been.

Let mie ask vou speecifieally. on the followap of MKULTRA. are
there now—1 think you have answered, but T want ta get a complete
answer about any experimentations that arve being done on human be-
ing=. whether it is drugs or helavioral alteration- or pattern- or any
support. either direetly or indirectly, being provided by the Ageney in
termsof any experimentation on Jiniman beings.

Admiral Teesen. There i no experisentation with drugs on human

beiners. witting or nnwittine, beine condieted inany wav,

Senator Kesseny, Al mght. Or being supported imdirectly 2 T mean,
are you rontracted ont?

Admiral Terxer Or being inany way supported.

Senator Kexxeny, Al vight. How about the nondrag experimenta-
tion our Committee has seen—p=ychosurgery, for example, or psy-
chological researeh?

Admiral Teexer. We are continually involved in what we call as-
sessment of behavior. For instance, we are trying to continually im-
prove our polveraph procedures to. vou know, as=¢=> whether a person
1~ Iving ar not, This does not involve any tampering with the individ-
ual hodv. This invelves studving records of people’s behavier under
different eivenmstances, and so on. but it i not an experimental thing.
Have T deseribed that aceurately, Al?

Al Brany. Yes,

Senator Kexxiny, Welll it is imited to those areas?

Admiral Toexer, Yes: it does not involve attempting to modify be-
havior. Tt only invelves =tudyving behavior conditions. but not tryving
to actively modify it. a< wa< one of the abjectives of MKULTRAL

Senator Kexxeny, Wello we are searee on time, but T am ingerested
in the other areas beside~ polyvgraph where von are doing it, Mavbe
you ean either re<spond now or subimit it for the record. if you would do
that. Would von provide that for the record?

Admiral Terxie, Yes,

[ The material on p=vehological assessments follows:]

Psychulogical assessments are perfornnsd as o service to officers in the opera-
tions direetorate who reernit and or handle agents. Except for people involved
in training conrses, the sohjects of the sssessments are foreign nationals. The
assessments are getierally done to determitic the most successful tactic to persuade
tHie stthject (o aecept covert employment by the CIA, and to make an appraisal of
his reliability and teathfulness.

A majority of the work ix due by o staff of trained psyehnlogists, some of
Whom are stationed overseas. The assessuents they de may be either direct or
indirect. Direct assexsswents involve 8 personad interview of the subject by the
peyehnlogist, When possible 1he subject is asked to complete a formal “intelli-
gence test™ which is actually o disgnised pspebological test, Individuals being
gusessedd are not given drogs nor are they subjected to physical harassment or
torture. When operating conditions are such tlut a face-to-face interview is not
possilde, the psyehofogist may do oan fndireet assessment, using as source ma-
terials deseriptions of the sulject by others, interviews with people who know
bin, specimens of his writings. ete.
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The other psycliological gssessmients involve hapdwriting analysis or grapho-
Jogical ussesstent. The work is done by a pair of trained grapholagists, assisted
by a swall nunber of weasurewent techniciins, They generadly require at least
a4 page of handwritten seript by the suliject. Measuretnents are wade of about
30 difterent writing characteristios, and these are charted and furnished to the
grapliologist for assessients.

The psyebolugists also give courses in psychologicul assessment to group of
operations officers, to shurpen their own capabilities to size up pwople, As part of
the training course, the justructor does a psychological ussesswment of each
slludeul. The studeuts are witling participauts, aud results are discussed with
thew,

It s important to reiterate that psychologicial assesswents are only 8 service
to the operations otficers. 1n the fuul analysis, it is the responsibility of the
operations officer to decide how a potentiul agent sbould b approuched, or tuv
make a judgement as to whether any agent is telling the truth.

Admiral Tukxer. The kind of thing we are interested in is, what
will motivate a man to become an agent of the United States in a diffi-
cult situation. We have to be famliar with that kind of attitudinal
response that we can expect from people we approach to for one reason
or another become our spies, but 1 will be happy to submit a very
specific listing of these. '

Senator KExxeny. Would you do that for the commiittee?

In the followups. in the MKSEARCI, in the OFTEN, and the
CHICKWIT, could you give us also a report on those particular
programs{

Admiral TukNER. Yes, sir.

Senator Kexxepy. Did they involve experimentation, human
experimentation?

Admiral Tuexer. No, sir.

Senator Kex~epy, None of them?

Admiral Terser. Let me say this, that CHICKWIT program is the
code name for the CIA participation in what was basically a Depart-
ment of Defense program. This program was summarized and re-
ported to the Church committee, to the Congress, and I have since they
have been rementioned in the press in the Jast 2 days here, I have not
had time to go through and personally review them. 1 have ascertained
that all of the files that we had and made available before are intact,
and 1 have put a special order out that nobedy will enter those files
or in any way touch them without my permission at thix point. but
they are in the Retired Records Center outside of Washington, and
they are available.

T am not prepared to give you full details on it. beeause T simply
haven't read into that part of our history, but in addition 1 would sug*
gest when we want to get into that we should get the Departinent of
Defense in with us,

Senator Kexyeny, Well, vou will supply that information to the
Intelligence Committee, the relevant. T mean, the liealth aspects. obvi-
onsly. and the research we are interested in

Admiral Terxer. Yes, sir.

Qenator Kexyeny. Will vou let us know. Admiral Turner?

Admiral Terxer. T will be happy to.

[See p. 160 for the material referred to.]

Senator Kexxeny, Thank vou. T am running out of time. Do vou
cupport the exten<ion of the protection of human subjects legislation
to include the CIA and the DOD? You commented fa-orably on that
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before, and T am hopeful we can get that on the calendar early in
September, and that is our strong interest.

Admiral Terver. The CIA certainly has no objection to that pro-
posed legislation. sir. It is not my role in the administration to be the
supporter of it or the endorser of it.

Senator KENNEDPY. As a personal matter. since you have reviewed
these subjects. would you comment? T know it ix maybe unusual, but
you can understand what we are attempting to do.

Admiral Tur~er. Yes, sir.

Senator KExxeny. From vour own experience in the agency, you
can understand the value of 1t.

Just finally. in your own testimony now with this additional infor-
mation. it seems quite apparent to me that you can reconstruct in very
careful detail thix whole projeet in termic of the responsible CIA
officials for the program. You have so indicated in vour testimony.
Now with the additional information. and the people. that have been
revealed in the examination of the documents, it seems to be pretty
clear that you can track that whole program in very careful detail,
and I would hope. you know, that you would want to get to the bottom
of it, as the Congress does as well. T will come back to that in my nest
round. Thank vou verv much,

Senator INoUYE. Senator Goldwater?

Senator GoLpwATER. T have no questions.

Senator InoUyE. Senator Schiwerker?

Senator ScHwEIKER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Turner, I would like to go back to your testimony on page
12, where you discuss the contribution to the building fund of a
private medical institution. You state. “Indecd. it was mentioned in a
1957 Inspector General report on the Technical Service Division of
CIAL pertinent portions of which had been reviewed by the Church
committee stafl.” T would like to have vou consider this question very
carefully. T served as a member of the original Church committee.
My staffer did a lot of the work that you are referring to here. He
made notes on the IG™ report. My question to you is, are you saying
that the section that specifically delineates an improper contribution
was in fact given to the Church committee staff to see?

Admiral Turxrr. The answer to your question is “Yes.” The infor-
mation that a contribution had been made was made available, to the
best of my knowledge.

Senator Scnwerker, Only certain sections of the report were made
available. The report had to be reviewed out at Langley: it was not
reviewed here. and copies were not given to us here. 1 just want vou to
carefully consider what you are sayving. because the only record we
have are the notex that the staff took on anything that was of
significance.

Admiral Tvrser. My understanding was that Mr. Maxwell was
shown the relevant portion of this report that disclosed that the con-
tribution had been made.

Senator Scuweiker. To follow this up further, I'd like to say that
I think there was a serious flaw in the way that the 1G report was
handled and the Church committee was limited. T am not making any
accusations, but because of limited access to the report, we have a situ-
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ation where it is not even clear whether we actually saw that material
or not, simply because we could not keep a copy of the report under
the procedures we had to follow. We were limited by notetaking, and
so it is rather ambiguous as to just what was seen and what was not
scen. I certainly hope that the new Intelligence Committee will not
be bound by procedures that so restrict its ability to exercise effective
oversight. .

1 have a second question. Does it concern yoil. Admiral. that we used
a subterfuge which resulted in the use of Federal construciion grant
funds to finance facilities for these sort= of experiments on our owh
people £ Becanse ax 1 understand what you are saying. while the CIA
mavhe only put up S300000, this triggered a response on the part of
the Federal Government to provide on a good faith basis matching
hospital funds at the same level. We put up more than $1 million of
matching funds, some based on an allegedly private donation which
was really CIA money.

Ten't there something hasically wrong with that?

Admiral Tresen. T eertainly believe there is. A« T stated, the Gen-

“eral Corn=cl of the CTA at that time yendered a legal opinion that

this was a Jegal undertaking, and again 1 am hesitant to go back and
yevisit the atmosphere. the Jaws. the attitudes at that time, so whether
the counsel was on good legal ground or not. 1 amn not enough of a
awver to be sure, but it cortainty would occur to me if it happened
today a~avery questionable activity,

Senator Scnwrnser, Well, T think these of us who worked on and
amended the i-Burton Act and other hospital construction as-
cictance laws over the vears. would have a rather different opinion on
the legal intent or abject of Congress in passing laws to provide hos-
pital construction project money. These funde weren't intended for
this.

It remind= me a little bit of the shellfish toxin <ituation which turned
up when T was on the Churel committee, The Public Health Service
wits u=ed to produce a deadly poison with Public Health money. Here
we are using general hospital const ruetion money to carry on a series o
drug experinents,

Aelmirval Trrxen Excense me, siv, 6 1 conld jnst be. T think. ac-
enrate, T don't think any of this 375,000 or the matehing funds were
need 16 condnet dmg experiments. They were used to build the hos-
pital. Now, the CLA then put more money into a foundation that was
conducting rescareh on the CTAs behialf supposedly in that hospital, so
the intent was certainly there, but the money was not used for
experimentation.

SQenator Senwerker, Well, 1 understand it was nsed for bricks and
mortar. bt the bricks were used to build the facility where the experi-
ments were carried on s were they not £

Admiral Trrser. We do not have positive evidence that they were,
Tt certainly would seem that that was the intent. mt T do not want to
draw inferences here- —

Senator Schwrtier, Well, why else would they give this money for
the bunlding fund if the building was not wsed for a purpose that
Lenefited the CTA program?

Admiral Tviser, 1 certainly draw the inference that the CIA
expected to benefit from it and some of the wording say= the General
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Coun=el’s opinion wa- that thix was legal only if the CTA was going
1o Jderive sdequate henefit from it. but. ~ir. there is no evidenee of what
benetit was derived.

Senator Scpwether, There niust have heen some pretty good benefits
at ~take. The Atomice Energy Connnis-ion was to hear a share of the
cost. and when they backed wut for ~ome reason or another, the CIA
picked up pat of their tab. So. at two different points there were
mdications that CLA decisionmakers thought there was great benefit
to be devived from whatever happened within the brick and mortar
walls of that facihity. ;

Admira) Teexee You are abeolutely right. T am only taking the
position that 1 cannot wnb<tantinte that there was benefit derived.

Senator Senweikee The agreement documents say that the CIA
wonld have aceess to one-sixth of the space involved in the construction
of the wing. =0 how would you enter into an agreement that speeifieally
<avs that vou will have aceessto and use of one-sixth of the space and
not perform something in that space? T eannot helieve it was emp!y.

Artmiral Terser, Sir, T am not dispnting you at all. but both of u-
are =saving that the inference i< that one-sixtl of the space was ased.,
that experimentation wis done. and sa on, but there is no factual evi-
dence of what went on as a result of that payment or what went on in
that hospital. It i just niissing. 1t i~ not that it didn’t happen.

Senator Senwrrsee. Admiral Turner. one other

Senator Kexsepy, Wonld the Senator vield on that point ?

Senator Scnweikkk. 1 understand that in the agency’s documents
on the agreement it was explicitly stated that one-sixth of the facility
would le designated for CLA use and made available for CIA re-
search. Ave you familiar-——

M Tiony. Senator, as T reeall, vou arve right in that there is # moen-
tion of one-sixth, but any miention at all has todo with planning. There
are no subsequent reports as to what happened after the construction
took place.

C Senator Senwrikee. Admiva) Turner, T read in the New Yorlk Times
that part of this servies of MRULTRA experiments involved an ar-
rangensent with the Federal Bureau of Narcoties to test LSD sur-
reptitionsly on unwitting patrons in hars in New York and San
Franciseo, Some of the subjects beeame violently il and were hos-
pitalized. T wonder if you wonld just briefly deseribe what we were
doing there and Low it was earried ont 7 1 as<ime it was through a safe
hou=e operation. T don’t believe your statement went into much detail.

Admiral Treser. 1 did mention the safe honse operation in my
tatement. sir. and that i= how these were earried out. What we have
learned from the new docuientation ix the location and the da‘es at
which the safe houses were run by the C1.A and the identification of
|h'n~(- individuals who were assoviated with running those safe houses.
We know something about the construction work that wa- done in
them beeanse there were contracts for thix. Bevond that. we are pretty
much drawing inferences as to the thing- that went on as to what you
are xaving here, )
~ Senntor SCHWEIKER. Well, the subjects were unwitting. You can
infer that mueh. right ?

Admiral Terxer. Right.

o ek b oacadbhen ad e ik
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Senator Scuweikrr. If you happened to be at the wrong bar at the
wrong place and time, you got it.

Mr. Brovy. Senator, that would be—contacts were made, as we
under=tand it, in bars, et cetera, and then the people may have been
invited to these safe houses. There really isn't any indication as to
the fact that this took place in the bars.

Admiral Turxer. We are trying to be very precise with you, sir, and
not draw an inference here. There are 6 cases of these 149 where we
have enough evidence in this new documentation to substantiate that
there was unwitting testing and some of that involves these safe
houses. There are other cases where it is ambiguous as to whether the
testing was witting or voluntary. There are others where it was clearly
voluntary.

Senator Senwenier. Of course, after a few drinks, it 1= guestionable
whether informed consent means anything to a person in a bar
anyvway. '

Admiral Turser. Well, we don’t have anyv indication that all these
cases where it ix ambiguous involved drinking of any kind. There are
cases in penal institutions where it is not clear whether the prisoner
was given a choiee or not. T don’t know that he wasn't given a choice.
but 1 dont po-itively know that he was, and 1 classify that as an
ambiguons incident,

Senatar Incrye, Your time is up. Senator.

Senator Huddleston?

Senator Hepoestox. Thank vou. Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Turner, vou stated in vour testimony that vou are con-
vineed there was no attempt to concea) this recently discovered docu-
mentation during the earlier searches. Did you question the individ-
uals connected with the carlier search hefore you made that judgment ?

Admira]l Trexer. Yes: T haven't. I don't think. questioned every-
bhody who Jooked in the files or is still on our payvroll who looked 1n
the files back in 1975, but Mr, Laubinger on my left is the best author-
ity on this. and T have gone over it with him in some detail.

Senator Hipniestox, But you have inquired, you think. sufficiently
to assure vourself that there was no intent on the part of any person
to conceal these vecords from the previous committee ?

Admiral Tuvrsrer. T am persuaded of that both by my questioning
of people and by the circumstances and the way in which these doeu-
ments were filed. by the fact which T did not and should have men-
tioned in my testimony. that these were not the official files. The ones
that we have received or retrieved were copies of files that were work-
ing files that somebady had used. and therefore were slipped into a
different location. and again T sav to vou. sir. T can’t imagine their
deliberately concealing these partienlar files and revealing the other
things that they did reveal in 1975, T don't see the motive for that.
because these are not that damning compared with the overall material
that wa< provided.

Senator Hunbrestox. Ts this the kind of operation that if it were
continuing now or if there were anvthine similar to it. that vou would
feel compelled to yeport to the Seleet Committee on Intelligence?

Admiral Tveser. Yes, sir You wmean, if T discovered that some-
thing like thic were voing on without my knowledge? Yes, T would
feel alsolutely the reguirement to —
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Senator Hunprestox. But if it were going on with your knowledge,
would vou report it to the committee? I assumc you would.

Adwsiral Turser. Yes. Well, it would not be going on with my
knowledge. It theoretically the answer 1x yes, sir,

Senator HrpnLestox. Well, then, what suggestions would you have
as we devise charters for the various intelligence agencies? What
provision would you suggest- to prohibit thi kind of activity from
taking place? Would you suggest that it ought to be specifically out-
Jined in a statutory charter setting out the parameters of the per-
missible operation of the various agencies?

Admiral Teryer. I think that certainly is something we must con-
cider as we ook at the legislation for charters. I ami not on the face
of it opposed to it. I think we would have to look at the particular
wording as we are going to have to deal with the whole charter issue
as to exactly how precize yon want to be in delincating restraints and
curbs on the intelligence activities.

Senator HupbLEsTON. In the case of sensitive type operations, which
this certainly was, which might be going on today. s the oversight
activity of the agency more intensive now than it was at that time?

Admiral Turser. Much more so. I mean. I have briefed you. sir.
and the committee on our sensitive operations. We have the Intel-
ligence Oversight Board. We have a procedure in the National Se-
curity Council for approval of very sensitive operations. T think the
amount of spotlight focused on these activities is many, manyfold
what it was in these 12 to 24 vears ago.

Senator IrpbresTox. How about the record keeping?

Admiral Tvryer. Yes: T can't imagine anyone having the gall to
think that he can just blithely destroy records today with all of the
attention that has come to this, and certainly we are emphasizing that
that i~ not the case, )

Senator Huvneestox, Admiral, T was particularly interested in the
activity that took place at the U.S. Public Health Service Hospital at
Lexington. Kv.. in which a Dr. Harris Isbell conducted experiments
on people who were presumably patients there. There was & narcotics
institution. T take it. and Dr. Tshell was, according to the New York
Times story. carrving on a secret series of correspondence with an
individual at the ageney by the name of Ray. Have you identified who
that person is? )

Admiral Teryer. Sir. T find myself in a difficult position here at
a public hearing to confirm or deny these names in view of my legal
responsibilities under the Privacy” Act not to disclose the names of
individuals here. )

Senator Hunorestox. T am just asking you if you have identified
the person referred to in that article as Ray. T am not asking vou who
he was. T just want to know if vou know who he is.

Admiral TCRNER. No. 1 am sorry. was this Wer-a-v or R-a-y?

Senator HuvppLestox. It is listed in the news article as R-a-y. in
quotations.

Admiral Tvrxer. No, sir. we have not identified him.

Senator HropresTox. So vou have no knowledze of whether or
not he is sl a member of vour staff or connected with the Agency in
any way. Have you attempted to identify him?
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[Pause.]

Admiral TurNer. Senator. we have
3 | av e . . : N M
naal( 1s Ray who may have had some counection with fhese activities,

Senator HenpLesrox. You sugpect that but you have not verified

that at this tinge or at least vou AT . e L4
s imue, or at least you are not in a pozition to indicate
you have verified jt? I ate that

Admiral Terxer. That is correct,

Senator HupnLestox. Thank vou.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Inotve, Senator Wallop?

Senator Warror. Thank you. Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Turner. not all of the—and in no way tryving to execuse
you of the hideous nature of some of these projects, but not all of the
projects under MKTULTRA are of u sinister or even a moral nature.
Is that a fair statement?

Admiral Trrxer. That is ecorrect.

Senator Warror. Looking down through same of these 17 projects
not involving human fexting, aspeets of the magician's art. it docsn't
seem as though there s anything very sinister about that. Studies of
human hehavior and sleep research, library searches. Now. those
things in their way are still of interest. are they not. to the process
of intelligence gathering?

Admiral Trrxer. Yes sir. T have not tried to indicate that we
either are not deing or would not do any of the things that were
involved in MKULTR.A. but when it comes'to the witting or unwitting
testing of people with drugs. that is certainly verboten. but there are
other things.

Senator Wartor. Even with volunteer patients? T mean. T am not
trying to put vou on the epot to say whether it is going on_but T mean.
it 1= not an uncomumon thine. 1= it, in the prisons of the United States
for the Pullic Health Serviee to condnet varions kinds of experiments
with vaceines and. say. sunburn ereams? T know in Arizona they have
done so.

Admiral Trexen. My undersfanding is. ot of that iz authorized.
but T am not of the opinion that this is not the CTA™s husiness. and
that if we need some information in that eategarv. T would prefer
to oo to the other approprinte anthorities of the Government and ask
them to et 31 for us rathier than to in any way

Senator Warror, Well, vou know, vou have library searclies and at-
tendints at the national <eminars, This iy why T wanted to ask vou if
the hulk of these projects were in anv wayv the kinds of things that the
Agenev might not da now. A President wonld not have heen horrifred
by the list of the legitimate types of things. Ien’t that probahly the
case?

Adwiral Terxrer. Yes, sir,

Senator Warrer. And if it did in fact appear in the TG report, is
there any reason to suppose that the President did not know of this
project  Yon <aid there wa- no reazon to <suppo<e that he did. bat let
me reverse that. I« there any reason to suppose that they did not ?

Admiral Terxen, No,

Sonator Waror., Well, vou know, T just cannet imagine voun or
literally anvbody undertaking projects of the magnitude of dollars
hiere and jn=t not knowing about it. not informing vour superior that

a former emplovee whose first
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these were going on. especially when cortain items of it appear in the
Inspector General’s report on budget matiers,

Admiral Terser, Well T find it diflicult when it is that far back to
Livpothesize what the procedures that the Director was using in terms
of informing his superiors were. It is quite a different climate from
todav. and 1 think we do a lot more informing today than they did
back then. but 1 find it very difficult to guess what the level of knowl-
(’dgv was.

Senator Warror. 1 am really not acking vou to second-guess it, but
it just ceci= to me that. while the past is past. and thank goodness we
are operating under different sets of circumstances. I think it is naive
for us to suppose that these thing= were conducted entirely without the
knowledge of the Presidents of the United States during those times.
It i= just the kinds of research information that wax being sought was~
vital to the United States. not the means. but the information that they
were trving to find.

Admiral Tvrxer, Tam sorry. Your question is. was this vital? Did
we view it as vital?

Senator Wartor. Well, your implication at the beginning was that
it wasx a response to the kind~ of behavior that were seen in Cardinal
Mindszenty's trial and other thing=. 1 mean, somebody must have
thought that this was an jmportant defensive reaction, if nothing else.
on the part of the United States, ;

Admiral Terser. Yes sir, Tam sure they did. but again T just don’t
know how high that permeated the exeentive branch.

Senator Warror. But the kinds of information are still important
to vou. T mean. T am not suggesting that anyone go back and do that
kind of thing again. but T certain it would be of use to you to know
what wax going to happen to onc of vour agents assuming someone had
put one of these thing= into his bloodstream. or tried to modify his
behavior.

Admiral TUrser. Abcolutely, and you know, we would be very con-
cerned if we thought there were things like truth serums or other
things that our agents or others conll be subjected to by use or im-
proper use of drugs hy other powers against our people or agent=,

Senator Warrop. Are there? I don't ask you to name them, but are
there such serums=?

Admiral Terser. T don't know of them if there are. 1 would have to
answer that for the record. sir.

Senator WaLror. 1 would appreciate that.

[ The material referred to follows:]

STRUTHT DRUGS 1IN INTERROGATION

The search for effective aids to interrogation is probably as old as man's need
to obtain information from an uncooperative souree aud as persistent as his
impatience to shorfent any tortuous path. In the annals of police investigation,
physienl coercion has at tintes been substituted for painstaking and timecon-
suming inguiry in the helief that direct methods produce guick resulis Nir Jumes
Stephens, writing in 183, rationalizes a grishy example of third degree’ prac-
tices by the police of India: It is far pleasanter to sit comfortably in the shade
rubbing red pepper in a poor devil's eves than to go abeut in the sun hunting up
evidence.”

More recently, police officinls in some countries have turned to drugs for assist-
ance in extracting confessions from accused persons, drugs which are esumed
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ta relax the individual's defenses to the point that ]mlunklmwin;ﬂ.\' ro\'enls.tru_ths
he has beon trying to coneent. This investicative technigne, however ]nm_mn}t:}rmn
as an alternative 1o physieal torture, still raises serions questions of xndlvthzal
right< and liberties. In this eountry, where drugs h.n\'e gained only ‘marzn‘xa]
aceeptanee in police work, their nse has prinoked eries of “peyehologienl third
dvgree™ and has precipitated medico-legal controversies that after a quarter qf
a contury still oceasionally fliare into the open.

The tise of so-cnlled “trah™ drags in police work is similar 1o the aceepted
payvelifatric practice of narco-analysis: the difference in the twa prprpdur(»r }ies
in their different abjectives. The police investizitor is coneerned with empirical
truth that may be used mzinst the suspect. and l)utrnfnro nhnost s_n]ely with
prodative truth : the nsefultess of the suspect’s revelations depends nitimately on
their aceeptiner it evidenee by g court of law, The payehintist, on the other hand.
tsite the sate “truth™ drags in dingnosis and treatment of the wentaliv il js
primarily concernesd with papchalogical trutl or psychologion) reality rather than
empirical faet, A patient’s aberrations are reality for hineat the time they occur,
and an aeenrate pecount of these fantasios and delusions, pather than reliable
recollection of past events. cian be the key to recovers.

The notion of drugs eapable of illuminating hidden recesses of the mind. help-
ing 10 heal the mentally i} and preventing or reversing the niixearriage of justice,
has< provided an exeeedingly durable theme for the press and popular literature,
While acknowledging that “iruth sertg” is 8 misnonmer twice over—the drues
are not sern and they do not necessarily bring forth probative trath—journalistic
Recoutts contintue to exploit the appea) of the term. The formnla is to play up
a few spectacnlar “truth” drog successess and 1o dimply that the drugs are more
maligned 1than nesd be and more widely employed in eriminal investigation than
ean officially he admitted.

Anr techitique that promises an increment of suecess {n extracting information
from an uncompliant source is ipse faeto of interest in intelligence operations.
If the ethical considerations which in Western conntries inhibit the use of narco-
interrogetion in police work are felt alse in intelligetce, the Western services
must at least be prejpuired against its poxsible employment by the adversary. An
understanding of “truth” drags, their characteristie actions, and their potentiali-
ties, poxitive and negative, for eliciting useful inform:ation isx fundamental to an
adequate defense against them.

This disenssion, meant 1o help toward sueh an understanding. draws primarily
upon openly priblished moterials, It has the limitations of projecting from erimi-
nal investigative practices and from the permissive atmosphere of drug psycho-
therapy.
KCOPCLAMINE AR “TRUTH SERUM

Early in this century physicians began to employ scopolamine, along with
morphine and chloroforn, to jinduee o state of “twilight sleep” during childbirth.
A constituent of henbane, scopolamine was known to produce sedation aud drowsi-
ness, confusion and disorientation, incoordinantion, and amunesia for events ex-
perienced during intoxication. Yet physicians noted that women in twilight sleep
answered qnestions geenrately and often volunteered exceedingly eandid remarks.

In 1822 it eccurred to Robert House, a Dallux. Texax obstetrician, that g similar
technigue mipEht e employed in the interrogation of susjwcted criminals, and he
arrangel o interview under scopolnuine two prisoners in the Dallas county
Jail whose guitt secmed elearly confirmed. Under the drug, both wmen denisd the
charges on which they were held : amd both, upon trinl, were found not Eaily.
Enthusiastie at this snceess, House coneluded that a patient under the influence
of scopalimine “cannot crexate a lie . . . and there is no power to think or rea-
son.” [14] His experiment and this conclusion attracted wide attention. and the
idea of a trmth™ drug was thas Ilnunched npoen the public conscionsness,

The pliriase “truth sermm™ is believed to have appeared first in a news report
of Hause's experiment in the Log 4ngc b & Record, sometime in 1922 House resisted
the term for a4 while bt eventnally eame to employ it regnlarly himself. He pub-
lishied xome eleven articies on scopelamine in the vears T921-1429, with a notice-
able increase in polemical zead as fime went on. What had begun as something
of a scientific statement turned finally into a dedicated crusade by the “father of
truth serum™ on behalf of hisc offspring, wherein he was “grossly indulgzent of jts
wayward behavior and stubbornly prond of its minor achicvements."{11)
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Onlr a handful of cases in which scopolam.ine was used _for police interroga-
tion came to public notice, though there is evidence Fuggesting that some police
forces jay have used it extensively. {2. 16] One 130]1«-5: writer c'lalmﬁ that 'the
threat of .‘cnupnlamine interrogation bas been effective in extracting conf_essmus
from criminal suspects, who are told they will first be rendered unconscious by
chloral hydrate placed covertly in their coffee or drinking vs'n!e.r.[lG]

Recause of a number of undesirable side effects, scopolamine was shortly dis-
qualified as a “truth” drug. Among the most disahling ﬂf.thv gndv effects are
hallucinations, disturbed perception. somnolence, and pb_\'smlnm(-ul phenomena
sueh as headache, rapid heart. and Dlurred vision, which distract the subjeact from
the central purpose of the interview. Furthermore, th.e ph,\"s.u‘al action is long, far
outlasting the psychological effects. Scopolamine eontinues. in fRome cases. to make
anesthesia and surgery safer hy drying the mouth and throat and reducing secre-
tions that might ohstruct the air passages. Int the fantastically, almost painfully,
dry “desert” mouth brought on by the drug is hardiy conducive to free talking.
even il a tractable subject.

THE BARBITURATER

The first suggestion that drugs might facilitate ecommunication with emo-
tionally disturbed patients came guite by accident in 191G, Arthur & Jovenhart
and his associntes at the Universits of Wisconsin, experimenting with respiratory
stimulants. were surprised when, after an mjection of sodium cranide. a eatatonic
patient who had long heen mute and rigid suddenly relaxed. opened his eyes, and
even answered a few questions. By the early 1930« a number of psrchiatrists
were experimenting with drugs as an adjunct to established methods of therapy.

At ahont this time police officials. still attracted by the possibility that drugs
mirh help in the interrogation of suspects and witnesses, turned tu a class of
depressant drugs known as the barbiturates, By 1935 Clarence W. Muehlberger.
head of the Michizgan Crine Detection Lahoratory at East Lansing, was using
harbiturates on reluctant suspects, though police work continued to be hampered
by the couris’ rejection of drug-induced confessions except in a few carefully
circumseribed instances.

The bharbiturates. first synthesized in 1903, are among the oldest of modern
druzs and the most versatile of all depressants. In this half-century some 2.5
have been prepared. and abont twa dozen of these have won an important place
in medicine. An estimated three to four billion doses of harbiturates are pre-
seribed by physicians in the Tnited States each year. and they have come to be
known by a variety of commercial names and colorful slang expressions: «goof-
balic” Luminal, Nembutal. “red devils” “yellow jackets™ “pink ladies” etc.
Three of themn which are nsed in narcoaualysis and hiave seen service as “truth”
drngs are sodinm amysial ramobarbitaly, pentothal sodium (thiopental), and to a
lesser exient seconal (secobarhbitaly.

As one pharmacologist explains it. a suhject coming under the infiuence of &
barbiturate injected intravenously goes through all the stages of progressive
drunkenness. but the time scale is on the order of minutes instead of bours.
Outwardly the sedation effect is dramatic, expecially if the subject is a psychiatric
patient in tension. His features :lacken, his body relaxes. Noume people are
momentarily excited: a few beweme xilly and gigely. Thix usually passes, and
maost suhbjects fall asleep. emerging later in disoriented semi-wakefulness.

The deseent into narcosis and bevond with progre-sively larger doses can be
divided as follows:

1. Sedative stage.

11. Unconseiousness. with exaggerated reflexes (hyperactive stage).

II1. Unconseiousness, without reflex even to painful stimuli.

IV, Death.
Whether all these stages can be distingnished in any given subject depends
largely on the dose and the rapidity with which the drug is induced. In
anesthesian, stages T and 17T may last only two or three seconds.

The first or sedative stage ean bwe further divided :

Plane 1. No evident effect. or slight sedative effect.

Plane 2. Clondiness. calmness, amnesia. (Upon recavery. the subject will
not remember what happened at this or “lower” planes or gtages.)

Plane 3. Slurred speech. old thought patterns disrupted. inability to inte-
grate or learn new )atterns. Poor courdination. Subject hecomes unaware
of paniful stimuli.
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Plane 3 is the psychiatric “work” stage. It may last only a few minutes, but
it can be extended by further slow injection of drug. The usual practice is to
bLring the subject quickly to Stage 11 and to conduct the interview as he passes
back into the sedative stage on the way to full consciousness.

CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL BTUDIES

The general abhorrence in Western countries for the usge of chemical agents
“to make pecple do things against their will” bas precluded seriousx systematic
study (at least a< published openly) of the potentialities of drugx for interroga-
tion. Louix A. Gottschalk, surveying their use in information-seeking inter-
viewx.[13] cites 136G references: but only two touch upon the extraction of
futelligence information, and one of thexe coucludes merely that Russian tech-
niquex in interrogation and indoctrination are derived from age-old police
methiods and do not depend on the use of drugs. On the validitr of confessions
obtained with drugs, Gottschalk found only tliree published experimental studies
that he deemed worth reporting.

One of these reparted experiments by D. P. Morris in which intravenous sodium
amytal was helpful in detecting malingerers<.[12] The subjects, soldiers, were
at first sullen, nemativistic, and non-productive under amytual, but as the inter-
view proceeded they revealed the fact of and causes for their malingering. Usually
the interviews turned up a neurotic or psychotic basis for the deception.

The other two confession studies, being more relevant to the highly special-
ized. untouched area of drugs in intelligence {uterrogation, deserve more detailed
review,

Gerson and Victoroff{12] conducted amytal interviews with 17 neuropsychiatric
patients, soldiers who had charges against them. at Tilton General Hospital,
Fort Dix. First they were interviewed without amytal by a prychiatrist, who,
pefther iguoring nor stressing their situation as prisoners or suspects under
serutiny, urged each of them to discuss hix social and family background, bis
army career, and his version of the charges pending against him.

The patienits were told only a few minutes in advance that narcoanalysis would
be perfarmed. The doctor was considerate, but positive and forthright. He indi-
cated that ther had no choice but to submit to the procedure. Their attitudes
varied from unguestioning compliance to downright refusal,

Each patient was brought to comjplete narcosis and permitied to sieep. As he
became semiconscious and could e stimulated to speak, he was held in this stage
with additional amgtal while the questioning proceeded. He was questioned
first about inuocuous matters from his background that he had discussed hefore
receiving the drug. Whenever possible. he wax maunipulated inte bringing up
himself the charges pending against him before being questioned abont them.
If he did thix it a tou fully conscious state. it proved more effective fo ask him
to “talk about that later” and to interpose a topic that would diminish suspicion,
delaving the interrogation on his criminal activity until he was hack in the
projer stage of narcosis,

The procedure differed from therapeutic narcoanalysis in several ways: the
retting. the type of patients, and the kind of “trath” sought. Also, the suhjects
were kept in twilight conscioisness longer than usual. This state proved richest
in yvield of admissions prejudicial to the subject. In it his speech was thick,
mumbling. and disconnected, but his discretion was markedly reduced. This val-
uable interrogation period, Iasting only five to ten minutes at a time. conld be
reinduced by injecting more amytal and putting the patient hack to sleep.

The interrogation technigue varied from case fo cise according to background
information about the patient. the seriousness of the charges, the patient’s atti-
tude under narcosis and his rapport with the doctor, Sometimes it was useful to
preteud, as the patient grew more fully conscions, that he had already confessed
during the mmnestic perind of the interrogation. nnd to urge him, while hix mem-
ory and sense of self-protection were still limited, 1o continne to elaborate the
detuils of what he had “already deseriind.” When it wix obv,ons that a subject
was withholding the truth, hix deninlx were quickly passed over and ignored.
and the key gquestions wonld he rewordaodd in o new approach.

Several patients revealed fanfasies, fears, and delusions approaching delirium.
much of which conld readily be distinguished from reality. But xometimes there
was ne way for the eximniner to distingmish 1ruth from fantasy except by refer-
etice ta other sonrces. Une subject clajmed to have a child that did not exist,
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ancther threatened to kill on sight a stepfather who had been dead a year, and
Fet another confessed to participating in a robbery when in fact he hagd only
purchased goods from the participants, Testimony concerning dates and specific
plices was untrustworthy and often contradictory because of the patient's loss
of time-sense. His veracity in citing names and events proved questionable. Be-
cause of his confusion about actual evenis and what he thought or feared had
happened. the patient at times muanaged to conceal the truth unintentionally.

Ax the subject revived, he would become aware that he was being questioned
about his secrets and. depending upon his persouality, his fear of discovery, or
the degrev of his disillusionment with the dactor, grow negativistic, hostile, or
physically ageressive. Ocveasionally patients had to be foreibly restrained during
this perind to prevent injury to themselves or others as the doctor continued to
interrogite. Some patients, moved by fierce amd diffuse anger, the assumption
that the) had atready been tricked into confessing, and a stil) Jimited sense of
diseretion, deiantly acknowledged their guilt and challeuged the observer to
“dor something about it As the excitement passed, some fell back on their orig-
inal stories and others veritied the confessed material. During the follow-up
interview nine of the 17 _admitted the validity of their confessions ; eight re-
pudiated their canfessions and reaffirmed their earlier accounts.

With respect 1o the reliability of the resmlis of such interrogation, Gerson
and Victoroff conclude that persixtent. careful questioning can reduce ambigui-
ties in drug interrogation, but cannot elitninate them altogether.

At Jeast one experiment has showyn that subjects are capable of maintaining a
lie while under the intinence of a harbiturate. Redlich and his associates at
Yalel 23] administered sodimu amytal to nine volunteers, students and profes-
sionals. who had previously. for purposes of the experiment, revealed shameful
und guilt-praducing episodes of their pust and then invented fulse self-protective
sturies to cover them. In nearly every cise the cover stary retained some ele-
moents of the guilt inherent in the true story,

t'nder the influence of the drug. the subjects were crossexamined on their
cover staries by a second investigator. The results, though not definitive, showed
that normal individuals who had good defenses and no overt pathologiceal traits
could stick to their invented stories and refuse confession. Neurotic individuals
with strong uncounsecious self-punitive tendencies, on the other bhand. both con-
fessed miore easily and were inclined to substitute fantasy for the truth, con-
fessing to offetises never actually committed.

In recent years drug therapy has made some use of stimnlants. most notabhly
amphetamine (Behizedrine: and jts relative methamphetamine (Methedrine).
These drugs. used either alone or following intravenous barbiturates, produce
an ontpouring of ideas. emotions, and memories which has been of help in diag-
nosing mentai disorders. The potentian) of stimulants in interrogation has re-
ceived little attention. unless in unpublished work. In one study of their peychi-
atric use Bruxsel rf al. [7] maintain that methedrine givex the liar no time to
fthiuk or 1o organize his deceptions. Onee the drug tahes hold, they say, an in-
surmonttable urge to pour out speech traps the malingerer. Gottschalk. on
the other hand, says that this elaim is extravagant. asserting without elabora-
tion that the study lncked proper controls {134 It is evident that the combined
use of harbiturates and stimulants, perhaps along with ataraxies (tranquilizersj,
shuuld be further explored.

OBSERVATIONS FROM PRACTICR

J. M. MacDonald. who as a psyehiatrist for the Distriet Courts of Denver
has had extensive experience with narcoanalysis, sayx that drug interrogation
is of daubtful value in obtaining confessions to crimes. Criminal suspects under
the influence of barbiturates may deliberately withhoeld information. persist in
giving untruthful answers, or falsely confess to erimes they did not commit.
The psychopathic personulity, in particular. appears to resist successfully the
infinence of druwes,

MucDonald tells of a eriminal psyehopath whe, having agreed to narco-inter-
rogition, received 1.5 grams of sodium amytal over a periedd of five hours. This
man feigned amnesia and gave a false accomnt of a4 murder. “He displayed little
or Do remorse ax he (falsely) deseribed the crime, including burial of the body.
Iudeed he was very self-possessed and he appeared aluiost ta enjoy the exaniing-
tion. From time to time he wold request that wore smyia) be injected.”[21)

Machonald concludes that a person who gives false information prior to re-
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ceiving drugs is likely to give false information also under narcosis, that the
drags are of Jivtle value for revealing deceptions. and that they are more effective
in reletsing unconseionsly repressed material than in evoking consciously sup-
press-d information.

Aunothey psaehintrist known for his work with crimimnis, .. Z. Freedman,

ave sodibnm amytal toanen peensed of varieus civil and military antisocial acts.
The subjects were mentally vustable, their conditions ranging from character
dixorders 1o nenrases and psyehoses, Phe drug interviews proved psyehiatrically
benetivial to the patiens, but Freedinan found that his view of ohjective reality
wits seldom improved by their revelations. He was unable to say on the hasis of
the mirco-interrogation whether g given act had or ad not occurred. Like Mace-
Dronatd he found that psyehopathic individuals ean deny tao (he point of ancon-
seboispess erimes that every objective sign indicates they have committed. | 10]

F. G Inbawu, Professor of Law at Northwestern Univer<ity. who has had con-
stderuble expericner observinge and participating in truth” drag tests. claims
that they are occasionally offective on persens who weuld have disclosed the
truth anyway had they heen properly interrogated. but that & person deter-
wived o fie will usuadiy e able to conptinue the deception under drugs,

The tawo militars pevehiatrists who miade the most exstensive use of narcoanal-
ysis during 1he war years, Roy R Grinker and Joln ) Spiegel, conclmled that
in almost all cases they could obtain from their paticnts essentially the same
materia] and give them the same emotional relense by therapy withont the use
of drues, provided they had sutfivient time,

The exsenee of thess eomments frow professionals of long experience is that
driugs provide rapid aceess< to jnformation that is psyehintrically useful but of
Adendef ful vadiddity s empirical truth, The same psycehological information and &
loss adulterated ewpirieal truth ean be obtained from fully conscious subjects
throuch not-drug pychathierapy and skillfal police interrogation.

AFPLICATION TO CI INTFEKROGATION

Fhe abimost total absenre of controlled experimental stadies of “truth™ drugs
and the spotty and anecidotal natare of psyehiatric and police evidence reqguire
thiat entriapolations to intelligenee operations e tuade with eare. Ntill, enough
i< kpown abont the drags’ action to sugeest vertiain considerations affecting the
pros=ibifities for their tse in itterrogtions,

It shonld e edear from the foregoing that at hest g drug can only serve ax
an aid tooan interrogator whoe has a sure understanding of the psychology and
technignes of pormal interrogation. In some respects, imdeed. the demands on his
skill will be inerepsed By the hatiling wixture of truth and funtasy in drug-induced
antjart. And the tendeney agstiust Whiclo e must guard in the interrogate to give
the responses thit seen) to be wanted without regard for facts will be heightened
by dries o the literature abounds with warnings that a subject in narceosis is
exTreneld sngeestible.

It weetns possible that this suggeestibiliry and the lowered guard of the narcotic
State might be it Lo advantage in the ease of a subject feigning ignorance of a
Bingnawe or sotne other skill that had become automatic with him. Lipton{20]
fonnd soaitne amyviad helpful in determining whether a foreign subjeel was merely
proetending not to anderstand Buglish By extension, one can guess that a drugeed
interrogatee might have difficulty maintaining the pretense that he did not cow-
prehend the Bon of g profession e was irvine to hide

There i the further probdem of hostility in the interragator’s relutionship to
i resistanee source. The aceumulited knowledege abont trath™ drug reaction
ha~ came Iargely from patient-physician relationships of trust and confidence.
The subject in narconnalysis is nsually motivated o prieri to enoperate with the
pyehintrist, either to obtain relief from mental suffering or to contribmie to a
seientitic study. Faen it police work, where au atwosphere of anxiety and threat
may e dominant. a relationship of trust freguently asserts jtself: the drug is
administered by a wedicnl main bound by o strict eode of ethies: the suspect
auereeing to undergo uarcoanunlysis in o desperate bid for corroboration of his
testimony trusts both drige and psychintrist, however apprehensively @ and finally,
as Fresdusn and MacDonald have indicated, the police peyehintrist frequently
deals with » “sick™ eriminal, and some order of patient-phy sician relatiouship
necessatily evolves,
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Rurely has a drug interragation involved “pormal” individuals in a hostile
or genuinely threateniug milieu. It was from a non-threatening experimental
setting that Erie Lindemann ecould say that his ~pormal” subjects “reported a
general sense of euplioria, ease and confidence, and they exhibited a marked in-
creise in talkativeness and (-.rmnmnicahilit,\'."[lh] Gerson and Victoroff list poor
doctor-jutient rapport as one factor interferiug with the completeness and au-
thenticity of confessions by the Fort Dix soldiers. caught as they were in a
command performance and told they had no choice but to submit to narco-
interrogation,

From all indications, subject-interrogator rapport is usually crucial to obhtain-
ing the psyehotogical release which may lead to unguarded disclosures. Role-play-
ing on the part of the jnrerrogator might be a possilile solution to the problem
of establishing rapport with a drugged subject. In therapy. the Rritish narco-
analvst William Sargent recommends that the therapist deliberately distort the
faets of the patient’s life-experience to achieve heightened emational response
amd abreaction.|27] in the drunken state of narcoanalysis patients are prone to
aceept the therapist's false const ructions. There is reason to expect that a drugged
subiject would conpnnnicate freely with an interrogator playing the role of rela-
tive. colleagne. physician. immedinte superior. oF any other person to whom his
hackground indicated he would he responsive.

Fven when rapport ix poor, however. ther remains one facet of drug action
eminently exploitable in interrogation—the fact that subjects emerge from
narcosis feeling they have revealed a great deal. even when they have not. As
Gerson and Victoroff demonstrated at Fort Dix. this peychological set provides &
major opening for obtaining genuine confexsions.

PORSIRLE VARIATIONS

In studies by Beecher and his associates.[3-6] onethird to one-half the
individuals tested proved to be placebo reactors. subjects who respond with
symptowatic relief to the administration of any syringe, pill. or capsule, regard-
Jexx of what it contains. Although no studies are known to have beeu made of the
placebo phenomenon as applied to narco-interrogation. it seems reasonable that
when a subject's sense of guilt interferes with productive interrogation. a placebo
for pwudn—narcosis could have the effect of absolving him of the responsibility
for his acts and thus clenr the way for free communication. It is potable that
placebos are most likely ta be effective in situations of stress. The individuals
most likely to react to placebos are the more anxious, more self-centered, more
dependent on outside stimulation, those who express their needs more freely
socially, talkers who drain off anxiety by conversing with others. The non-
reqctors are those elinically more rigid and with hetter than average emotional
contrul. No sex or 1L.Q. differences between reactors and non-reactors have been
found.

Another possibility might be the combined use of drugs with hypnotic trance
and post-hypuntic suggestion 1 hypmosis could presumably prevent any recollec-
tion of the drug exsperience. Whether a subject ean he brought to trance agrinst
hi~ will or unaware, however. ix a matter of some disagreement. Orne, in a survey
of the potential uses of hvpuosis in juterrogation [ 23] asserts that it is doubt-
ful. dexpite many apparent indications to the contrary. that trance can be induced
in resistant subjects, Jtmay be possible, he adds, to hypuotize & subject unaware,
but thi~ would require a positive relationship with the hypnotixt not likely to
e found in the interrogation setting.

I medical hyphosis, pentothal sodium is sometimes employed when only light
tranes hax been induced and deeper narcoxis ix desired. Thix procedure is a
possibility for interrogation. but if a satisfactory level of narcosis could be
achieved through hypnotic tranee there would appear to be no need for drugs.

DEFENRIVE MEASUREN

There ix no known way of building tolerance for a ~truth” drug without creat-
ing a disabling addiction, or of arresting the action of a harbiturate once induced.
The only full anfeguard ngainst narco-interrogation js to prevent the adminis-
tration of the drug. Short of this the boest defense is to make use of the same
knowledge that suggests drugs for offensive operations: if subject knows that
on emerging from narcosis he will have an exaggeritted notion of how much he
hax revealed he can hetter resolve to deny he has said aunvthing.
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The disadvantages and shortcomings of drugs in offensive operations become
positive features of the defense posture. A suhject in narco-interrogation is
intoxicatsd, wavering betwesn deep sleep and semi-wakefulness. His speech is
garbled and irrational. the amount of ontput drastically diminished. Drugs
disrupt established thought patterns, including the will to resist, but they do so
indiscriminately and thus also interfere with the patterns of substantive infor-
mation the interrogator seeks. Even under the conditions most favorahle for
the interrogator, outpuf wil)l be contaminated by fantasy, distortion, and untruth.

Possibly the most effective way to arm oneself against narco-interrogation
would be to undergo a “dry ran” A trial drug interrogation with eutput taped
for playhbuck would fawiliarize an individual with his own reactions 1o “truth”
drugs. and this familiarity wonld help to reduce ihe effects of harassment by
the interrogator before and after the drug has been administered. From the view-
point of the intelligence service, the trial expasure of a particnlar operative to
drugs might provide a rough benehmark for assessing the kind aud amount of
information he would divalge in narcosis,

There may be coneery over the possibility of droc addietion intentionally or
accidenmally induced by an adversary service, Most drugs will cause addiction
with prolonged use, and the harhiturates are no exception. In recent studies at
the U.X. Public Health Rervice Hospital for addicts in Lexington, Ky.. subjects
received lurge doses of barbiturat- < over o period of months, Upon removal of
the drug. they experienva] acute withdrawal symptoms and behaved in every
respect like chranic aleoholies,

Beciause their action is extremely short, however. and hecause there is little
Hkeliiood that they would be aduinistered regularly over a prolonged period,
barbiturate “trth” drugs present slight risk of operational addietion, If the
adversary servies were intent on creating addiction in order to exploit with-
drawal, it woukd huave other, more rapid means of producing states as unpleasant
ax withdrasal <symptoms

The ballneinatory ypd peyehotomimetic drugs such as mesenline. maribuana,
LRD 25 and microtine are sometimes mistakenly associnted with narcoanalytic
interrogittion. These drnex distort the perception and interpretation of the sen-
sory input to the central nervans system and affect vision, andition. smell. the
sensation of the size of hody parts and their position in space, ete. Mescaline and
LRD-20 have iwen used 1o create experimental “psychotic states.” and in 8
minor way as aids in psychotherapy.

Since information obtuined from a person in a peychotic drng state would he
unreslistie. biziarre, aid extretnely ditlicult to gsses<. the self-administration of
LRD-25, which is effective in minute dosages, might in spweial circumstianees
offer an operative temporiary profection against interrogation. Conceivably, on
the other hand. an adversary service conld use such drugs to produce anxiety or
terror in medically npsophisticated subijects unable to distinguish drug-induced
peveliosie from actual insanity, An enlivhtened operative conld nat he thus
frightened, however, kuowing that the effect of these ballucinogenic agentx is
transient in normal individuals,

Muxst broadly, there is evidence that drugs have least effect an well-ndjusted
individuals with gaod defenses and goad emotional control, and that anyone who
can withstand the stress of competent interrogation in the waking state can do
s0 in parcosis. The essentinl resonrves for resistance thus appear to lie within
the individual.

CON(LUSIONS®

.

The salient points that emerge fron: this discussion are the following No such
magic brew ax the populiar notion of tenth serwm exists. The barbiturates, by
disrupting defencive patterns, may sometitues be helpful in interrogation. but
even under the best conditions they will elicit an ontput contaminated hy decep-
tion. fantaxy. garhled spewsch, ote. A jor vulnerability they produee in the <ub-
Jeet is o tendency to believe he has revealed more than he has It is possible, how-
ever. for both normal individuals aud peychoputhis to resist drug interrogation :
it seems Jikely that any isdisviduat who can withstand ordinary intensive inter-
rogation eun bold ent iy narcesiss The best aid 1o 8 defense agninust nareo-inter-
rogation is foreknowledge of the process awd its Jimitations, There is an acute
need for controlled experimentil stidies of drag reaction, not anly to depressants
but alse to stimulants and te combinutions of depressants, stimulants. and
ataraxics.
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Senator Warror. 1 they are. T would assume that vou would still
try to find from either theirs or somebady else’s information how to
protect our people from that kind of activity.,

Admiral Trrxer. Yes.

Senator Warror. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Ixovyre. Senator Chafee?

Senator Cuaree. Thank vou. Mr. Chairman.
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Admiral Turner, I appreciate that these tawdry activities were tak-
ing place long before vour watch, and I think you have correctly
labeled them as abhorrent. but not only were they abhorrent. it seems
to me they were rather bungled, amateurish experiments that don’t
seetnn to have been handled in a very scientific way, at least from the
scanty evidence we have.

It seems to me that there were the minimum of reports and the
Ageney didn't have the ability to eall it quits, It went on for some 12
: years as vou mentioned. What 1 would like to get to is, are you con-

vineed now in vomr Ageney that those seientific experiments. legiti-
i‘, mate ones that vou were conduneting with polvgraph and so forth, were .

being conducted in a seientific manner and that you are handling it in
_ a correct manner to get the best information that yvou are seeking in
§ the end?
) Admiral Tur~er. Yes. T am, and T also have a sense of confidence
o - that we are limiting ourselves to the areas where we need to be in-
T volved as opposed to areas where we can rely on others.

f. SKenator Cnaree. T am convineed of that from vour report. I just do
: hope that vou have people who are trained in not only handling this
! type of oxpvrimom.‘mt i preparing the proper reports and drawing
, - the proper data fram the reports. You are convineed that you have

this type of people?

Admiral Tur~er. Yes, sir,

Senator Cuarke. The second point T am interested in was the final
lines in your testimony here. which T belicve are very important, and
that is that the Ageney is doing all it can in cooperation with other
branches of the Government to go about tracking (llm\'n the identity of
: those who were in some way adversely affected. and see what can be
! . done to fulfill the government's responsibilities in that respect. I might
add that 1 conunend you in that, and 1 hope vou will pursue it
vigorously.

A hospital in my State was involved in these proceedings, and it is
mnelear exactly what did take place.so T have both a parochial interest
. m this and a national intere~t ax well. and 1 do hope vou will press on
' with it. It involves not only you. I appreciate, but also HEW and per-
hap- the Attorney General.

Admiral Terxer. Thank vou, sir. We will,

Senator Cnaree. Thank yon. Thank vou. Mr. Chairman.

Senator Inovye. Thank vou very much.

Admiral Twrners MKULTRA subproject 3 was a project involving
the surreptitious administration of LS on unwitting persons, wa- it
nat ?

Admiral Tvrxek. Yes, sin

Senator Ixovye. In February 1904, and this was in the very early
stages of MKULTRAL the Director of Central Tutelligenee wrote to
the technical services staff ofticials eriticizing their judgment becanse
they had participated in an experiment involving the administration
of 1.8 on an nnwitting basis to Dre. Frank Olson. wha later committed
snicide. Now. the individuals eriticized were the same individuals who
were responsible for this subproject 3, involving exaetly the same prae-
tices. Even thongh these individuals were clearly aware of the dangers
of surreptitions administration and had been eriticized by the Director
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of Central Intelligence. subproject 3 was not terminated immediately
after Dr, Ol=on’s death.

In faet. according to documents. it continued for a number of years.
Can you provide this committee with any explanation of how such
testing could have continued under these circumstances?

Admira) Treyer. No.siv. T really can't,

Senator Ixovye. Are the individuals in the technical services wlho
carried on subproject 3 still on the CLA payroli?

Admiral Trrxer. T am sorry. Arve you asking. are they today?

Senator INovye. Yes.

Admiral Turyer. No, s

Senator Inovye. What would you doif vou eriticized officials of the
technical services staff and they continued to carry on experimenta-
tion for a number of years!?

Admiral Teesenr I would do two things. sir. One is. T would be sure
at the beginning that 1 was explicit enough that they knew that 1
didn’t want that to be econtinued anywhere else. and two, 1f 1 found it
being continned. T would roll some heads.

Senator Inovye. Conld vou provide this committee with informa-
tion as to whether the individuals invelved had their heads rolled?

Admiral Teryer. T don't believe there is any evidence they did, but
I will dauble check that.

[ See p. 170 for material veferred to.]

Senator Inotvye. As you know, Senator Huddleston and his subcom-
mittee are deepldy involved in the dreafting of charters and guidelines
for the intelhigence community. We will be meeting with the President
tomorrow. Our concern 15 I think. a basic one. Can anything like this
oceuar again ?

Admiral Terxer. I think it wonld be very, very unlikely. first. be-
can~c we are all mueh more conscious of these issues than we were back
in the fiftiex. second. beecause we have such thorough oversight proce-
dures, T cannot imagine that this kind of activity could take plaece
today without some member of the C1A itself bypassing me, if I were
authorizing this, and writing to the Intelligence Oversight Board, and
blowing the whistle on this kind of activity.

I am also doing my very best. sir. to encourage an openness with
myvself and a free communication in the Agency. so that I am the one
who finds these things if they should happen. The fact is that we mmnst
keep you and your committee and now the new committee in the House
informed of our sensitive activities. 1 think all of these add up to a
degree of serutiny euch that this kind of extensive and flagrant activity
could not happen today without it coming to the attention of the proper
uuthorities to stop it.

Senator Inovye. A sad aspect of the MKULTRA project was that
it naturally involved the people who unwittingly or wittingly got in-
volved in experimentation. I wounld appreciate it if you would report
back to this committee in 3 months on what the Ageney has done to

notifv these individuals and these institutions, and furthermore. to
notifyv us as to what steps have heen taken to identify vietims, and if
identified. what you have done to assist them, monetarily or otherwise.

Admiral Terxer, Al right sir. 1T will e happy to.

Senator Gorpwatek. Will the Senator yield !
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Senator Inovyr. Yes, sir,

Senator Gorpwater. I wonder if he conld inchude in that report for
our information only a complete listing of the individuals and the
experiments done on them. and whether they were witting or unwitting,
colnnteer or nonvolunteer, and what has been the result in each case.
Ithink that would be interesting,

Admiral Treser. Fine. Yes sir.

Senator Inovyr. Senator Kennedy

Scnator Kex~eny, Thank vou, It ix vour intention to notify the in-
dividuals who have been the subjects of the researeh. is that right,
Admiral Turner? Do vou intend to notify those individuals?

Admiral Turxer. Yes,

Senator Kesseny, I vou can identify them. yon intend to notify
them?

Admiral Turxer. Yes.

Senator Kexxeny. And vou intend to notify the universities or re-
search centers as well

Admwiral Teeser, Senator, 1 am torn on that, T understand vour
opening statement. T put myself in the position of the president of one
of those universities, let’s sav. 1f he were witting—if his university
had been witting of this activity with us, hie has aceess ta all that in-
formation today. If he were not witting. T wonder if the process of
infornsing him might put his institution’s reputation in more jeopardy
than letting them go on the way they are taday. not knoewing. I really
don’t know the equities here.

Senator Kexxeoy, Welll the problem is. all von have to do is pick up
the newspapers and vou see these universities mentioned. In many in-
stances. I think yon are putting the nniversity people at an extraordi-
nary disadvantage, where there is a complete change of administra-
tion. and they may for one reason or another not have information
that they are under suspicion. There is innnendo: there is ramor. T
cannot help but helieve that it will just get smeared all over the news-
papers in spite of all the seeurity steps that have been taken.

It seems to me that those universities should be entitled to that infor-
mation, so that the ones with other adininistrations ean adapt prace-
dures to protect those universities. The importance of preserving the
independence of onr research areas and the communities seemis to me to
be a very fundamental kind of question about the protection of the
integrity of our universities and onr research centers. _

Admiral Tvexenr You are saving that vou feel that if we identify
thens privately to themselves.we can benefit then in an adequate way to
cover the risk that this will lead to a more public disclosure 2 There ave
lots of the 8 who have not been identified publicly at thix point.

Senator Kexxeny. T think the universities themselves shonld be noti-
fied. T think then the universities can take whatever steps in terms of
their setting up the procedures to protect their own kinds of tegrity
in terms of the future. T would certainly hope that they wonld feel
that thev conld make a public comment or a public statement_on 1t.
T think it i~ of general public intevest, particularly for the people that
are involved in those universities. to have some kind of awareness of
whether they were nseld 0r were not used and how they were used.

1 think thev are entitled toit, and quite frankly. if there i~ a public
official or an oflicial of the university that you notify and he wants
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for his own particular reasons not to have it public, I don’t see why
those in a lesser echelon or Jower echelon who have been effectively used
by it should not have the information ax well.

so. 1T would hope that you would notify the universities and then
also indicate to the public. T can’ conceive that this information will
not be put out in the newspapers. and it puts the university people at
an extraordinary disadvantage. and of course some of it is wrong,
which is the fact of the matter. and 1 think some university official
saving. well, it i=n't =0, is a lot different than if they know it s con-
firmed or it is not confirmed in terms of the Agency itself. 1 think that
there 1 a responsibility there.

Admiral Terxex. 1 have great svmpathy with what vou are saying.
1 have already notificd one Institution bhecanse the invelvement was <o
extensive thaf T thought they really needed to protect themselves, and
I am most anxious to do thix in whatever way will help all of the
people who were perhaps unwitting participants in this. and the diffi-
culty T will have is. T can't quite do. I think. what you suggested, in
that 1 may not be able to tell an institution of the extent and nature of
its participation.

Senator Kexyepy. Well. you can tell them to the best of vour in-
formation. and it seems to me that just becanse the university or an
individual is going to be embarrassed is not a reason for classifving
the information. So. T would Tope—T mean, 1 obviously speak as an
individual Senator. but 1 feel that that 1x an incredible disservice to
the innocent individuals and. T think. a di=service to the integrity of
the universities unless they are notified. to be able to develop pro-
cedures vou are developing with regards to vour own institution and
we are trying to in terms of the Congress, Certainly the universities
are entitled tothe same.

Admiral Terser. Yes. Not all of these, of course. were unwitting.

Senator Kesxiny. That'sright.

Admiral Trrxer. Many of theno were witting. and therefore they
can take all those precantionary steps on their own, but T am perfectly
open to doing thi=. T am only interested in doing it in a way that when
identifving a university it will not Jead to the public disclosure of the
individuals. whom T am not allowed 1o disclose. and =0 on.

Senator KExyEpy. That could be done. it scems to me.

‘Admiral Terser, So. we will sec if we can devise a way of notifving
thewe institutions on a private hasis ~o that they ean then make their
own decision whether their equities ave best served by their announc-
ing it publicly or their attempting o maintain it—

Qenator Kuxyeny, Or vou, T wonder. What if they were to ask you
to announee or indiecate?

Admiral Trraer. My personal conscienee. sir. at this time. is that T
wonld he doing a disserve to these universitios if 1 notifieed the publie.

Senator Krxxeny, Wanld vou meet with some university officials
and a<k what their views are or whether thev feel that the preserva-
tion of the integrity of the universities would be better served or not !
1 think that would he useful to find out from small. Iarge. private, and
public universities” oflicials how they view the integrity

Admiral Turxer. Fine. 1 will phone several university presidents
today who are my friends and who are not invelved in this, and ask
them what they think the equities would be.
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Senator Kexxeny. Al vight. Yon let us know. too.

Admiral Terxer. But 1 aminot sure that T see that there is any great
hencfit in my notifving the public as opposed to the university notify-
g then Let hin have his choice whether he wants—each nstitution
wants 1o have it made publie,

Senntor Kexxeny, Yes, The fuct would vemain that the institution’s
eredibility would be better =erved if the institution’s president were to
deny it and the university indiweated that it did not participate in that
program than if the university were to deny it and the Agency says
nothing. Tt seems< to me that that would be the stronge=t. and the only
way that that i« going to be credibide, T wonld vabue it i vou would get
some inpmt from universities as to what they bhelieve i- the fairest way
in terms of the preservation of the integrity of the universities,

Let mes if T could, ask on the question of the u-e- of these safe
honses, as T understand from information that was provided to us in
the cour-c of our last committee, the testing of variou~ drugs on in-
dividuals happened at all social levels. high and Jow, it happened on
native Americans and alvo on foreign nationals, That 1« what T under-
stand was the nature of the project itself,

Now. T am just wondering whether those tests were conducted at the
two locations on the east coast and the west coast which were known
as safe houses. To vour knowledge, 15 that correet?

Admiral Tensven, Ye-.

Senator Kexxeny, In term~ of the research in this particnlar pro-
gram. it did not ga hevond the safe houses loeated on the east coast and
the west coast 2T helieve Tam correct on that,

Admiral Teexin, That type of unwitting testing of sort of ran-
domly selected individuals ves,

Senator Wexseny., Itowas just Joeated in thase two places?

Admiral Trexer. To the best of our knowledge. there were only two
loeations,

Senator Kexxeoy, Well, how do we interpret randomly selected?

Admiral Tesser, Welllas opposed to prisoners in a prison who were
someliow selected,

Senater Kexxeny, Al right. o vou know from this information
how many people were reermred during this period ?

Admiral Teeven. Noiden.

Senatar Kexxeny, Do von know approximately?

Admiral Tveven T acked that question the other day. and we just
don’t have—apparently we are very—well, either there were no
tecords kept of the actual numbers and types of preople tested or they
were destraved,

Senator Inovyn, Senator Sehweiker.

Senator Senwirker, Thank von, My, Chairman.

Admiral Turner. T would like to come ek to the experiments
which mav have been conducted at the hospital research facilities
which the CTA helped fo finanee. Tt wasn't elear to me from your pre-
vious answers what kind of work was done there, T gather vou are un-
clear on that. too, frome vour remarks, vet 1 find in the CI.A doen-
mentation which vou have supplied us, a list deseribing some of the
advantages the Ageney haped to gain, Tt «ays:

(a) One sixth of the tofal space in the now hospital wing will be availalde to the
Chemical Division of TRX * ¢ ¢+ (3} Agency sponsorship of sensitive research
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projects will he completely deniatle: (¢) Full professional cover will be provided
for up to three bischemical employees of the Chemieal Division: (d) Human
patients and volunteers for experimental use will be available under controlled
clinical conditions with the full supervision of

and there i a blank. something has been deleted.

It seenis pretty elear to me what they intended to do in that par-
ticular wing, Doesn't it to vou? Why would you go to such elaborate
preparations, to buy part of the wing, bring three of vour own per-
sonnel there, give them a cover, and give them access to patients?
Why would vou go to cuch trouble and expen=e to arrange all that, if
yYou weren't planning to experiment on peaple in the hospital?

Admiral Terxer, 1 agree with yvou 100 percent. sir. Those were
elewrly the intentions. T have no evidence that it was carried out in
that way. I am not trying to be defensive. Senator. T am only trying
to be abszolutely precise here,

Senator Scnwelker. Welll then, as to the nature of what was done
there, the last paragraph on the same page of the document savs,
*The facilities of the hospital and the ahility to conduct controlled
experimentations under safe clinical conditions using materials with
which any ageney conmection must bhe completely deniable will aug-
mient and complement other programs recently taken over by TSS,
siich as.” and then there’s another deletion.

Now, the words following “such as™ have been deleted. That is still
classified. or at least it was removed when this document was sanitized
and released. Tt seems to be that whatever was deleted right there would
give vou a pretty good clue as to what they were doing. since it says
that the activities wonld “augment and complement other programs™
undertaken by TSSO S0, T have tronble understanding why you don’t
know what was contemplated. Just the fact that similar programs are
referred 1o in the document. though what they are is still deleted,
should enable vou to cheek 1t out.

You could look at what went on in the similar programs mentioned
following the “such a=" in the classitied version of this decument,

Adnsiral Tersen, Senator, T have not <aid that we don’t know what
was contemplated being done there. We do not know what was done
there,

Senator Senwriken. Why did vou delete that reference? Why i3
that «tiil classified. that particular project of whatever it is?

Admiral Teexer, Y don't know this particular case. We will get you
the exact answer to that one and inform vou about it, but it is quite
probable that that other case is unrelated to this in the—well. not un-
related, but that that was a project that stitl deserves to be classified.

[The material referred to follows:]

Construction of the Garman Annex was begun in 1957 and the Annex was
dediciated in March 38050 Of the several MKULTRA projects conducted at
Georzetown only one involving hnan testing covered a titue span subsequent
1o March 8054 Subproject 35 ran from 1950 to 1063, thus it is possible that
the finul four years (14934 163 of the subproject could have been spent in
the Gorman Annex. However, there is no reference to the Gorman Annex or a
“new Annex™ in Nubproject 43 papers. neither is there any mention of the sul-
project moving to a new location in 19059 or later Years,

Authorization to contribute CIA funds toward eonstruction of the Gorman
Annex s eemtained in Subproject 35 of MKULTRA. Recently discovered material
indiciated that Dr. Geschickter continued his research for sleep- and amnesia-
proeducing drues wnder osject MKSEARCH thrangh July 1967 at Georgetown
University Hoxpital, But it s impossible 1o determine if tbe facilities of the
Goruan Annex were involved.
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Senator Senwerkrr. 1 think that wonld give uc a pretty good clue
as to what was going to be done in the wing the CLA helped to finance.

Was there any indication af all in the weeords vou found that the
project ultimately u=ed eancer patients or terminally 111 patients in
connection with this facility? '

Admiral Teexer, T sarev. 1 missed your question beeause T was
teving to get the data on the last one. T will read vou the blank.

Senator Senwriker. Go ahend, ’

Admiral Terser, QRUILLTOP. Tt doesnt help vou. but——

Senator Scpwerkek. Can vou tell s what that js, or i~ it still
classrtind

Admiral Teeseme 1 don knowand T oascume from the faect that
we deleted it is St elassificd Tor T wil) et vou that answer. sir.

Senator Scnwrikek. Thank you. 1'd like to see that information.

| See 171 for material referred to. |

Now my next question wa=: I~ theve anv indiceation. Admiral. that
project= i that particnlar cemter involved experimemation on ter-
minally i}l cancer patients? -

Admiral Tveser. 1 missed the first part of your question, sir. I am
Verv sorry.

Senatar Senwriker. Do vou have anv indication that seme experi-
ments in the facility used terminally il cancer patients a~ subject<?
You do acknowledge in your statement and it is elar from other docu-
ments that these kinds of experiments were at sonie point heing done
somewhere, My question 0= there any indieation that cancer patients
or terminally ill patieni- were experimented with in thi~ wing?

Admiral Tersee. Yes it does appear there is a conneetion here, sir,

Senator Scuweikes. The other question T had relates to the de-
velopment of something which has been ealled the perfeet concussion,
A meries of experimients toward tlhit end were described in the CTA
documents, 1 wonder if you would just tell u= what vour understanding
of perfect conenssion 1=,

Admiral Trrxenr, Is that in my festimony. sir. or in some other
docwment ¢

Senator Scnweiken. Subproject 54, MRKULTRAL which involved
examination of techniques to cause brain concussions and amnesta by
nsing weapons or sonnd waves to strike individuals withont giving
warning and without Jeaving any clear physical marks, Someone
dubbed it “perfect concussion”—maybe that was poetic license on the
part of our staff rather than vour poets over there. T wonder if you
could jus<t tell u« what hrain conenssion experiments were ahont ?

Adnara)l Tvexer. This project. No. b, was ecanceled. and never
carried out,

Senator Senwriker. Well, T do believe the first vear of the project
in 3950 was earried ont by the Oftice of Naval Research, according to
the mformation that vou =upplied us, The C1A seems to have been par-
tieipating in some way at that point, becanse the records go on 1o say
that the experimenter at ONR fonnd out abont CTA s role, discovered
that it was a cover. and then the project was transferred to
MEKULTRA in 1856, Again, this i all from the backup material you
have given us. So. it was canceled at ~ome time, T am not di-agreeing
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with that. but apparently for at least a year or two. somebody was
investigating the production of brain concussions with special black-
jacks. sound waves, and other methods as detailed in the backup
material,

Admiral Turxer. The data available to me ic that this project was
never funded by the CLAL but T will dhuble-cheek that and furnish the
information for the record for you as to whether there was ever any
connection here and if <o. what the nature of the work was.

(The material referred to follows:]

Mr. Lanbinger corrected his testimony regarding Subproject 54 dnripg |.he
Reptewber 21, 1977 hearings before the Subcommittee on Health and Scientific
Rexenreh of the Human Resources Committee. The relevant portion is reproduced
below :

Mp. LavBINGER. On project 34, it has got a rather sensational proposal in there,
in terisx of the work that they propose to do, aud you asked about the proposal
and 1 said. in fact. it was never funded under MKVLTR.A. Now., 1 overlooked—-at
lea<t. my memory did not serve me correctly when I went through that file folder
1o see one memorandum dated January 14, 1856, which makes it quite clear, as a
nuitter of fact, that that proposal was based on prior work that was funded by
the Agency.

Nenntor ScHWEIKER. By what?

Ar. LAUBINGER. By the CIA. So, that information was in their file folder. It
did not happen to be in my head when T testified.

Nenator SCBWEIKER. I think I might have read you that, and that is why 1
argied at the time with you, hecanse 1 think I had in front of me. as ¥ recall,
some indieation that it was funded there. 1 did read that to you. So, you did
supply it to us: there is no argument abwout that information.

Mr. Lavrinek. Perhaps 1 am sort of headstrong. myself, and in my own view,
T am reading under the VLTRA project. that if it had been funded under
ULTRA. it would have had a project number and identified as xuch. The thing
that threw me wax that it was funded. apparently, outside of any MKULTRA
activity and it was under the normal econtracting proeesx, go that it was not
inelnded in MKULTRA as any work done under that funding umbrelia.

The file folder that you have and 1 have. right here. makes it guite clear,
however, 1that a year's work was done throngh navy funding—a navy funding
mechanism—on which the proposal was based that ultimately came into the
MRULTRA program. That second proposal was never funded. So, there wax
conflict and 1. personally. 1 think, introduced a little bit of confusion in that in
my testimony.

Nenator ScRWEIKER. Well, do you agree or not agree with DOD’s statement
here that even though the initial funding was navy, it was really a econduit for
the ('fAY

Mr. Lavrixaer. T think that is correct.

Senator Senrwerker. Yes: T wonld appreciate that, T would like to
know how it went from ONR to C1A after a vear. Somebody made a
decision to make that transfer. and to nake this an MKULTRA sul-
jeet. There had to he some sort of review that led to a decision to
continne that kind of coneussion—total hlackout, maximuin amnesia,
and whatever else it was you were interested in—study and testing.

Me, Lavnixcen, Senator, if T may try to sav a few words on tha,
the files that were available to us for inspection, which are limited.
indicated that there was a project being earried on by the Navy having
to de with the effects of hrain voneas<ion, The CIA developed an inter-
estin that, and considered funding i but actually never did. and as
the admiral te=tified. the MKULTRA 1~ merely a Tundimg mechanism,
a place they go for money to do such things. but there i= no evidence
that I know of that that project was ever funded.
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. Senator Senwriker. Well. T am confused. because here again is an-
i othier quote from a dornment that we have seen. which vou have re-
: Jeased amd supphied tous:

Following is the techuical progress made under the current (deleted] contract :
(as Speeinlized instrumentation and nuinerous testing techniques have been
developed 1o obtain the desired dynamic data: (b) consideralile data bas now
been oltained supporting the resonance-caviliation theory of brain concussion | and

(e prediminary aeceleration threshold data has been ohtained for a fluid-filled
glass simulated skull,

-y e

Tt zoes on 1o talk about a blast range and a 2.500-square-foot Iabora-
tory. The docuent notes that “Three blast test series have been run
todate” It deseribes a special blackjack device."a paneake-type black-
jack giving a high peak unpact force with a Tow unit surface pressure.”

1 agree the records arve inconclusive as to the results of thi~ work.
but it certainly seems that some testing was done.

Mr. LavBINGER. Senator, You are putting us in the same position
1 think you were stating that vou were in earlicr in referring to docu-
ments not hefore us but 1 believe you are quoting from a proposal
that ~omeonce sent to the Ageney to fund thiz work. and he i referring
to past work. The past work would have encompassed a ot of things
- ke that. but CEA was not involved with that.

- senator Senwerker. What do you mean. Admiral. on page 6 of your

; testimony when you mention projects using magician's art? How do
magicians get into the spook business!

Addmiral Tvrsen. 1 have interpreted this as to how to slip the mickey
h into the finn, hut 1T would like to ask my advisers here to comment.
‘ Mr. Brony. 1 think that is essentially it, Senator. 1t i= surreptitious

administration of material to someone. deceptive practices. how to
distract someone’s attention while yon are doing something else. as
1 understand it. Tt was alwo some type of a covert communication
project involved with the study of how magicians and their assistants
perhaps comnmicate information to one another without having other
\ people know it This i the type of thing that was involved. sir.

Senator Sciweisee Thank ven. Mr. Chairman,

Qenator Ixorve. Senator Huddleston !

Senator HeppLestox, Thank vou. My, Chairman.

Admiral. in vonr checking these newly discovered documents and
interviewing niembers of the C1.A statl, did vou find information that
would confirm the contention described by the reporters for the New
York Times that this type of experimentation was Liegnn out of a
fear at the Ageney that foreign powers might have had drug- which
would allow them to alter the hehavior of Anterican eitizens or agents
or members of the Armed Forees who were taken into custody. and
; whi-h would have resulted in false confession= and the lhke? 1= my
v question elear !

Admiral Terser, Yes, sir ] haven't personally read the documen-
tation on that. In my dimenssion= with the people who are well in-
formed in thi=area at the Ageney. T am told that that is the ease.

Senator Hepprisrox, Was thereany evidence or any indication that
here were other motives that the Agency might also be looking for
drner< that conld be applied for other purposes, suchoas debilitating an
inddividual or even killing another person 4 Was thi- part of thisz kind
of experinientation?

B
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Admiral Teryer. Yes: T think there is. T have not seen in this series
of docutnentation evidence of desire to kill, but 1 think the project
turned its character from a defensive to an offensive one as 1t went
along. and there certainly was an intention here to develop drugs that
conld be of use.

Senator HupprestoN. The project continued for some time after it
was learned that. in fact. foreign powers did not have such a drug as
was at first feared. didn’t 1t ?

Admiral Tvrxer. That is my understanding. Yes. =ir.

Senator Huvprestox, Is there any indication that knowledge gained
ax a vesult of these experiments has been useful or is being applied in
any wav to present operations?

Mr. Bropy. Senator. T am not cure if there i< any body of knowledge.
A great deal of what there was. T gather. was destroved in 1973, 1
would like to defer to Frank here. Do vou know of any ?

Mr. Lavsixaer. 1 know of no drugs or anything like that developed
under this program that ever reached operational use or are in use
today.

Senator Hrphurstox. So apparently any information that was
gathered was apparently useless and not worth continuing, not worth
further development on the part of the Agencey.

Mr. Lavrinaer. T am having diffienlty hearing yvour questions.

Senator Hepprestox. T can hardly hear myself.

Admiral Tvrxer. T think the answer to vour question is that we have
no evidence of great usefulness on this, and yet I think we should
remember

Senator Hpprestox. Well. is 1t accurate to say that this experimen-
tation produced few nseful resnlts or had little application at all to the
operations of the Agenev or anvhody else ax faras we know 2

Admiral Tvrxer. T think that i< basieally correct. At the same time.
T would point out that we had two C1.A prisoners in China and one in
the Soviet Union at this time. and we were coneerned as to what kinds
of thing= might be done to them, but T ani not saying that

Senator HuennLestox. Have vou detected any sign that any other na-
tion is continuing or has in the past conducted experiments similar to
this or with a similar objective?

Admiral Trrxer. T am not prepared to answer that one off the top
of my head. sir. but T will get it to vou.

[ The material referred to follows:]

We maintain no files of up-to-date information on the testing of drugs in
foreign countries. Some vears agn we oceasionally wounld review foreign research
on antibioties and pharmacenticals in connection with public health and civil
defense assesments. For a few yvears beginning in 1Y we assessed foreigm
resenreh o LS under Project ARTICHOKE lweause of concern that such
drigs might be employed gainst Ageney and other U8, personnel. Information
relative to this work has already been provided to relevant Committees. In this
early work we also oecasionally loeked at foreign human experimentation; we
loug ago eliminated our bholdings on this subjert and no coliection requirements
are any longer served. As consimer interest in this area has dropped off
and higher priority areas need attention, we have virtually ne present coverage
with the possitde exception of an oceaxionnl seanning of the liternture for a
specific program. To the best of our knowledge no other unit in the Intelligence
Communiry is tracking this subjeet now.
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Senator Hvnoreston, You don't know whether any of vour agents
anvwhere in the workd have been subjected to any kind of procedure
like this?

Admiral Tymxer. We certainly know of other powers conducting
vesearcli in these areas. vee,

Senator Hepnrestox. Do yon know how they go about that rescarch?

Adnmiral Trryer. Tt is pretty sketehy, the information we have.

Nenator Hroprestox. Do vou know of any other organization in this
conniry or any institution that has conducted extensive research on
unwitting individuals and through unwitting institutions?

Admiral Terxer. Well, T have read something in the newspapers
abont this. bat T have not familiavized myself with it in specifics.

Senator Hrpbpesrox. Tt is not a normal mode of operation for hu-
man research, i< it ?

Admiral Tvrxer. No. sir.

Senator Hrmmestox, Thank vou. Mr. Chairman.

Senator Ixotrye. Senator Wallop?

Senator Warror., My, Chairman. T only have one to follow up on
Senator Huddleston’s questions and my earlier ones. You are not really
saving, are vou. Admiral Turner. that there are no mind-altering
drugs or behavior madification procedures which have been used by
foreign powers?

Admiral Teryer. No,sir. T am not.

Senator Warror. T drew that inference partly in answer to my ques-
tion that vou knew of no truth serum. Maxvbe that 1= a misnomer. but
surely there are relaxants that make tongues lovser than they would
otherwise be. Tsn't that true?

Adniral Tvrxer. Yes,

Senator Warror. So T think it is fair to say. too, that the experience
of many American prisoners of war in the Korean conflict would
indicate that there are behavior modification procedures in use by
foreigm powers of a fairly advanced degree of sophistication.

Admiral Torxer. Yes, sir.

Senator Warror. Again. T will just go back and say T think this
must have been part of the motivation. T don’t think vou would have
mentioned Cardinal Mindszenty had vou thought hix behavior was
normal at the time or had anybody else. So. T would just again say
T think it is a little bit seapegoating. I don’t think the object of this
heaving is in anv wayv to layv blame on those passed or those dead or
otherwise, but T think it is a little bit seapegoating to sav thap it
stopped with the divectors of the CIA or the DCT's of the time. Also
T think it i= a little hit scapegoating to sav they didn’t even know it.
hut that it was some lower echelon acting alone.

T think this was a behavior pattern that was prevalent in those
vears, and T think the object lesson is that we have discovered. we
think and we hope. through vonr assurances and other activities of
the Congress, means of avoiding future incidents of that kind. T thank
vou, My, Chairman,

Senator Ixotvve. Senator Chafee?

Senator Coarer. No questions,

Senator Inxovye. Senator Kennedy. T think you have another
question,
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Senator Kexveny, Just talking about the two safe houses on the
east and west coust a~ betng the sourees for the unwitting trials. now,
the amportance of this and the magnitnde of i, 1 think. is of signifi-
cance. becanse we live scen from vour records that these were used
over a period of s or & vears, and the numbers conld have been con-
siderable. Yau are imable to determine. at least in yvour own research,
what the numbers wonld e anid what the drg= were, how many people
were involved. but it could have been considerable during this period
of time,

It waould certuinly appear to e in examining the doctinents and
the flow charts of eash =hips that were expended in these areas that it
was constderable, but that is a judgmental factor on it. but ¥ think
1 3= hmportant 1o try and find onut what the Ageney is attempting to
do 1o get ta the bottow of 1t.

Now, the principal agent that was involved a< T understand it is
deceased and has {x-en decensed for 2 vears. The overall agent. Mr.
Gottheb, has jndieated o fuzzy mewory about this whole area, He
has testitied hefore the Intelligence Comuiittee, Yot he was respon-
sible for the whole program. Then, the Director had indicated the
de~truction of the various materials and unfamiliarity with the
project.

Now. vou have indieated in vour testimony today that there are two
whlitional agents on page 9 of your testimony. vou indicated there
are two additional agents which vou have uncovered at the bottom of
it ansd you sy the nines of CLA offivials who approved or monitored
the various projects. You talk about the two additional agents in your
testimony.

Now. I amn just wondering if vou intend to interview those agents
to find ont exactly what i~ being done. 1 snppose. first of all. shouldn't
the project npmager know what was eing done

Melmieal Tersen, Our first probleni, Senator, is that we have been
unable to assactate an individuad with those names at this point. We
are still burrowing to fiied ont who these people are. We haven't identi-
fied them as having been CLA emplovees, and we don’t know whether
these were false names,

Nenator Kexxeny. You are tracking that down, as T understand it ?

Admiral Tersnn Yes sir,

Senator Kexnyeny. You are tracking that down, and you have every
intention of inferviewing these people to find out whatever you can
about the program and project ¢

Admiral Teerxer, My onlty hesitation here s whether T will do this
orthe Justice Department.

Senator Kexxrov, It will be pursued. though. T understand?

Admiral Tursen. Yes sir,

Senator Kexxeony. Either through the Ageney or through the Jus-
tice Department ¢

Admiral Terser, [ Nods in the aflirmative.]

Senator Kex~xepy. I it plausible that the director of the program
would not understand or know about the details of the program?
Is it plausible that Dr. Gottlich would not understand the full range
of activities in those particular safe houses?

Ghad0H O T - 4
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Admiral TUrNER. Lot me =ay it is wnlikely. 1 don’t know Mr. Gott-
lieh. )

Senator Kexxeny. Has anvbody in the Ageney talked with Mr.
Gottlich ta find out about thi=?

Admiral Trrxer. Not sinee this revelation has come out.

Senator Kexsepy. Not sinee this revelation? Well, why not?

Armiral Turs ek He has left our employ. Senator.

Senator Kexxepy. Does that mean that anybody who leaves is, you
know. covered for hifetime

Admiral TURNER. No.sir.

Qenator Kexxeny. Why wouldn’t you talk with him and find out? .
You have new information about this progrion. It has heen a matter
of considerable interest hoth to onr committee and to the Intelligence
Committve. Why wouldn’t you talk to Mr. Gottlieb?

Admiral Turser. Wello again, 1 think the issue i= whether this .
<hould be done by the Justice Departinent or ourselves,

Qenator Kexsepy. Well, are we wrestling around becanse you and
Attorney General Bell ean’tagree

Admiral Turser. No.sir,

Senator Kexxepy Jeontinuing]. On who ought to do it?

Admiral Turxer. We are proceeding together in complete agreenient
as to how to go. T have, in connection with trying to find all of these
Amerieans or others who were unwittingly tested. T have some con-
siderable comeern about the CLA running around this country inter-
viewing and interrogating people. because 1 don’t want to give any
impression that we arve doing domestic intelligence.

Senator Kexyeny. T am just talking about one. in this case. That
wa< the man who was responsible for the whole program. and to
find out whether anvone within the Aeeney since vou have had this
now material has talked to Gottlieh sinee 1075, and if the answer 1s
no. T want to know whyv not.

Admira) Treser. The reason he was not interviewed in connection
with the 1975 hearings was that he had loft the employ of the CTA
and there was a concern on the part of the Agency that it would appear
to the investigators that the CTA was in some way trying to influence
him and influence his testimony before the committee. If these
committees have na objection, we wonld be happy to contact Dr.

Gottlich and see if he can angment anvthing here in this new infor- *
mation. though T don’t think there is mueh in this new information
that he can add to as opposed to what was available in 1975 :

Senator Kexyeny, Welll vou see. Admiral Turner. vou come to the .

two committees this morning and indicate that now at Jast we have the
information. We don’t have to he concerned about anvthing in the
future on it. Now. T don’t know how vou can give those assurances to
the members of these commiftees as well as to the American people
when von haven't since 1975 even talked to the principal person that
was in charee of the prograni. and the records were destroved. He 1=
the fellow that was running the program. and the Ageney has not
talked to him sinee the development of thiz new material.

Admiral Tersee. Our only concern here i« the proprieties involved.
and we will dig into this and work with the Justice Departmment on
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who. if cither of us. should get into discussions with Dr. Gottlieb so as
not to prejudice any legal rights that may be involved here, or to ap-
pear in any way to be improper.

Senator Kexxeny. Well. do T understand yon have not contacted the
Justice Department about this particular case since the development
of this wew material about Gottlieh?

Adiral Terser. Not about Gottlieb specifically. We have contacted
him.

Senator Krxxeny. Well. it is amazing to me. T mean. can you under-
stand the difficulty that any of us might have in terms of comprehend-
ing that when vou develop a whole new serie~ of materials that are on
the front page of every newspaper in the country and are on every tele-
vision. T mean. that means something. hut 1t does not mean nearly as
much as the interest that we have in the fact about the testing of un-
witting Americans, and every single document that the staff reviews
hax My, Gottliehs name on it and yon come up to tell us that we don't
have to worry any more, we have these other final facts, and Mr. Gott-
lieb has not been talked to?

Admiral Trexer. Sir. T am not sayving that these are in any way the
final facts, T am saying these are all the facts we have available,

Senator Kexxepy. And vou have not talked to the person who was
in charge of the prograni, so what kind of value or what kind of weight
can we give it? )

Adniral Terver. We are happy to talk to him. T think the issue
here again i< onc of propriety and how to go about this. We have not,
I believe. enongh new information about Gottlieb's participation here
to signal that his interview would be that much more revealing than
what wasrevealed in 1973,

Senator Kexxeny. The importance of jt. I think. from our point
of view. 1s. he would know the drug~ that were administered. the vol-
ume of drug~. how it was administered. and in terms of vour ability
to follow up to protect these people and their health. to the extent that
it can hie done, that opportunity is being lost.

T want to get on to some others. but will you give us the assurance
that vou will get aliold of Gortlieh or that vou will talk to Attorney
General Bell and talk with Gottliel,? ) )

Admiral Ter~er. Yes sir.

Scnator Kexxepy. And let us know as to the extent of it. I don’t
see how we can fufill our responsibility in this area on the drug test-
ing without our hearing from Gottlieh as well. but I think it is im-
portant that you do so. particularly since all of the material: have
been destroved. )

These othertwo agents have they talked to them?

Admiral Tersen, We don't know who they are. sir. We are trving
to track down and see whether these names can be releated to anybody.

Senator Kexzepy. That is under active investigation by the Ageney?

Admival Terxen, Yes, sir.

Senator Kexxeny, And yon have the intention of talking to those
people when vou loeate them. Ts that correct

Admiral Tvexer. Yes sir, under the same circumstances as Gottlieb.

Senator Kexxrny, And vou have people working on it ?

Admiral Tvrxer. Yes, sir.
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Senator Kexxepy, With regards to the activities that took place in
these =afe honses, as T understand fram the records, two-way mirrors
were u~ed. Iz that vour understanding ¢

Admiral Treeser Yes, sit. We have records that construction was
done to put in two-way mirrors,

Senator Kexyepy., And they were placed in the bedroom. as T
understamd.

[Pause.]

Senator Kexsepy, Wellowe have documents——

Admira]l Tvrser. 1 believe that was in the Church record, bt T
don’t have the details,

Senator Krxxeny. And rather elsborate decorations were added. as
T understand. at least, to the one in San Franeiscoo in the hedroom,
which are Freneh can-can dancers, flora] pictures, drapery,including
installation of bedroom mirrors. three framed Toulouse Lautree post-
ers with black «ilk mats. and a number of other—red hedroom cur-
tains and recording equipment. and then a series of documents which
were provided to the committee which indicate a wide proliferation
of different cash for £100, generally in the §100 range over any period
of time on the particular ehecks. Fven the names are blocked out, as
to the per<on who is receiving it. Cash {for undercover agent-. operat-
ing expenses, drinks. entertainment while admini-tering. and then it
i« dashed ont. and then the other doenments, that would sngzest, at
least with the siemature of vour principal agent out there, that—
“called to the operation. midnight .and elimax.™

What can vou tell us that it might suggest to you about what tech-
niques were being used by the Ageney in terms of reaching that sort
of broad-bazed group of Americans that were being evidently enticed
for teting in terms of drugs and others? Do yon draw any kind of
conclusion abont what might have been going on out there in these
safe honses?

Admiral Trrxen. No, sir,

[General limghter.]

Senatar Krsseny, There i a light side to it but there is also an
enorniously serions side. And that i< that at least the techimiques which
are used or were used in terms of testing, and trying to find out ex-
actly the range of drugs used and the numhers of people invelved and
exactly what that operation was about, ax well as the con<tant reitera-
tion of the use of spall =unis of eash at irregular intervals. A variety
of different techniques were emploved bt there is an awful lot of
docrumentation putting these matters together.

When von ook at the fact that it is a broad range population that
ha= heen tosted, tested in these two aveas, with the kind of eash «lip-
that were ned in thi=. paviment mechanisms and decorations and all
of the rest. we are not able to put a bottom line on it hut one thing is
for sure. and that is. Gottlieh knows, That is ene thing for zure. he-
cause his name appears on just abont every ene of these documents.
and it i-. T think. very important to find ont what hi- understanding
i< of the nature of that. So. we will hear miore abont that.

Admiral Tersen. T believe Gottlieh has been interviewed by the
Congress,

Senator Kexyeny, That's right, he ha<. and in reviewing the record.
it is not very satisfactory, and it just scems with the new information
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and the new documentation and the new memoranda—and he did not
have the cheeks at that time—and with the wide variety of different
memoranda with his nate on ite his memory could be stimulated on
that.

Thank vou.

Senator Ixorye. 1 would like to thank the admiral and his staff for
participating in this hearing. 1 belicve the record should show that this
Liearing was held at the vequest of the Ageney and the admiral. Tt was
not held because we msisted npon it. It was a volunteer effort on the
part of the Ageney. I think the record should also indicate that Ad-
miral Turner has forwarded to this committee a classified file including
all of the mnees of the institutions and the persons involved as the
experimentors,

1 should also indicate that {his hearing is just one step involved in
the commitiee’™s investigation of drug abusce. Just as you have had much
work in going over the =000 pages, the stafl of this committee has had
cqual problews. but 1T would like the reeord to show that vou have
niade these papers and documents avatlable to the committee. T thank
von for that,

A= part of the ongoing investigation, we had intended to call upon
many dozens of others, experimentors, or those officials in charge. and

o_—— one of those will be D, Gottlieh,

i In thanking vou, T would hike to say this to the American people.
that what we have experieneed this morning in this committee room
i~ not heing duplicated in any other committee room in any other part
of the world, T doubt that very much. Onr Ageney and our intelligence
comunmnity has been under wmueh eriticism and ha< been subjected to
tuch abise, in many cases justified, but this is the most open society
thar T ean think of. For examplec in Great Britain there are about six
people who are aware of the ddentity of the man in eharge of intelli-
genee, In other countries, similar conditions exist. Here in the United
States we not onlyv know Admivid Turner, we have had open hearings
with Lin. suelt as this. The confirmation hearings were all open.

In a few weeks the Senate of the United States will debate a resolu-
tion to decide upon whethey we should diselose the amounts and funds
being used for counterintelligence and national intelligence. T would
hope thiat in presenting this is<ue to the public, the media will take note
that the Ageney has cooperated and will econtinue to. The abuse that
we have learned abont thi- morning is one T hope will never happen
again, bt without constant oversight on the part of the Executive
Offier. on the part of the Congres=. it could happen again. It is impor-
tant therefore that we continue in this oversight activity.

Sa.onee again, Admiral. T thank vou very much for helping us. We
will continnue 1o eall upon von for vour assistance. We would like to
submit to you several questions that the members and staff have pre-
pared. We hape vou will look them over carefully and prepare ve-
sponscs for the record, sir,

Senatar Kexxeny, Mr. Chairman?

Senator Ixovye. Yes, sir?

Senator Kexxeny. 1. too, want to thank Admiral Turner for his
responsiveness, T have had meetineg- with him in the committees and
also conversations. telephone conversations, and private meetings. and
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I have found him personally to be extremely responsive, and it is a
vorv diflionlt ehallenge which he has accepted in Leading thic Agency.
I want von to know. personabiyv, Lo too, would like to see this put behind
ne. 1 dou't think we are quite there vet in terms of this particular area
that we are interested . T think the Intelligence ("ommittee has
special responsibilities in this area of the testing. so we look forward
to working with vou in expediting the time that we ean put it behind,
bt it doe= seent to me that we have to dig in and finich the chapter.
So. 1 want to personally express my appreciation to you, Admiral
‘Turner. and thank you for vour cooperation and your help. and T look
forward to working with you.

Admiral Treser. Thank vou.

Senntor Hevnrestox, Mr. Chairman, T am not sure you emphasized
thi~ enongh. Imt T think the record onghit to show that Admiral Turner
informed the Seleet Committee on his own initintive when the new
doctmentation was found. The documentation has been made avail-
able to us voluntarily, in a spirit of cooperation.

I think this shows a vast difference from the mode of operation that
existed prior to the formation at Jeast of the Church committee. and
a differenee that is very helpful.

Senator Inovyr. Thank yvou very much. Thank vou very much,
Admiral

We wonld now like to eall upon Mr. Philip Goldman and Mr. John
Gittinger.

M. Goldiman and Mr. Gittinger, will you please rise and take the
oatl.

Do von solemly swear that the testimony von are ahout to give is
the trnth. the whole truth and nothing bt the truth. so help vou. God?

M. Gorowax. Tdo.

Mr. Grrrnivaen. T do.

Senator Txovye. Thank yon, <.

A Goldiman. will vou identify vourzelf. and after that. Mr.
Gittinger.

Senator Krxxepy. Refore we start in. we had a third witness. Mr.
Chairman. Mr. Pasternac, who planned to testifv. traveled to Wash-
inerton —he lives in Washington, and wa- contacted recently—with
the intention of testifving this morning. And something—he ealled
s late thi- morning and indicated that he wanted to get a counsel
before e would wish totestify.

Senator Ixovye. Mr. Goldman,

M. Goldman., will vou identify vourself. sir, .

TESTIMONY OF PHILIP GOLDMAN. FORMER EMPLOYEE. CENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

Al Gormwax. Tam Philip Goldman,

Senator Ixovyr. And vou are a former employee of the Central
Tntelligence Agenev?

Mr Gorpvay, Over 10 vears ago,

Senator Ixovye. And von were employed at the time when
MKULTRA was in operation?

Mr. Garosax, There were some MKULTRA = in operation at the
time T was there,
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Senator InoryE. And Mr. John Gittinger, are you a former em-
ployee of the Central Intelligence Agency ¢

TESTIMONY OF JOHN GITTINGER. FORMER EMPLOYEE, CENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

Mr. GITTINGER. I am.

Senator 1NOTYE. Are you still an employee?

Mr. GiTTINGER. NO. :

Senator INoUYE. Were you a member of the Agency at the time
MEULTRA was in operation !

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes.

Senator InoUYE. Thank you. Senator Kennedy.

Senator KENNEDY. 1 want to welcome both of you to the committee.

If we could start with Mr. Goldman. Were vou the project engineer
for the safe houses in either San Franciscoor New York?

Mr. GoLpmax. I know of no safe house in San Francisco.

Senator Kexxeny. How about in New York?

Mr. GoLpmax. I knew of one facility that was established there,
but 1 didn’t know anything of its operation.

Senator Kexxeny. Were you a nionitor on any testing of drugs on
unwitting persons in San Francisco!

Mr. Gornmax. No.

Senator KExxepy. Well. we havea classified document here that was
provided by the Agency that lists your name as a monitor of the pro-
gramand T would appreciate it if you would look——

Mr. Gornnman. 1 think the misunderstanding arises because T was
project officer.

Qenator Kexxeny. Well. would you take a look at that ¢

[Mr. Goldman inspected the document.]

Mr. Gorpyax. This document as it states is correct. However,
my

‘Qenator Kexxeny. That document is correct ?

Mr. Goromax. As far as I see on the first page, the project. But
my—-

"Senator Kexyepy. Well. could T get it back. please.

That would indicate that you were a monitor of the program.
HM]r. GoLnMax. I was in charge of dishursing the moneys to Morgan

all.

Senator Kexseny., To whom was that?

Mr. Goroaax. To the individual whose name was listed at the top
of that document.

Qenator Krxyrny. And you knew that he was running the project
in San Francisco?

Mr. Gorpmax. T knew he was the person who was in charge out
there.

Senator Kexxeny. All right.

Mr. Goromax. But T had no knowledge nor did T seek knowledge of
actually what he was doing. because there would be other things
involved.

I d°d receive—

Senator KExNEDy., What were you doing?

'5 Ay St
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Mr. GorpMax. I was eollecting—1 had to be sure that all the re-
ceipts that ever were turned in balanced with the moneys that were
paid out to see that everything was run all right. There was no illegal
use of funds as far as we could determine hy the receipts and cash.

Senator KexNEpY. So even though the Agency document indicates
that you were a monitor for the program. one of the few monitors of
that particular progrin which you mentioned for San Francizco and
Mill Valley. Calif.. you described your responsibility only a- a carrier
of money. is that correct ?

M. Gorosas. 1 would say as a disburser or carrying out—seeing
that the monevs were handled properly. There was within that—I
don't know what's done or what he did do in conjunction with other
people.

Senator Kexxeny., Were you responsible for the dizhursement of
all the funds?

Ay, Goroarax. T was responsible for turning over the check to him.

Qenator Kexsepy. And what did you know of the program jtself?

M. Gorpmax. The only thing T knew of the program was what he
furnished us in terms of receipts and that sort of thing. 1 didn't in-
dulge or concern myself in that.

Senator Kexyeby. You still wrote. and T let vou examine it—
it's a classificd document—but you wrote a rather substantive review
of the progrant in May of 1963, talking about the experiments. the
fa-tual data that had been collected, covert and realistic field trials.
about the necessity of those particular—and tatked about the effec-
tiveness of the various programe, the efficiency of various delivery
svstems, That deesn’t <ound to me like someonc who is only—

Mr. Gormax. Well, if vou would refresh my memorny. if T could
rend this T would certainly agree with whatever is said there. if it was
written., ‘

Senator Kexyeny. Tam trying to gather what your role was. You've
indicated fir<t of all that you didn’t know about—you knew about a
cafe honse in New York: now we find out that vou're the carrier for
the resonrees a< well and the agent in San Franciseo, We find out now
that the CTA put vouasa monitor. You're testif ving that you only were
the conrier. and here we have just one document, and there are many
other that talk about the substance of that program with your name
on it and T am just trying to find out exactly what role you were
plaving.

Al Gorovas. The only thing T ean tell you alout thix and T am
drawing completely on my memory i< that this individual who was
in eharee out there condneted these things and reported them back to
the Avenev, Tdidn't participate in any of then. AN T know was that he
furni<hed me with receipts for thing- that were done and told of the
work that they had done.

Senantor Kexveny, Welll that docnment eovers more than receipts.

Mr. Gornyax, Yes. it tells of what—they had conducted work out
there.

Senator Krxxeoy, Tt deseribes. does it not? Read the paragraph 2.

M Gorovax, %A numler of covert ™ ——

Qenntor Krs vrny, Wello von ean't read itLit’s a elassified dorument.,
and 1 dont know why. quite frankly. but it relates to the substance
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of those programs and your name i signed to the memorandums on
it. T an not interested in you trying to review for us now what is in the
document. but T think it would be unfortunate if we were left with the
opinion that all you werc wasa courier of resources when we sec a
document with your name on it, siened. that talks about the substance
of the program. And what we're interested in is the substance of the
program. We have the recent documents that were provided by the
Ageney. which do indicate that you were at least involved in the
substance, and I'm just trying to find out whether you're willing to
tell us about that. ’

M. Gonpaax. 1 am perfectly willing to tell yon evervthing that
I can remember.

Senator Kexxeny. But you can't remember anything.

My, Gorpyax. 1 ean’t remember the substintive parts of these
things. I really can’t.

Senatar Kex~eny. Of the program that wac taking place.

Do vou have any greater familiarity with what was happening in
New York?

Mr. Goromax. No, no.

Senator KExxepy. And you have the same function with regards
to New York?

Mr. GoLpaax. The same function with regard to New York.

Qenator KENNEDY. Did you ever go to San Francisco!?

Mr. GoLpyax. Yes.

Qenator KExxEpY. Did you meet with the agent in charge?

Mr. GoLpaax. Yes.

Qenator KExyepy. And why did vou meet with him?

Mr. Gouraax. To discuss some of the receipts and things that were
there to find out if these were indeed true expenditures and to find out
hf evervthing was going along all right for the work that was being

one.

Senator Kexxreny. What work was being done?

Ay, Gornwas. No. the reports of these things and whatever was
being done. T don’t know who he reported to but he did report to
somebody.

Senator KExxEpy. You travel ont there to find out about the work
that's being done. and what does he tell you. that the work is being
done well and

Mr. GoLpyax. He told me that the work that they were doing was
going along. progressing satisfactorily. but to be very frank with
you

Senator Kexxepy. But he didn’t tell vou what the work was?

Ar. Gorpmax. To be very frank with vou. Senator. I cannot re-
member the things that happened back in those days. I've heen away
from the company—from the Ageney for over 10 vears. and that is
even farther hack than that. and that was just about the time when I
first engaged in this, so it was my first

Scenator Krxxeny. Did they disburse a series of $100 checks. to
vour recollection?

M. Gowpyax. T don't recollect it. but if you have it there. then
thev did.

Senator Kexxepy. Did you know Dr. Gottlieh?

Mr. GoLpMan. Yes.
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Senator Kexxeny. How did you know Dr. Gottlieb?

Mr.dGOLDMAN. Hec had been head of the division when I was re-
cruited.

Senator Kexvepy. Did you talk to him about these programs? Did
you have anything to do with him during this period of time?

M. Gornarax. 1 didn't have anything to do with him until I would
say prohably in the sixties.

Senator KExNEDY. And can you tell us what you had to do with
him then? i

Mr. Gonmaan. Just what vou see there on the papers.

Senator Kex~nepy. Well, that is the request for the money and he
approves it.

AMr. GoLpmax. That is the request for money and he approves it.
and 1 am quite sure that T probably discussed with him whether the
work was going along all right, whether his reports were being turned
in. and whether he was satisfied with the way things were going
and did he have any complaints about the way other people were
requesting him, but T did not engage myself in anything he was doing.

Scnator Kexxepy. Well, did you get the impression that Gottlieb
knew what was going on?

Mr. Gorpmax. T didn’t ask.

Qenator Kexxeny. But you told him that your impression that what
was going on even though vou didn’t know what was going on, was go-
ing on well. T guess? [Laughter.]

Mr. Gormaxs. T told Gottlieb what vou saw in there was that the
things appeared to be going along all right. T was repeating and par-
roting back the words that were given to me while T was there.

Senator Kexxeoy. What was the money being spent for, do you
know?

Mr. GoLpmax. No: I can’t recall that, sir.

Senator KexxEpy. Would vou remember if we told you it was red
curtains and can-can pictures——

Mr. GoLpmax. No. sir.

Senator KEx~xEpY. Floral pictures and the rest.

Mr. GoLpmax. No, sir.

Senator Kex~Neny. Recorders.

Mr. GoLpmax. No, sir.

Senator KexxEeny. Recorders and two-way mirrors.

Mr. GoLnMax. Wait. hold on. You're slipping a word in there now.

Senator Kex~epy. But you would have authorized those funds.
would vou not, since vou were the—

Mr. Gorpmax. Did vou say two-way mirrors?

Senator KEXNEDY. Yes.

Mr. GoLpman. Where ?

Scnator Kex~eny. In the safe houses.

Mr. GoLoman. Where?

Senator KexxEepy. San Francisco.

Mr. Goroman. No.

Senator KExxeny. How about New York?

Mr. Gorpmax. Yes.

Senator KExyeny. You remember now that you approved expendi-
tures for New York?

<4
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Mr. Goroman. Yes.

Senator KExNEDY. What were those expenditures for?

Ar. GoLomax. That was a transfer of money over for the use in
an apartment in New York by the Bureau of Narcotics. It was for
their use.

Senator Kexneny. Do you have any knowledge of what was going
on in the apartment?

Mr. GowLpax. No. sir, other than T know that it had been used, ac-
cording to the information that I have been given. it was used by the
Bureau of Narcotics to make meetings with individuals who they were
interested in with regard to pushing dope—not pushing dope, but sell-
ing narcotics and that sort of thing.

Senator KExNEpy. Well. Tam sure you had many responsibilities and
it'< a long time ago. but the Agency does indicate that you were project
monitor for that particular program.

Mr. Goromaxs, That's correct.

Senator KEXNEDY. Your own testimony indicates you went out to re-
view the expenditures of funds to find out whether they were being
wizely used. that you came back and talked to the project director, Mr.
Gottiieb, to give him & progress report about what was going on out
there.

AMr. GoLpmax. Yes,sir. T did.

Senator Kexxepy. All those things are true, and vet vou draw a
complete blank in terms of what was the project itself. That's where
the record is now.

AMr. Gornaan. I did not go out there to review the projects nor did
I come back and talk with Mr. Gottliel and review what T had observed
in terms of any projects that they—that is. other parts of the Apgency
might have in operation there. I simply reported back those things
which were told to me by the individual out there who—and I carried
{hem back and they are contained in the report that you have in front
of vou, word for word. just as it was given to me.

Senator Kexxepy. The report that you examined here is a substan-
tive report on the particular program and project. And I don’t think
anvone who wa=nt gamiliar with the project—this is a personal evalu-
ation—could write a report on the substance of it without knowing
about it. Now, that’s mine. Maybe you can’t remember and recollect,
and that’s—

Mr. Gorpmax. No;: everything T put down in there is things that I
wax told while I was out there,and if there was any ancillary informa-
tion involved in there I can tell you I just don’t remember that. 1 really
don’t.

At the time—that was some years ago. At the time—a Jot of time has
passed since then and T have made quite sure that if I could recollect 1t
at all. T would do it. If you have some papers and you want me to cer-
tifv whether yes. this isso or that is so, I can do that, but T can't recall
it mentally.

S}f;nator Kexneoy. You just certified the principal. There are others
up here.

pI would like to go to Dr. Gittinger.
Mr. Gitrixarr. It's Mr. Gittinger.
Senator KEx~epy. How long did you serve with the Agency?

1
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Mr. GrrriNGeR. Twenty-six vears.

Senator Kexxgpy. Excuse me?

Mr. Gitrixeer. Twenty-six years.

Senator Kexxepy. Twenty-six years.

And at ~ome point yon moved into the operationa) support side, is
that correct ?

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes,

Senator Kexxenv., And did vou know Sidney Gottlieh?

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes, sir,

Senator Kexxeny. And did he inform you about the research proj-
ecet~ involving LSD?

Mr. Grrnixeer. Yes. sir,

Senator Kexxeny, 1t is my understanding that vou were also aware
of some of the drug testing projects conducted on unwitting subjects
on the west coust using the Bureau of Narcotics people in the operation.
I= that true!

Mr. Gyrringer. T was,

Senator Inovye, Excuse me. Would vou speak into the microphone?
1 cannot hear you. .

Mr. GIITINGER, Sorry,

Senator KExxepy. Do you know which drugs were involved in those
test=?

Mr. Grrriscer. LSDL And T can’t remember for sure much of the
others. What is the sulwtance of marihnana. cannabis, i< that right. that
can be delivered by other than smoking ?

Senator Ken~Nepy. Cannabis?

Mr. Ghrrminaenr. There had been some disenssion of that: ves.

Senator Kexyepy. And was heroin also used?

Mr. Gitrineek. Heroinused by C1A?

SKenator Kexxepy. No. In the west coast operation.

Mr. Gitrinaer. Absolutely not.

Senator KENNEpY, Now, to vonr knowledge. how were the drugs ad-
ministered to the unwitting subijects?

Mr. Grrrixeer, 1 have no direet knowledge.

Senator Kexxeny, Why did you go to the safe houses?

Mr. Gitnixeenr. 10s a very complicated story. Just in justification of
myself. this came up just day before vesterday. I have not really had
enongl time to get it all straightened in my mind. <o T ramble.

Senator Kexxeny, Well, vou take your time and tell us in vour own
word<, We've got sonie time lLiere,

Mr. Grenixaer. My responsibilities which would involve any of the
period of time that vou were talking about reallv was not dirvectly
related to drugs at all. T was a psvehbologist charged with the responsi-
bility of trying to develop as much information ax 1 could on various
cultures, oversea~ cultures. anthropological type data. if von follow
what T mean. T was also engaged in trving to work out ways and means
of as<essing people and understanding people,

I originally became involved in this throngh working on Chinese
enlture, and over a series of time 1 was infroduced to the problem of
brainwashing. which is the thing that really was the most compelling
thing in relationship to thi=. and became charged with the responsi-
bility of trying to find out a little bit about interrogation techniques.
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And among other things. we decided or T decided that one of the best
sources of Interrogation techniques would be trying to locate and inter-
view and become involved with experienced police interrogators in
the countryv and experienced }w()p]o who had real practical knowledge
of interrogation. The reason for this is that we had become pretty well
convinced after the experience of the hrainwashing problems coming
out of China, that it was the techniques of the interrogator= that were
cavnsing the individuals to make confes<ions and <o forth in relationship
to thi~. rather than any kind of drugging and so forth. So we were
. very much interested in interrogation teehniques, and this led to me
: being introduced to the agent in the west coaxt. and I began to talk to
. him in connection with these interrogation technigues,
’ Senator Kexyepy. OK. Now, that is the agent that ran the tests
: on the west coaxt on the unwitting people. That's where vou come in,
correct ? .
Mr. Gitrixeer. If T understand—would vou say that again?
Senator Kexxnvy. The name Morgan Hall has been—that is the
—cy nate that has been used.
' Mr. GrrTINGER. Yes.

Senator Kexxeny. And that is the agent that vou met with.

Mr. Gitrixgen. That is right.

Senator Kexxeny. And vou met at the safe honse,

Mr. GiTringER. Yes, sir,

Senator Kxsepy. Whom did yon meet with in the safe house ?

Mr. Grrrineer. This 1= the part that is hard for me tosay. and T am
corry that T have to. In connection with some work that we were
deing, we needed to have some information on sexual habits, Morgan
Hall provided informants for me to talk to in connection with the sex
habits that T was interested in trying to find information. During one

' period of time the safe house, as far ax T was cancerned. was used for
. just these particular type of interviews, And T didn’t see the red
curtains,

Scnator Kexxepy., Those were prostitutes, were they?

” Mr. GiTringer. Yes, sir.

Senator Krsxeny, Jow many different times were you there that
vou had similar

Mr. Girrineer. 1 conldn’t possibly sav with any certainty on that.
Four or five times,

Senator Kexxeny, Four or five times.

Al Girrivern, Over——yvou remember now. the period that I'm talk-
ing about when 1 would have any involvement In this is from, about
1956 16 1961, S it's about a 4- or 5-vear period whieh is the only time
that 1 know anvtliing about what vou are talking about here today.

Senator Kexseove Did Morgan Hall make the arrangements for
the prostitutes to meet with vou?

Mr. Girmixarr. Yes, sir,

Senator Kexxeny. Did the interviews that vou had have anything to
do with drugs?

Mr. Grrrinoer. Welll as T tried to explain earlier when this was
boing disenssed o Tittle hit beforehand. again T think it is pretty hard
for most people now to reengnize how little there was known about
drugs at the period of time that we are talking about, because the
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drug age or the drug culture comes later on. Consequently, those of
us who had any responsibility i this area were interested in trving to
get as much information as we could on the snbeulture, the subculture
drug group~. and obviondy the Burcan of Narcotics represented a
means of doing thi=, Consequently, other tvpes of things that were
mvolved in disenssions at that time would have to do with the under-
ground usc of drugs, When 1 am talking abont thix I mmn talking about
the folkways in terns of unwitting ns¢ of drug~. Did these people that
T was talking 1o have any information about this and on mre instances
they were able to tell me about their use, and in most cases this would
Iargely turn ont to be a Mickey Finn or something of that sort rather
than anything esoterie,

I also was very mneh interested beenuse we had relatively little
infornmtion, helieve 10 or not. at that time, in terms of the various
reactions that people were having to drug-, Therefore, these people
were very infornmtive in termes of they knew a great deal of informa-
tion about reactions,

Semator Kexxeny, At least you gathered—or am T correct in assum-
ing that vou gathered the impres=ion that the prostitutes that you had
talked to were able to slip the drng= to people as I understand it. Did
you forny any impression on tha ¢

Mi. Gyrmizern. T eertainly did not form the impression that they
did thisaxarnleor- —

Senator Kexxeoy. But they had the knowledge,

Mr. Girnixaer. They had the knowledge or some of them had had
knowledge of this being done. But again, as it turned out. it was largely
in thix arca of knockout drop=.

Senator Kexyeoy. Looking back now did you form any impression
about how the Agency was actually testing the broad <pectrum of social
classes in these =afe house={ With the large disbursal of cash n
small quantities, £106 hilis and the kinds of elaborate decorations and
two-way mirror= in the hedroons and all the vest, i there any gquestion
in yvour own mind what was going on in the =afe houses, or the tech-
nigues that were being nsed to adhminister these drugs?

M. Grrnxar Ttind it very difieulr to answer that question. sir. 1
had ab=olutely: no direet knowledge there was a large number of this. 1
had no knowledge that anvone other than—than Morgan Hall was in
any way invalved in the unwitting administration of drugs.

Senator Kesyeoy, But Gottlich would know. would he not ¢

Mr. Grrrizaen, 1 helieve so, ves sir,

Senator Kexxeny, Could we go into the Human Ecology Founda-
tion mnd talk about that and how it was used as an Instrument in terms
of the support of research?

Mr. Gitrixerr Yes, sy,

Senator Kexxeny. Conld von deseribe it 1o ng? Coulil you deseribe
the Thuman Ecology Foundation. how it functioned and how it worked ?

Mr. Gitrivaer. May 1 tell something abont how it evolved, which I
think i~ impenrtant ?

Senatar Kexxeny, Sure.

Mr. Grrriveer, The Roeiety for the Investization of Human Feol-
ogv. so-ealled. was actually a—1 am confused here now as to whether
1 <hould name you names,
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Senator Kexxepy. Well, we're not interested in names or institu-
tions, so we prefer that you do not. That has to be worked out in
arrangements between Admiral Turner and the individuals and the
institutions.

But we're interested in what the Foundation really was and how it
functioned and what its purpose was.

Alr. (iR, Well, it was estabilished to undertake research in the
general area of the behavioral sciences. It definitely had almost no
focus «r inferest in, say. drug-related type of activities except in a very
minor wav. becanse it was largely set up to attempt to gain a certain
aimount of information and 1o fund projects which were psychiological,
sociological. anthropological in character. It was established in the
sen=e of a period of time that a Jot of u- who are in it wish we eould
do it ever again. but we were interested in trying to get together a panel
of the most representative high-level behavioral scientists we could to
oversee and hol]p in terms of developing the Society for the Investiga-
tion of Human Ecology type of progran,

The Agency in effect provided the money. They did not direct the
projects. Now, the fact of the matter is. there are & Jot of innocent peo-
ple who received the Society for the Investigation of Human Ecology
money which I know for a fact they were never asked to do anything
for the CIA but they did get through this indirectly. They had no
knowledge that they were getting CIA money.

Senator Kexxeny. Over what period of time did this take place?

Mr. Gitringer. As far as T was concerned. it was the period of time
ending in 1961. T believe the Human Ecology fund finally phased out
in 1965. but I was not involved in this phasing out.

Senator Kex~xeny. Can vou give the range of the different sort of
individual projects of the universities in which it was active?

Mr. Garringer. Well, it would have as many as—I am very fuzzy
on my memory on the number of projects, It is over 10, 20. 30.

Senator KExxepy, After it made the grants. what was the relation-
ship of the Agency with the results of the studies? The Foundation
acquired the money to make the grants from the Agency, and then it
made the grants to these various research programs.

Mr. Grrringer. Yes. sir.

Senator KExxeny. And that included eight universities as well as
individual researchers?

Mr. Girrixcer. Yes. sir.

Senator Kexxeny. Then what follow-up was there to that, sir?

Mr. Girringrr, Welll in every sense of the word. the organiZation
was run exactly like any other foundation. and it carried with it the
same thing in termes of making certain that the people that thev had
given money to used it for the purpose for which it had been granted,
that thexy had access to any of the reports that thev had put ont. but
there were no strings attached to anvbody. There wasn’t any reason
they eonldr’t publish anvthine that they put ont,

Senator Kexyreny. What sort of budeet are we talking about heret

Mr. Grrrixgrr. T honestly do not remember. T would cuess we are
talking in the realm of about £150.000 a vear. but don’t hold me to that.
becanse T don’t know.
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Senator KexNepY. What is vour view about such funding as a pro-
fessiona; person, in terms of compromising the integrity of a univer-
sity. sir?

Mr. Girringer. Well. obviously. sir. insofar as today there is no
question about it. T will have to say at the time that we were doing this
there was quite an entirely different kind of an attitude. and T do
know for a fact that we moved to start towards phasing out the So-
ciety for the Investigation of Human Ecology and the Human Ecol-
oy Fund for the very reason that we were beginning to recognize that
it was moving into an area but this would be compromised.

Senator Kexxrpy., Well. that is eommendable. both vour attitude
and the reasons for it, but during that period of time it still was in-
volved in behavior rescarch programs, as T understand it.

Mr. Gitrixger. Yes, sir. On its own. in connection with this, it
participated again. and these again were not CTA-directed projects.
but these were all things which would theoreticallv contribute to the
reneral knowledge at the time where the things like the study of the
Hungarian refugees—obviously, the study of the Hungarian refugees
who eame to this country after the Hungarian revolt was a very use-
ful exercise to try to eet information about the personality character-
istics of the Communists and =o forth.

Senator Kexxrepy. Were there other foundations that were doing
similar kindz of work?

Mr. Grrmixaer. Not to mv knowledge. sir.

Senator Kex~Neny. You helieve

M Grrrixeer. You mean. CTA, other CTA?

Senator Kexxrny. Right,

Mr. Gitringrr. Well. my answer i in the sense that T know of no
other CTA foundations, no. There were, of course. other foundations
doing similar kinds of work in the United States.

Senator Kexxeny, Have vou heard of the Psvehological Assess-
ments Foundation?

Mr. Grrmixarr, T certainly have.

Senator Kexxepy, What was that ? What function did that have?

Mr. Gitrivaer. Now, this was bringine us up to a different era. I
believe the functions of that ereanization have nothing whatcoever
to do with the things that are being talked about here while T was
associated with it.

Senator Kexyeny. Rather than getting into the work. it was another
foundation. was it not ? It was another foundation supported by the
Ageney?

Mr. Gitrivarr. What, the Psvchological Assessment ?

Senator Krxxeny, Yes,

Mr. Gitriveer. No. =i, it was not,

Scnator Kexxeny. Tt did not get any support at all from the
Ageney?

Mr. Girrixarr. Oh, ves, sir. Tt did get support. but it was a business
firm.

Senator KExxeny. It was a business but it got support from the
Acencv?

Mr. Girrixger. Tt got money from it. bnt it definitely was not in
MKULTRA or in any way associated with this.
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Senator Kexxeny, All right. T want to thank you for your helpful
testimonyv. Mr. Gittinger. It is not eaxv to go back into the past. I
think vou have been very fair in vour characterizations, and I think
it is quite appropriately indicated that there are different standards
now from what they were 25 vearsago. and I think vou have responded
very fairly and completely to the inquiries, and I think with a good
deal of feeling about it.

You are a person who is obviouslyv attempting to serve the country’s
interest. so T want to thank yon very much for your statement and
for vour helpful timeliness,

Mr. Gyrmixees. Thank vou, sir.

Senator Inovye. Senator Case?

Senator Caske. Thank vou. Mr. Chairman. T am sorry that T had
another committee that I had to complete the hearing with this morn-
ing before T got here.

I shall read the testimony with very great intcrest, and I appreci-
ate yvour testimony as 1 have heard it. I would like to comment just on
one point, and that is. it relates to a story in the press yesterday about
part of this program involving the funding of a grant at a foreign
university, T would like to elicit from vou a comment as to the addi-
tional sensitivity and difficulty that that practice involves from your
standpoint as a scientist, as well as a citizen. if vou will.

Mr. Grrmixeer. 1 will say it was after the fact thinking. It was utter
stupidity the way things worked out to have used some of this money
outside the United States when it was CIA money. T can categorically
state to my knowledge and 1 don’t claim a complete knowledge all the
way across of the human ecology funetions, but to my knowledge. and
this ix unfortunate, those people did not know that they were getting
money from CLA. and they were not asked to contribute anything to
CIA as such,

Senator Cask. Tt wounld he interesting to try to examine this by turn-
ing the thing around and thinking what we would think if this hap-
pened from a foreign official ageney to our own university. Thank vou,
Mre. Chairman, ' T

Senator Ivovyr. Senator Schweiker.,

Senator Scnwriker. Thank you. Mr. Chairman.

Dr. Goldman. T wonder if vou would tell us what vour trainine and
educational background is?’ ) R

Dr. Gapxax. T have already given a biography for the record.

Senator Scnweiker. 1 have not <een it. Who has it 2 1< it classified ?
We may have it for the record. but may T ask vou to briefly describe
vour training and hackground for ns now? I hope it is no seeret.

Dr. Gorpyax, Well. T was told if T was asked this to sav that. T was
told that by vour stafl people. but T have no objection to telling vou.
I am a_resident from Pennsylvania. southwest Pennsvlvania, Lan-
caster County. T went to Penn State. and T am in nutrition.

Senator Scnweiker. In what ?

Dr. Gonyvax. Nutrition.

Senator Scnwrrker. Were you in charge of a section or segment of
the CLA in your past capacity?

. Dr. Goroyax. During the time T was with that organization, T was
in charge of one small section of it. one small segment of it; yes.

Ge gl Gy L omm g
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Senator ScHwEIkER. What was the function or purpose of that sec-
tion that yvou headed !

Dr. Gopyas. To provide support for the other parts of the division.

Senator Scnwrikkr. Where in the chain of command woukd that put
vou in relation to Ihr, Gottlieh?
: Dr. Gorpyax, Pretty far down the line,
) Senator Senwriker. Mr Gittineer, 1T would just like to ask you a
few questions, We appreciate vour frankness and candor with the com-
mittee, and we realize this ix a very diflicult area to go into. I am not

2 quite clear on fwo matters that were raized earlier. First, were the safe
houses we were talking about here used on occasion by the prostitutes
# vou referred to? *

Mr. Gyrrixaek. I really have not the slightest idea.
Senator Senweniek. Were the prostitutes used in any way to slip
the enstomers drugs for obscrvation purpnses?

Mr. GitTrixges. Not to my direct knowledge.

3 Senator Senwrikrr. Would you have been in a position to know the
- answer to either of these questions?

Mr. Grrnsecer, Maxy T sav, probably not. and may 1 make an aside
to explain a little bit of this, please. sir?

Senator Scuwerker. Mr. Gittinger. a moment ago vou mentioned
brainwashing techniques, as one area that you had. I guess. done some
work m. How wonld you characterize the state of the art of brain-
washing taday ? Who has the most expertize in this field. and who is
or iz not doing it in terms of other governments?

During the Korean war there was a lot of serious discussion about

: brainwashing techniques being used by the North Koreans, and T am
' iterested in finding ont what the state of the art is today. as vou see it.
. Mr. Girriseri Welll of conrse. there has been a great deal of work
» on thi~ and there is <till a great deal of controversy, I can tell vou that

ax far as T knew, hy 1961, 1962, it was at Jeast proven to my satis-
faction that Lhrainwashing., o called. is some kind of an esoteric device
where drne= or mind-altering kinds of conditions and so forth were
used. did not exist even though “The Manchurian Candidate™ as a
movie really set u~ back a long time, beeanse it made something im-
possible Jook plansible. Do yvou follow what T mean? But by 1962 and
1963, the general idea that we were able to come up with is that brain-
wihing waxs Inrgely a process of isolating a human heing. keeping
him out of contact. putting him under long stress in relationship to
interviewing and interrogation, and that they could produce any
change that way without having to resort to any Kind of esoterig
Means, *

Senator Senwreiker. Ave there wavs that we ean ascertain this from
a distance when we see a captive prisoner either go on television. in
a photograph. or at a press eonference? In other words. are there cer-
tain signs that you have learned to recogmize from vour technical
hackgrround, to tell when brainwashing has occurred? Or is that very
diffienlt todo?

Mr. Grrrinerr, Tt s diflienlt 1o de. T think it is posible now in terms
of looking at a picture of somebody who has been in enemy hands for
a long period of time. We ean get some pretty good ideas of what kind
of circunistances he has been under. if that is what vou mean.
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Senator Scuwelker. That is all T have. Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Senator Inotvye. Thank yvou verv much.

Before adjourning the hearings. I would like to have the record
show that Dr. Goldman and Mr. Gittinger have voluntarily cooperated
with the committee in staff interviews. that they appear this morning
voluntarily, and they are not under subpena,

Gentlemen. I reahze that this experience may have been an unhappy
one and possibly a painful ene. Therefore. we thank yvou very much
for participating this morning. We also realize that the circumstances
of that time differed very much from this day, and possibly the na-
tional attitude, the national political attitude condoned this tvpe of
activity. So, we have not asked you to come here as persons who have
committed crimes. but rather in hope that vou can assist us in studving
this problem so that it will not occur once again. In that spirit we
thank you for your participation. and we look forward to working
with vou further in this case.

Thank you very much.

Senator Kex~xepy. Mr. Chairman. T would like also to thank the
wime;seis. The=e are difficult matters. and I think all of us are very

atetul.
grSmmmr Scuweiker. T think the witnesses should know that though
it may not always= scem that wayv. what we are trving to do is to probe
the past and look at the policies of the past to affect the future. I think
our emphasis really iz on the future. not the past. but it is important
that we Jearn from the past as we formulate policies and legislation
for the future, T hope that all of the witnesses wha did come before us
voluntariiy this morning. including Admiral Turner respect the fact
that we are guestioning the past to learn about the future. I think it
should be Jooked at in that hight.

Senator Kexxepy, T think that is the spirit in which we have had
these hearings. It scems to me that fron both these witnesses and
others. Gottlieb knows the information and can best respond. and we
are going to make every effort in the Senate Health Committee to get
Mr. Gottlieb to appear. and we obviously look forward to cooperating
with Senator Inouve and the other members of the committee in get-
ting the final chapter written on this. but we want to thank you very
mch for vour appearance here,

Senator INovyr. The hearing will stand in recess, subject to the call
of the Chair.

[Whereupon. at 12:12 p.m.. the hearing was recessed. subject to the
call of the Chair.]




APPENDIX A

XVIL. TESTING AND USE OF CHEMICAL AND BIOLOGI-
CAL AGENTS BY THE INTELLIGENCE COMMUNITY

Under its mandate * the Select Committee has studied the testing and
use of chiemical and biological agents by intelligence agencices. Detailed
descriptions of the programs conducted by intelligence agencies in-
volving chemical and biological agents will be included in a separately
publishied appendix to the Senate Select Committee’s report. ‘This sec-
tion of the report will discuss the rationale for the programs, their
monitoring and control, and what the Committee’s investigation has
revealed about the relationships among the intelligence agencies and
about their relations with other government agencies and private in-
stitutions and individuals.?

Fears that countries hostile to the United States would use chemi-
cal and biological agents against Americans or America’s allies led
to the development of a defensive program designed to discover tech-
niques for American intelligence agencies to detect and counteract
chemical and biological agents. The defensive orientation soon became
secondary as the possible use of these agents to obtain information
from, or gain control over, enemy agents became apparent.

Research and development programs to find materials which could
be used to alter human behiavior were initiated in the late 1940s and
early 1950s. These experimental programs originally included testing
of drugs involving witting human subjects. and culminated in tests
using unwitting. nonvolunteer human subjects. These tests wcre de-
signed to determine the potential effects of chemical or biological
agents when used operationally against individuals unaware that they
had received a drug.

The testiug programs were considered highly sensitive by the in-
telligence agencies administering them. Few people. even within the
agencies, knew of the programs and there is no evidence that either
the exsecutive branch or Congress were ever informed of them. The
highly compartmented nature of these programs may be explained in
part by an observation made by the C1A Inspector General that, “the
knowledge that the Agency is engaging in unethical and illicit activi-

1 genate Resolution 21 directs the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence
Activities to investigate a number of issues:

“(2) Whether agencies within the intelligence commupity conducted illegal
domestic activities (Section 2(1) and (2)) :

“(b\ The extent to which agencies within the intelligence community cooper-
ate (Section 2(4) and (8));

#(c) The adequacy of executive branch and congressional oversight of intel-
ligence activities {Section 2(7) and (11))

“(d) The adequacy of existing laws to safeguard the rights of American cit-
zens (Section 2(13))."

*The details of these programs may never bhe known. The programs were highly
compartmented. Few records were kept. What little documentation existed for
the CIA's principal program was destroyed early in 1973.

(385)
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ties would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic circles
and would be detrimental to the accomplishment of its missions.” 3

The research and development program, and particularly the co-
vert testing programs, resulted in mas::ve abridgments of the rights
of American citizens, sometimes with tr.aric consequences. The deaths
of two Amiericans ** can be attributed to these progranis; other partici-
pants in the testing programs may still sutfer from the residual ef-
fects. While some controlled testing of these substances might be de-
fended, the nature of the tests, their scale, and the fact that they were
continued for years after the danger of surreptitious administration
of L3D to unwitting individuals was known, demonstrate a funda-
mental disregard for the value of human life.

The Select Committee's investigation of the testing and use of chem-
ical and biological agents also raise serious questions about the ade-
quacy of command and control procedures within the Central Intelli-
gence Agency and military intelligence, and about the relationships
among the intelligence agencies, other governmental agencies, and
private institutions and individuals. The CIA’s normal administrative
controls were waived for programs involving chemical and biological
agents to protect. their security. According to the head of the Audit
Branch <1 the (1A, these waivers produced “gross administrative
failures.” They pri (nted the CIA's internal review mechanisms (the
Oflice of General Cuiasel. the Inspector General. and the Audit Staff)
from adequately supervising the programs. In general. the waivers had
the paradoxical effect of providing less restrictive administrative con-
trols and less effective internal review for controversial and highly
sensitive projects than those governing normal Agerniey activities.

The securny of the programs was protected not only by waivers
of normal administrative controls, but also by a high degree of com-
partmentation within the CIA. This compartmentation excluded the
CI.A’s Medical Staff from the principal research and testing program
emploving chemical and biological agents.

It also may have led to agency policymakers receiving differing
and incensistent responses when they posed questions to the CIA
component involved.

Jurisdictional uncertainty within the CIA was matched by juris-
dictional conflict among the various intellicence agencies. A spirit of
cooperation and reciprocal exchanges of information which initially
charucterized the programs disappeared. Military testers withheld in-
formation from the ClA. ignoring sugeestions for coordination from
their superiors. The CIA similarly failed to provide information to
the military on the CIA's testing program. This failure to cooperate
was conspicuously manifested in an attempt by the Army to conceal

1 CIA Inspector Geperal's Survey of TSD, 1857, p. 217.

B On Janwry S 1003 Mr Harold Biaver died of circulatory collapse and heart
failnre following aAn intravenous injection of a synthetic mescaline derivative
while a subject of tests ronducted by New Ynrk State Parchiatric Institure under
a contract let hy the U.8 Armys Chemical Corps. The Committee's investigation
into drug tecting by U.S. intellizence agencies focnsed on the testing of LED, how-
ever, the committee did receive 8 copy of the U.R. Arwy Inspector General's
Report. issued on Octnber 1975, ob the events apd circumstances of Mr. Blaver's
death. His death was directly atributable to the administration of the syntbetic

mex=caline derivative.
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their overseas testing program. which included surreptitious admin-
istration of LSD, from the CI1A. Learning of the Army’s program,
: the Ageucy surreptitiously attempted to obtain details of it.

! The=lecision to institute one of the Army’s LSD field testing projects
had been based, at least in part, on the finding that no long-term resid-
ual eflects had ever resuﬁod from the drug’s administration. The

N CIA’s failure to inform the Army of a death which resulted from the
. surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting Americans, may well
# have resulted in the institution of an unnecessary and potentially lethal
' program.

e development, testing, and use of ch. *nical and biological agents
by intelligence agencies raises serious questions about the relationship
between the intelligence community and foreign governments, other
agencies of the Federal Government, and other institutions and in-
dividuals. The questions raised range from the legitimacy of American
complicity in actions abroad which vielate American and foreign laws
to the possible compromise of the integrity of public and private insti-
tutions used as cover by intelligence agencies.

vl -

T

A. Tae ProcradMs INVESTICATED

1. Project CHATTER

Project CHATTER was a Navy program that began in the fall of
1947. Responding to reports of “amazing results™ achieved by the
- Soviets in using truth drugs.” the program focused on the identifica-
g tion and tcaring of. such drugs for use in interrogations and in the
. recruitmen~of agents. The research included laboratory experiments
on animals and hum | subjects involving Analasis aphylla. scopola-
mine. and mescaline i:. order to determine their speech-inducing quali-

“ ties. Overseas experiments were conducted as part of the project.
The project expanded substantially during the Korean War, and

ended shortly after the war, in 1933.

9. Project BLUEBIRD/ARTICHOKE

The "earliest of the CIA’s major programs involving the use of
chemical and biological agents. Project BLUEBIRD, was approved by
the Director in 1950. Its objectives were:

i {a) discovering means of conditioning personnel to prevent
unauthorized extraction of information from them by known
means. (b) investigating the possibility of control of an in-
dividual by application of special interrogation techniques,
(c) memory enhancement. and (d) establishing defensive
means for preventing hostile control of Agency personnel.t

As a result of interrogations conducted overseas during the project.
arnther goal was added—the evaluation of offensive uses of unconven-
tional interrogation techiniques, including hypnosis and drugs. In
*August 1951, the project was renamed ARTICHOQKE. Project ARTI-
CHOKE included in-house experiments on interrogation techniques,
conducted “under medical and security controls which would ensure

0/‘ ClA memorandum to the Select Committee, “Bebavioral Drugs and Testing,”
2/11/75.
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that no damage was done to individuals who volunteer for the experi-
ments.”* Overseas interrogations utilizing a combination of sodium
pentothal and hypnosis after physical and psychiatric examinations of
the subjects were also part of ARTICHOKE.

The Office of Scientific Intelligence (OS1). which studied scientific
advances by hostile powers. initiallv led BLUEBIRD/ARTICHOKE
efforts. In 1952, overall responsibility for ARTICHOKE was trans-
ferred from OS] to the Inspection and Security Office (1&S0), pre-
decessor 1o the present Office of Security. The CIA's Technical Serv-
jees and Medival Siafls were to be called upon as needed: OSI would
retain liaison function with other government agencies.®* The change
in leadership from an intelligence unit to an operating unit appar-
ently reflected & change in emphasis; from the study of actions by
hostile powers to the use, both for offensive and defensive purposes,
of spemial interrogation techniques—primarily hypnosis and truth
Serumes,

Representatives from each Agency unit involved in ARTICHOKE
met almost monthly to discuss their progress. These discussions in-
cluded the planming of overseas interrogations® as well as further
experimentation in the UK,

Information about project ARTICHOKE after the fall of 1953
1s scarce. The CLA maintains that the project ended in 1936, but evi-
dence sugrest~ that Office of Security and Office of Medical Services
use of “special interrogation™ techniques continued for several years
thereafter.

3. MKNANM]

MENAOMI was another major CIA prorram in this area. In 1967,
the CIA summarized the purposes of MKNAOMI:

(8) To provide for a covert support base to meet clandes-
tine operational requirements.

(b) To stockpile severely incapacitating and lethal ma-
te_rjals] for the specific use of TSD [Technical Services Di-
vision}.

(¢) To maintain in operational readiness special and unique
item§ for the dissemination of biological and chemical ma-
terials. ' .

(d) To provide for the required surveillance. testing. up-
grading. and evaluation of materials and items in order to
assure absence of defects and complete predictability of re-
sults to be expected under operational conditions.?

TUnder an acreement reached with the Army in 1952, the Special
Operations Division (SOD)} at Fort Detrick was to assist CIA in
developing, testing, and maintaining biological agents and delivery

$ Memarandnm from Robert Tavlor, O/DD/P to the Assistant Deputy (In-
spertion apd Security ) and Chisf of the Medicol Stafy, 3722752,

* Memorandom from H. Marchell Chodwell, Assistant Director. Scientific Intel-
ligence. to the Deputs Director/Planc (DD “Protect ARTICHOKE," 8/29/52.

! “Progress Report, Project ARTICHOKFE.” 1/12/53.

* Memnrandnm from Chief. TSD/Binlagical Rraneh to Chief. TSD “MRNAOMI:
Funding. Obisctives, snd Accomnlichmente ” 10/18/67. n. 1. For a fuller deserip-
tion of MKNAOMI and the relationship betweep CIA and SOD. see p. 360 ff.

*
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systems. By this agreement, CIA acquired the knowledge, skill, and
facilities of the Army to develop biological weapons suited for CIA

use.

SOD developed darts coated with biological agents and pills con-
taining several dit’~rent biological agents which could remain potent
for weeks or montiis. SOD also developed a special gun for firing
darts coated with a chemical which could allow CIA agentsto incapaci-
tate a guard dog, enter an installation secretly, and return the dog to
consciousness when leaving. SOD scientists were unable to develop
a similar incapacitant for humans. SOD also physically transferred
to CIA personncl biological agents in “bulk™ form, and delivery
devices. including some containing biological agents.

In addition to the CIA's interest in biological weapons for use
against humans, it also asked SOD to study use of biological agents
against crops and animals. In its 1967 memorandum. the CIA stated:

Three methods and systems for carrying out a covert attack
against crops and causing severe crop loss have been devel-
oped and evaluated under field conditions. This was accom-

ished in anticipation of a requirement which was later
developed but was subsequently scrubbed just prior to put-
ting into action.®

« MKNAOMI was terminated in 1970. On November 25. 1969, Presi-
Jdent Nixon renounced the use of any form of biological weapons that
kill or incapacitate and ordered the dispos=al of existing stocks of bac-
teriological weapons. On February 14. 1970, the President elarified the
extent of his eatlier order and indicated that toxins—chemicals that
are not living organisms but are produced by living organisms—were
considered biological weapons subject to his previous directive and
were to be destroyed. Although instructed to relinquish control of
material held for the CIA by SOD. a CIA scientist acquired approxi-
mately 11 grams of shellfish toxin from SOD personnel at Fort De-
trick which were stored in a little-used CI1.A laboratory where it went
undetected for five years.!

4 MRKULTRA

MKTULTRA was the principal CIA program involving the research
and development of chemical and biological agents. Tt was “con-
cerned with the researel and development of chemical. biologicalsand
radiological materials capable of employment in clandestine oper-
ations to control human behavior,™ 1

In January 1073, MKULTR.A records were destroved by Technical
Services Division personnel acting on the verbal orders of Dr. Sidney
Gottlieb. Chief of TSD. Dr. Gottlieh has testified. and former Direc-
tor Helms has confirmed. that in orderine the records destroved. Dr.
Gottlieh was carrying out the verbal order of then DCI Helms.

MKULTRA began with a proposal from the Assistant Deputy
Director for Plans. Richard Helns, to the DCI. outlining a special

™ Ibid. p. 2.
¥ SKenate Select Committee, 8/16/75, Hearings, Vo. 1.
¥ Memorandum from the ClA Inspector General to the Director, 7/26/63.
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fur. ling mechanism for highly sensitive CIA rescarch and develop-
ment projects that studied the use of biological and chemical materials
in altering human behavior. The projects involved :

Research to develop a capability in the covert use of bio-
logical and chemical materials. This aiva involves the produc-
tion of various physiologieal conditions which could support
present or future clandestine operations. Aside from the of-
fensive potential. the development of a comprehensive capa-
bility in this field of covert chemical and biological warfare
gives us a thorongh knowledge of the enemy's theoretical
potential. thus enabling us to defend ourselves against a foe
who might not be as restrained in the use of these tech-
niques as we are.’?

MKULTRA was approved by the DCI on April 13, 1953 along the
lines proposed by ADDTP Helms,

Part of the rationale for the establishment of this special fund-
Ing mechanizm was its extreme sensitivity. The Inspector General's
survey of MKTULTR.A in 1963 noted the following reasons for this
SCNSHIVHY )

a. L-eareli 1. the manipulation of human behavior is con-
sidered by ma | anthorities in medicine and related fields
to e "professio: v uncthical. thercfore the reputation of
professional participants in the MKULTRA program are on
orecasion in jeopardy, ,

b Some MRULTRA activities raise questions of legality
inplicit in the original eharter,

ce. A final phase of the testing of MKTULTRA products
places the rights and interests of U.8. citizens in jeopardy.

d. Public disclosure of some aspects of MKULTRA activ-
ity could induce serious adver-e reaction in U.S. public
opinion. as well as stimnlate offensive and defensive action
in this ficld on the part of foreimm intelligence services,1?

Over the ten-vear 1ife of the program. many “additional avenues to
the control of Lhuman hehavior™ were designated as appropriate for
investization nnder the MKULTRA charter. These include “radiation.
electroshack, various fields of psvehology, psyehiatry, sociology, and
anthropoloeyv, graphology, harassment substances. and paramilitary
deviees and materinls*

The mweearel; and development of materials to be used for altering

“human behavior consisted of three phases: first. the search for ma-

terials suitable for studv: second. Iaboratory testing on voluntary
human subicets in varions tvpes of institutions; third. the application
of MKULTRA materials in normal life sottines,

The searel for wnitable materials was eonducted throush standing
arran@enients with snecialists in universities. pharmaceutieal houses,
hospitals. state and federal institutions. and private research organi-

:.\lr'mnr:mdnm from ADDP Helms to DCI Dulles, 4/3/53, Tab A, pp. 1-2.
" }b‘:_-dnﬂr;ﬂrt on MKTULTRA, 1963, pp. 1-2.
.p.4
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zations. The annual grants of funds to these specialists were made
under ostensible research foundation auspices. thereby concealing the
CIA’s interest from the specialist’s institution.

The next phase of the MKULTRA program involved physicians,
toxicologists, and other specialists in mental, narcotics, and general
hospitals. and in prisons. Utilizing the products and findings of the
basie research phase. they conducted intensive tests on human subjects.

One of the first studies was conducted by the National Institute of
Mental Health. This studv was intended to tes* varions drugs. includ-
ing hallucinogenics, at the NIMII Addiction Research Center in Lex-
ington. Kentucky. The “Lexington Rehabilitation Center,” as it. was
then called, was a prison for druyr addicts serving sentences for drug
violations,

The test cubjects were volunteer prisoners who, after taking a brief
physical examination and signing a general consent form. were admin-
1istered hallueinogenic drugs. As a reward for participation in the
prozram. the addiets were provided with the drue of their addiction.

LSI was one of the materials tested in the MKULTRA program.
The final phase of LSD testing involved surreptitious administration
to unwitting nonvolunteer subjects in normal life settings hy under-
cover oflicers of the Burean of Narcotics acting for the CIA.

The rationale for such testing was “that testing of materials under
accepted scientific procedures fails to disclose the full pattern of reac-
tions and attributions that mav oecur in operational situations.”

Accordine to the CLAL the advantage of the relationship with the
Bureau was that

test subjects could be songht and cultivated within the setting
of narcotics control. Some subjects have been informers or
members of suspect criminal elements from whom the [Bu-
reat of Nurvcatiea] has obtained resvlts of anerational value
througli the tests. Gu the other hand. the effcctireness of the
sulixtiarces on indiriduals at all gocial ICI‘(’.G. ,l('_ﬂﬁ and 701(‘.
native Amorican and forcign, is of great siguificance and
testivg has boon porformed oo a varicty of individuals within
these categorics. | Emphasis added.] 6

A special procedure. desiomated MKDELTA. was established to
govern the nse of MNULTRA materials abroad. Snel materials were
used on a number of oceasions, Beeanse MKULTRA records were
destroved. it is impossible to reconstruct the operational use of
MRULTRA materials by the CIA overzeas: it has heen determined
that the use of these materials abroad began in 1953, and possibly as
earlyv as 1950,

Drnes were used primarilv as an aid to interrogations. but
MKULTRA 'MKDELTA materials were also used for harassment.
diserediting. or disabling purposes. Aecording to an Inspector General
Survev of the Technieal Services Division of the CTA in 1957—an
ingpection which did not diseaver the MKULTR A project involving
the surreptitions administration of LLSD to unwitting. nonvolunteer

B Ihid, p. 21.

* Ivid., pp. 11-12.
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subjects—the CIA had developed six drugs for operational use and
they had been used in six different operations on a total of thirty-three
subjects.”” By 1963 the number of operations and subjects had in-
creased substantially.

In the spring of 1963, during a wide-ranging Inspector General
survey of the Technical Services Division. a member of the Inspector
General's staff, John Vance, learned about MKULTRA and about
the project involving the surreptitious administration of L.SD to un-
witting, nonvoluntary human subjects. As a result of the discovery
and the Inspector General's subsequent report, this testing was halted
and much tighter administrative controls were imposed on the pro-
gram. According to the CIA, the project was decreased significantly
each budget year until its complete termination in the late 1960s.

5. The Testing of LSD by the Army

There were three major phases in the Army’s testing of LSD. In the
first. LS was administered to more than 1,000 American soldiers who
voluntecred to be subjects in chemical warfare experiments. In the
second phase, Material Testing Program EA 1729, 95 volunteers re-
ceived ESD in clinical experiments designed to evaluate potential
intelligence uses of the drug. In the third phase, Projects THIRD
CHANCE and DERBY HAT. 16 unwitting nonvolunteer subjects
were interrogated after receiving LSD as part of operational field

tests.
B. C1A Druc Testing Procrayms

1.The Rationalc for the Testing Programs

The late 1940s and early 1930s were marked by concern over
the threat posed by the activities of the Soviet Union, the People's
Republic of China.and other Communist bloc countries. United States
concern over the use of chemical and biological agents by these powers
was acute. The belief that hostile powers had used chemical and bio-
logical agents in interrogations. brainwashing, and in attacks designed
to harass, disable. or kill Allied personnel created considerable pres-
sure for a “defensive” program to investigate chemical and biological
agents so that the intelligence community could understand the mech-
anisms by which these substances worked and how their effects could
be defeated.’®

Of particular concern was the drug LSD. The CIA had received
reports that the Soviet Union was engaged in intensive efforts to pro-
duce LSD: and that the Soviet Union had attempted to purchase the
world's supply of the chemical. As one CIA officer who was deeply
involved in work with this drug described the climate of the times:
“[Tt] isawfully hard in this day and age to reproduce how frightening
all of this was to us at the time. particularly after the drug scene has
become as widespread and as knowledgeable in this country as it did.
But we were literally terrified, because this was the one material that we

" Ibid, 1957, p. 201.

" PlLus an officer in the Office of Security of the CIA stressi-i the “urgency of
the discovery of techniques and methad that would permit our personnel, in the
event of their capture by the enemy. to resist or defeal enemy interrogation.™
{Minutes of the ARTICHOKE conference of 10,22,33.)

= A
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had ever been able to locate that really had potential fantastic possi-
bilities if used wrongly.™ 19

But the defensive orientation soon became secondary. Chemical and
biological agents were to be studied in order “to perfect techniques . , .
for the abstraction of information from individuals whether willing or
not™ and in order to “develop means for the control of the activitiesand
mental capacities of individuals whether willing or not.” 2 One
Agency official noted that drugs would be useful in order to ‘“gain con-
trol of bodies whether they were willing or not” in the process of re-
moving personnel from Europe in the event of a Soviet attack.? In
other programs, the CI.\ began to develop, produce, stockpile, and
maintain in operational readincss materials which could be used to
harass. disable, or kill specific targets,.®

Reports of research and development in the Soviet Union, the Peo-
ple’s Republic of China, and the Communist Bloc countries provided
the basis for the transmutation of American programs from a defen-
sive to an offensive orientation. As the Chief of the Medical Staff of
the Central Intelligence Agency wrote in 1952 :

There is ample evidence in the reports of innumerable inter-
rogations that the Communists were utilizing drugs, physical
duress. electric shock. and possibly hypnosis against their ene-
mies. With such evidence it is diflicult not to keep from be-
coming rabid about our apparent Jaxity. We are forced by this
mounting evidence to assume a more aggressive role in the
development of these techniques, but must be cautious to
maintain strict inviolable control because of the havoc that
coulid be wrought by such techniques in unscrupulous hands.?

In order to meet the perceived threat to the national security, sub-
stantial programs for the testing and use of chemical and biological
agents—including projects involving the surreptitious administra.
tion of I.SD to unwitting nonvolunteer subjects “at all social levels,
high and low, native American and foreirm™—were conceived, and
implemented. These Programs resulted in substantial violations of the
rights of individuals within the United States.

¥ Testimony of C14 officer, 11 /2] p. 33

 Metmorandum fron, the Director of Security to ARTICHOKE represeata-
tives, Kubject - A RTICHOKE Restatement of Program.™

T ARTICHOKE memorandum, 730 53

2 The Inspector Generul's Report of 1957 on the Techuical Services Division
noted that “Rix specitic products have heen developed and are available for oper-
ational use. Thres of thew are discrediting nnd disabling materials which can be
adninistered unwittinugly and pwrmit the exercise of g eisure of contral over the
actions of the Subject.”

A memorandum for the Chief. TSD., Biologieal Rranch to the Chief. TSD.
10/18:67, descrilwd two of the abjectives of the CIA's Project MKNAOMI] as:
“to stockpile severely incapacitating and lethal materials for the specific use of
TED" and “to maintain jn operationual readiness spevial and unique items for
the dissemination of biological and ehemical matersls.”

® Memorandum from the Chief of the Medica Staff, 1/25/32.




74
394

Although the CIA recognized these effects of LD to unwitting in-
dividuals within the United States, the project continued.?* As the
Deputy Director for Plans, Richard Helms, wrote the Deputy Direc-
tor of Centra) Intelligence during discussions which led to the cessa-
tion of unwitting testing:

While I share your unecasiness and distaste for any pro-
gram which tends to intrude upon an individual's private
and legal prerogatives, 1 believe it 1s necessary that the
Agency maintain a central role in this activity, keep current
on enemy capabilities the manipulation of human behavior,
and maintain an offensive capability.®

There were no attemts to secure approval for the most controversial
aspects of these programs from the executive branch or Congress.
The nature and extent of the programs were closely held secrets; even
DCI McCone was not bricfed on all the details of the program in-
volving the surreptitious administration of LSD until 1963. It was
deemed imperative that these programs be concealed from the Ameri-
can people. As the CIA's Inspector General wrote in 1957

Precautions must be taken not only to protect operations
from exposure to enemy forces but also to conceal these ac-
tivities from the American public in general. The knowledge
that the Agceney is engaging in unethical and illicit activities
would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic
circles and would be detrimental to the accomplishment
of it= mission.*™
2.The Death of Dr. Frank (71son

The most tragic resnlt of the testing of LSD by the CTA was the
death of Dr. Frank Olson. a civilian employee of the Army. who died
on November 27, 19533, His death followed his participation in a CIA
experiment with LRI As part of this experiment, Olzon unwittingly
received approximately T0 micrograms of LRI} in a glass of Cointrean
he drank on November' 19, 1952, The drug had been placed in the bottle
by a C1A oflicer. Dr. Robert Lashbrook. as part of an experiment
he and Dr. Sidney Gottlieb performed at a mecting of Army and
CIA scientists,

Shortly after this experiment. Olson exhibited svmptoms of para-
noia and sehizophrenia. Aecompanied by Dr. Lashbrook. Ol-on cought
psvehintrie assistance in New York City from a phyvsician, Dr. Harold
Abramson. whose research on LSD had been funded indirveetly by
the CIA. While in New York for treatment. Olson fell to his death
from a tenth story window in the Statler Hotel,

* Fven during the disrussions which led to the termination of the unwitting
testing. the DDP turned down the option of halting such tests within the U.8.
and continuing them abroad despite the fact that the Technieal Services Divi-
sion had conducted numerons aperations abroad making use of LSO, The DD
niade this decisinn on the basis of security pating that the past efforts overseas
had Fewtibed in tmaking an inerdinate pumber of foreim nationuls witting of
onr rele in the very sensitive activity " Memorandum for the Depuity Director
of Central Intelligence from the Deputy Dhrector for Plans, 12 1765, p. 20

Erwid . opp 208

® 1 Gosarvey of TSI, 10557, p. 217,

- o, MR S st e e e .
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a. Background.—OQlson, an expert in aerobiology who was assigned
to the Special Operations Division (SOD) of the U.S. Army Biolog-
ical Center at Camp Detrick, Maryland. This Division had three
primary functions:

(1) assessing the vulnerability of American installations
to biological attack; ' ) )

(2) developing techniques for offensive use of biological
weapons;an

(3) biological research for the C1A.*

Professionally, Olson was well respected by his colleagues in both
the Army and the CIA. Colonel Vincent Ruwet, Olson’s immediate
superior at the time of his death. was in almost daily contact with
Ol=on. According to Colonel Ruwet: “As a professional man . .. his
ability . . . was outstanding.” ** Colonel Ruwet stated that “durin
the period prior to the experiment . .. I noticed nothing whic
would lead me to believe that he was of unsound mind.” # Dr. Lash-
brook, who had monthly contacts with Olson from early 1952 until
the time of his death. stated publicly that before Olson received LSD,
“as far as I know. he was perfectly normal.” 30 This assessment is in
direct contradiction to certain statements evaluating Olson's emo-
tional stability made in CI\ internal memoranda written after
Olson's death.

b. The Evperiment—On November 18, 1853, a group of ten scien-
tists from the CIA and Camp Detrick attended a semi-annual review
and analysis conference at a cabin located at Deep Creck Lake, Mary-
land. Three of the participants were from the CIA's Technical Serv-
ices Staff. The Detrick representatives were all from the Special
Operations Division.

According to one CIA official, the Special Operations Division
participants “agreed that an unwitting experiment would be
desirable.” » This account directly contradicts Vincent Ruwet’s recol-
lection. Ruwet recalls no such discussion. and has asserted that he
would remember any such dizcussion because the SOI) participants
would have strenuously objected to testing on unwitting subjects.®

In Max. 19533, Richard Helms. Assistant %)I)P. held a staff meeting
which the Chief of Technical Services Stafl attended. At this meeting
Helms “indicated that the drug [LLSD] was dynamite and that he
shonld be advised at all times when it was intended to use it.”** In
addition. the then DDP, Frank Wisner, sent a memorandum to TSS
stating the requirement that the DD personally approve the use of
LSD. Gottlieb went ahead with the experiment,® securing the ap-

¥ Staff summary of Vincent Ruwet Interview, R/13/75.p. 3.

:.\lemorandum of Col. Vincent Ruwet, To Whom It Mayx Concern. no date.
p. 2. .
® Ruwet Memorandum, p. 3.

* Joseph B. Treaster, New York Times, T/19/95,p. 1.

# Memorandum for the Record from Lyman Kirkpatrick., 12/1/53. p. 1.

= Ruwet (staff sumimary), 8713773, p. 6.

® Inspector General Diary, 12/2/53.

M 1hid. Dr. Gottleib has testified that he does not remember either the meeting
with Helms nor the Wisner memorandum. (Gottlieb, 1071873, p. 16.)

5
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proval of his immediate supervisor. Neither the Chief of TSS nor
the DDP specifically authorized the experiment in which Dr. Olson
pnr‘ticipatog,.""

According to Gottlieb.® a “very small dose™ of LSI) was placed in
a bottle of Cointreau which was served after dinner on Thursday,
November 19. The drug was placed in the hiqueur by Robert Lash-
brook. All but two of the SOD participants received LED. One did
not drink: the other had a heart condition.® About twenty minutes
after thev finished their Cointreau. Gottlieb informed the other par-
ticipants that they had received L=D).

Dr. Gottliel stated that “up to the time of the experiment,” he
observed nothing unu=ual in Olson’s behavior.? Onee the experinmient
was underway, Gottlieb recalled that “the drug had a definite effect on
the group to the point that they were boisterous and laughing and they
could not continuc the meeting or engage in sensible conversation.”
The nmieeting continued until about 1:00 a.m., when the participants
retired for the evening. Gottlieb recalled that Olson, among others,
complained of “wakefulness™ during the night.*® According to Gottlieb
on Friday morning “aside from some evidence of fatigue, I observed
nothing unusual 1n [Olson’s] actions, conversation, or general be-
havior.”*® Ruwet recalls that Olson “appeared to be agitated”™ at
breakfast. but that he “*did not consider this to be abnormal under the
circumstances.” 4

c. The Treatment.—The following Monday. November 23. Olson
was waiting for Ruwet when he came in to work at 7:30 a.m. For the
next two days Olron's friends and family attempted to reassure him
and help him “snap out” of what appeared to be a serious depression.
On Tuesday, Olson again came to Ruwet and. after an hour long con-

® Dr. Gottlieb testified that “given the information we knew up to this time,
and bhased on a lot of our own self-administration, we thoucht it was a fairly
benign substance in terms of potential harm.” This is in conflict not only with Mr.
Helms' statement but also with material whicl had been supplied to the Technical
Services Staff. In one loug memoranduw on current research with LSD which
was supplied to TSD. Henry Beecher descrited the dangers involved with such
research in a prophetic manner, “The second reason to doubt Professor Rothland
came when 1 raived the question as to any accidents which had arisen from
the use of LRD-253 He said in a8 very positive way, ‘none.’ As it turned out
this answer could be called overly positive, for later on in the evening 1 wax
discussing the matter with Dr. W, A. Stohl. Jr.. a psrehiatrist in Bleulera's
Clinie in Zurich where I had gone at Raothland's insistence. 8tohl. when asked
the same question. replied. ‘yes.’” and added spontaneously, ‘there is a case
Professor Rothland knows about. In Geneva a woman physician who had been
subject to depression to some extent took LSD-25 in an experiment and became
severely and suddenly depressed and committed suicide three weeks later.
While the conuection is not definite, commmon knowledge of this ecomld hardly
have allowed the positive statement Rothland permitted himself. This case is
a warning to us to avoid engaging subjects who are depressed, or who have been
subject 1o depression.”” Dr Gottlieb testified that he had ne recollection of
either the report or that particular section of it. (Sidney Gottlieb testimony,
10°39,95, p. T8

* \lemnrandum of Sheffield Edwards for the record. 11,228/53, p. 2.

T Lashbrook (staff summary ). 7719 35, p. 3.

s Gottlieb Memorandum, 12/5/33. p. 2.

® Edwardx memorandun, 311728 533, e 3.

* Gottlieh memorandum. 12733, p- 3.

“ Ruwet memorandu, p. 3.
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versation. it was decided that medical assistance for Dr. Olson was
desirable.+!

Ruwet then called Lashbrook and informed him that “Dr. Olson
was in serious trouble and needed immediate professional attention.™
Lashbrook agreed to make appropriate arrangements and told Ruwet
to bring Olson to Washington, D.C. Ruwet and Olson proceeded to
Washington to meet with Lashbrook, and the three left for New York
at about 2:30 p.m. to meet with Dr. Harold Abramson.

At that time Dr. Abramson was an allergist and immunologist
practicing medicine in New York City. He held no degree in psychia-
try. but was as-ociated with rescarch projects supported indirectly
by the CIA. Gottlieb and Dr. Lashbrook both followed his work closely
in the early 1950s.% Since Olzon needed medical help. they turned to
Dr. Abramson as the doctor closest to Washington who was experi-
enced with LSD and cleared by the CIA.

Ruwet. Lashbrook. and Olson remained in New York for two days of
consultations with Abramson. On Thursday. November 26, 1953, the
three flew back to Washington so that Olson could spend Thanksgiving
with his family. Eu route from the airport Olson told Ruwet that he
was afraid to face hix family. After a lengthy discussion. it was de-
cided that Olson and Lashbrook would return to New York. and that
Ruwet would go to Frederick to explain these events to Mre. Olson.*

Lashbrook and Olson flew back to New York the same day, again
for consultations with Abramson. They spent Thursday night in a
Long Island hotel and the next morning returned to the city with
Abrameon. In further discussions with Abramson, it was agreed
that Olson should be placed under regular psychiatric care at an
institution closer to his home,

d. The Death—Because they could not obtain air transportation for
a return trip on Friday night. Lashbrook and Olson made reservations
for Saturday morning and checked into the Statler Hotel. Between
the time they checked in and 10:00 p.m.; they watched television.
visited the cocktail lounge, where each had two martinis, and dinner.
According to Lashbirook. Olson »was cheerful and appeared to enjoy
the entertainment.” He “appeared no longer particulary depressed,
and almost the Dr. Olson T knew prior to the experiment.™ *¢

After dinner Lashbrook and Olson watched television for about
an hour, and at 11:00, Ol-on snggested that they go to bed. saving that
“he felt more relaxed and contented than he had since [thev] came
to New York.” ¢ Olson then left a call with the hotel operator to wake
them in the morning. At approximately 2:30 a.m. Saturday. Novem-
ber 28. Lashbrook was awakened by a loud “crash of glass.”™ In his
report on the incident, he stated only that Olson *had crashed through
the closed window blind and the closed window and e fell to his death
from the window of our room on the 10th floor.”

T 1hid.. p. 4.

“ Lashlhirook memorandum, 12/7.53. p. 1.

“ Staff summary of Dr. Harold Abramson interview, 7/29/73, p. 2.
“ Lashbrook memorandum, 12/7 53, p. 3.

® Abrimson memorandum, 12,4733

* Lashourook memorandum. 12/7/33. p. 3.

" Ibid.. p. 4.

® 1bid.
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Immediately after finding that Olson had leapt to his death, Lash-
brook telephoned Gottlieh at his home and informed him of the in-
cident.** Gottlieb called Ruwet and informed him of QOlson’s death
at approximately 2:45 a.m.>® Lashbrook then called the hotel desk
and reported the incident to the operator there. Lashbrook called
Abramson and informed him of the occurrence. Abramson told Lash-
brook he “wanted to be kept out of the thing completely.” but later
changed hix mind and agreed to assist Lashbrook.®!

Shortly thereafter. uniformed police officers and some hotel em-
lovees came to Lashbrook’s room. Lashbrook told the police he didn’t
xnow why Qlson had committed suicide, but he did know that Olson

“suffered from uleers.™ 32

e. The Aftermath.—Following Dr. Olson’s death. the CI.\ made
a substantial effort to ensure that his family received death benefits,
but did not notify the Olsons of the circumstances surrounding his
demise. The Agency also made considerable efforts to prevent the
death being connected with the CIA. and supplied complete cover for
Lashbroaok so that his association with the CIA would remain a secret.

After Dr. Olson's death the CIA conducted an internal investiga-
tion of the incident. As part of his responsibilities in this investiga-
tion. the General Counsel wrote the Inspector General. stating:

I'm not happy with what scems to be a very casual attitude
on the part of TSS representatives ta the way this experi-
ment was comlneted and the remarks that this is just one of
the risks running with seientific experimentation. I do not
eliminate the need for taking risks. but T do believe, espe-
eially when human health or life is at stake. that at least the
prudent. reasonable measures which can be taken to mini-
mize the risk inust be taken and failure to do so was culpable
negligenee. The actions of the varions individuals concerned
after eflects of the experiment on Dr. Olson became manifest
also revealed the failure to observe normal and reasonable
precautions.®

As a result of the investigation IDCT Allen Dulles sent a personal
letter to the Chief of Technical Overations of the Technical Services
Staff who had approved the experiment criticizing him for “poor
judgment ... in authorizing the use of this drug on such an unwitting

, basis and without proximate medical safeguards.” ** Dulles also sent
sa letter to Dr. Gottlieb, Chief of the Chemical Division of the Tech-
nical Services Stafl. criticizing him for recommending the “unwitting
application of the drug™ in that the proposal *did not give snfficient
emphasis for medical collaboration and for the proper consideration
of the rights of the individual to whom it was being administered.”

* C1A Field Office Report. 12 ’3,'53. p. 3.
¥ Ruwet Memoranduni. p. 11,
. ‘.’ (,‘-!A Field Office Report, 12/3/53. p. 3.
v b,
*® Memorandum from the General Counsel to the Inapector General, 1/4/54.
" Memorandnm from DCI (s Chief, Technical Operations, TRX, 2/12/54.
S Memorandum from DCI to Sidney Gottliel, 271254,
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The letters were hand carried to the individuals to be read and
returned. Although the letters were critical. a note from the Deputy
Director of Central Intellizence to Mr. Helms instructed him to in-
form the individuals that: These are not reprimands and no person-
nel file notation are being made.” ¢

Thus, although the Rockefeller Commission has characterized them
as such. these notes were explicitly not reprimands. Nor did participa-
tion in the events which led to Dr. Olson’s death have anv apparent
effect on the advancement within the CLA of the individuals involved.

3. The Surreptitious Administration of LSI) to Unwitting Non-
Volunteer Human Subjects by the C14 After the Death of Dr.
Olson

The death of Dr. Olson could be viewed. as some argued at the time,
as a tragic accident. one of the risks inherent in the testing of new sub-
stances. It might be arzued that LSD was thought to be benign.
After the death of Dr. Olson the dangers of the surreptitious admin-
istration of I.SD were clear. vet the C1.\ continued or initiated ** a
project involving the surreptitious administration of LSD to non-
voluuteer human subjects. This program exposed numerous individuals
in the United States to the risk of death or serious injury without their
informed consent. without medical supervision, and without necessary
follow-up to determine any long-term effects.

Prior to the Olson experiment. the Director of Central Intelligence
had approved MKULTRA. a research program designed to develop
a “capability in the covert use of biological and chemical agent
materials.” In the proposal deseribing MKULTRA Mr. Helms. then
ADDDP.wrote the Director that :

we intend to investigate the development of a chemical mate-
rial which causes a reversible non-toxic aberrant mental state,
the specific nature of which can be reasonably well predicted
for each individual. This material could potentially aid in
di~crediting individuals, eliciting information, and 1mplant-
ing suggestions and other forms of mental control.s*

On February 12, 1954, the Director of the Central Intelligence
Ageney wrote TSS officials critivizing them for “poor judgmient™ in
admimstering LSD on “an unwitting hasis and without proximate
medical safeguard="to Dr. Olzon and for the lack of **proper consid-
eration of the rights of the individual to whom it was being admin-
istered.” ** On the same day. the Inspector General reviewed a report
on Subproject Number 3 of MKULTR., in which the same TS3
oflicers who had just received letters from the Director were quoted
as stating that one of the purposes of Subproject Number 3 was to

*® Note from DIDCI to Richant Helms, 2713754,

¥ The 1963 IG Report, which described the project involving the surreptitious
administration of LSD. placed the project heginning in 1935, Other ClA docu-
ments reveal that it was in existence as early as February 1934, The CIA bas
told the Committee that the project biegin in 1953 and that the experiment which
led to Dr. Olson’s death was part of the projeet.

“ AMemorandum from ADDD items to 1] Dulles, 473753, tab A, p. 2.

* Memorandum from DCI to Sidney Gottlieb, 2,12 34 ; and memorandum from
DCI to Chief of Operations, TSS, 2/12/54.
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“observe the behavior of unwitting persons being questioned after
having been given a dru e Tlere i1s no evidence that Subproject
Number 3 was terminated even though these officers were unequivo-
cally aware of the dangers of the surreptitious administration of LSD
and the necessity of obtaining informed consent and providing medical
safeguards. Subproject Number 3, in fact, used methods which showed
even less concern than did the OLSON experiment for the safety and
security of the participants. Yet the evidence indicates the project
continued until 1963.%

In the project. the individual conducting the test might make
initial contact with a prospective subject selected at random in a bar.
He would then invite the person to a “gafehouse’ where the test drug
was adninistered to the subject through drink or in food. CIA per-
sonncl might debrief the individual conducting the test, or observe
the test by using a one-way mirror and tape recorder in an adjoining
room.

Prior consent was obviously not obtained from any of the subjects.
There was also, obviously, no medical prescreening. In addition, the
tests were conducted by individuals who were not qualified scientific
observers. There were no medical personnel on hand either to admin-
ister the drugs or to observe their effects, and no follow-up was con-
ducted on the test subjects.

As the Inspector General noted in 1963:

A significant limitation on the effectiveness of such testing is
the infeasibility of performing scientific observation of re-
sults. The [individuals conducting the test] arc not qualified
scientific observers. Their subjects are seldom accessible be-
yond the first hours of the test. The testing may be useful in
perfecting delivery techniques, and in identifving surface
characteristics of onset, reaction, attribution, and side-effect.®

This was particularly troublesome as ina

number of instances, . . . the test subject has become ill for
hours or days, including hospitalization in at least one case.
and the agent could only follow up by guarded inquiry
after the test subject’s return to normal life. Possible sickness
and attendant economic loss are inherent contingent eflects
of the testing.®®

Paradoxically. greater care seems to have been taken for the safety
of forvign nationals against whom LSI) was used abroad. In several
cases medical examinations were performed prior to the use of LSD.**

® \femorandum to Inspector General from Chief, Inspection and Review, on
Subproject #3 of MKULTRA. 2/10,054.

@ 1 Report on MKULTRA, 11%i3.

© Ibid.. p. 12

© 114id. According to the IG's survey {n 1063, physicians associated with
MKULTRA could be made available in an emergency.

® The Techpical Services Division which was responsible for the operational
use of LSI» abroad took the position that “no physical esamination of the subject
is required prior to admipistration of [LSD] by TSS trained personnel. & pbysi-
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Moreover, the administration abroad was marked by constant obser-
vation made possible because the material was being used against
prisoners of foreign intelligence or security organizations. Finally,
during certain of the LSD interro ations abroad, local physicians
were on call, though these physiciansiad had no experience with LSD
and would not be told that hallucinogens had been administered.®®

The CIA's project involving the surreptitious administration of
LSD to unwitting human subjects in the United States was finally
halted in 1963, as a result of its discovery during the course of an
Inspector General survey of the Technical Services Division. When
the Inspector General learned of the project, he spoke to the Deputy
Director for Plans, who agreed that the Director should be briefed.
The DDP made it clear that the DCI and his Deputy were generally
familiar with MKULTRA. He indicated. however, that he was not
sure it was necessary to brief the DDCI at that oint.

On May 24.1963, the DDI advised the 1nspectoi General that he had
briefed the Director on the MKULTRA program and in particular
had covered the question of the surreptitious administration of LSD
to unwitting human subjects. According to the Inspector General, the
DDP said that “the Director indicated no disagreement and therefore
the ‘testing’ will continue.” ¢

One copy of an “Eyes Only™ draft report on MEKULTRA was
prepared by the Inspector General who recommended the termination
of the surreptitious administration project. The project was suspended
following the Inspector General's report.

On December 17, 1963, Deputy Director for Plans Helms wrote a
meme to the DDCI. who with the Inspector General and the Executive
Director-Comptroller had opposed the covert testing. He noted two
aspects of the problem: (1) “for over a decade the Clandestine Serv-
ices has had the mission of maintaining a capability for influencing
human behavior:™ and (2) “testing arrangements in furtherance of
this mission should be as operationally realistic and yet as controllable
as possible.” Helms argued that the individuals must be “unwitting”
as this was “the only realistic method of maintaining the capability,
considering the intended operational use of matenals to influence
human behavior as the operational targets will certainly be unwitting.
Should the suljects of the testing not le unwitting, the program would
only be “pro forma™ resulting in a «false sense of accomplishment and
readiness.” ¢ Helms continued :

cian nead not be present. There is no danger medically in the use of tbis material
ax handled by TSR trained personnel” The Office of Medical Services had teken
the position that LSD was “medicalls dangerous.” Roth the Office of Security
aund the Office of Medical Services argued that LSD “should not he administered
unless preceded by a medical examination . . . and should be administered only
by or in the presence of a physician whoe had studied it and its effect.” (Memo-
randum from James Angleton, Chief, Counterintelligence Siaff to Chief of Qpwr-
ations, 1271207, pp. 1-2.

& pPhysicians might e ealled with the bope that they would make & diagnosis
of menial breakdmvn which would be useful in discrediting the individual who
was the subject of the C1A interest.

:.\Iwunraudnm fur the Record propared by the Inspector General, 5/15/63, p. 1.

“1bid.. p. 2.
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If une grants the validity of the mission of maintaining this
wnusual capability and the necessity for unwitting testing.
there is only then the question of how best to do it. Obviously,
the testing should be conducted in such a manner as to permit
the opportunity to observe the results of the administration
on the target. It also goes without saying that whatever test-
ing arrangement we adopt must afford maximum safeguards
for the protection of the Agency’s role in this activity, as
well as minimizing the possibility of physical or emotional
damage to the individual tested.*®

In another memo to the Director of Central Intelligence in June,
1964. Thelms again raised the issue of unwitting testing. At that time
General Carter. then acting DCI. approved several changes in the
MKULTRA program proposed by Mr. Helms as a result of negotia-
tions between the Inspector General and the DDP. In a handwritten
note. however. Director Carter added that “unwitting testing will be
subject to a separate decision.”™ :

No specific decision was made then or soon after. The testing had
been halted and, according to Walter Elder, Executive Assistant to
DCI M.Cone. the DCI was not inclined to take the positive step of
authorizing a resumption of the testing. At least through the summer,
the DDP did not press the issue. On November 9, 1964, the DDP
raised the issue again in a memo to the DCI, calling the Director’s
attention to what he described as “several other indications during
the past year of an apparent Soviet aggressiveness in the field of
covertly administered chemicals which are, to say the least. inexplic-
able and disturbing.™ 7

Helms noted that because of the suspension of covert testing. the
Agency's “positive operational capability to use drugs is diminishing,
owing to a lack of realistic testing. With increasing knowledge of the
state of the art. we are less capable of staying up with Soviet advances
in this field. This in turn results in a waning capability on our part
to restrain others in the intelligence community (such as the Depart-
ment of Defense) from pursuing operations in this area.” "

Helms attributed the cessation of the unwitting testing to the high
rick of embarrassment to the Agency as well as the “moral problem.”
He noted that no better covert situation had been devised than that
which had been used, and that “we have no answer to the moral
issue,” 72

Helms asked for cither resumption of the testing project or its defini-
tive cancellation. He argued that the status quo of a research and de-
velopment program without a realistic testing program was causing
the Ageney to live *with the illusion of a capability which is becoming
minimal and furthermore is expensive.” 7 Once again no formal action
was taken in response to the ITelms’ request.

® \femorandum from DNP Helms to DDCI Carter. 12/17/G3.
* \lemoranduw from DDP Helms to DCL, 6,9, 64, p. 3.

* Jhid.. 11,0/64. p. 1.

mJbid.. pp. 1-2.

2 Ihid., p. 2.

™ 1bid.
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From its beginning in the carly 1950's until its termination in 1963,
the program of surreptitious administration of LLSI) to unwitting non-
volunteer human subjects demonstrates a failure of the CIA’s leader-
ship to pay adequate attention to the rights of individuals and to pro-
vide effective guidance to CIA employees. Though it was known that
the testing was dangerous, the lives of subjects were placed in jeop-
ardy and their rights were ignored during the ten years of testing
which followed Dr. Olson's death. Although it was clear that the laws
of the United States were being violated. the testing continued. While
the individuals involved in the Olson experiment were admonished
by the Director. at the same time they were also told that they were
not being reprimanded and that their “bad judgment™ would not be
made part of their personnel records. When the covert testing project
was terminated in 1963, none of the individuals involved were subject
to any disciplinary action.

4. Monitoring and Control of the Testing and Use of Chemical and
Biological Agent=by the CI1A

The Relect Committee found numerous failures in the monitoring
and control of the testing and use of chemical and biological agents
within the CIA.** An analvsis of the failures ean be divided into four
sections: (a) the waiver of normal regulations or requirements; (b)
the problems in anthorization procedures: (¢) the failure of internal
review mechanizsms such as the Office of General Counsel. the Inspector
General. and the Andit Stafl: and () the eflect of compartmentation
and competition within the CIA.

a. The Waiver of Administrative Controls.—The internal controls
within any agency rest on: (1) clear and coherent regulations; (2)
clear lines of authority : and (3) elear rewards for those who conduct
thems=clves in accord with ageney regulations and understandable and
immediate sanctions against those who do not. In the case of the test-
ing and use of chemical and biological agents, normal C1A adminis-
trative controls were waived. The destruction of the documents on the
largest CTA program in this area constituted a prominent example of
the waiver of normal Agency procedures by the Director.

Theze documents were destroyed in early 1993 at the order of then
DCT Richard Helins. According to Helms. Dr. Sidney Gottlieb, then
Direetor of TSI

.« . came to me and said that he was retiring and that T was
retiring and he thought it would be a good 1dea if these files
were destroyed. And T also believe part of the reason for
our thinking this was advisable was there had been relation-
ships with outsiders in government agencies and other orga-
nizations and that these would be sensitive in this kind of a
thing but that since the program was over and finished and
done with, we thought we would just get rid of the files as

 Section 2(9) of 8 Res. 21 instructs the Committee to examine : the “extent
to which United States intelligence agencies are governed by Excecutive Orders,
rules, or regulations either publisbhed or secret.”
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well, so that anybody who assisted us in the past would not
be lsu'bject to follow-up or questions, embarrassment, if you
will.?s :

The destruction was based on a waiver of an internal CIA regula-
tion. CSI 70-10, which regulated the “retirement of inactive records,”
As Thomas Karamessines, then Deputy Director of Plans, wrote in
regulation CSI-70-10: “Retirement is not a matter of convenience or
of storage but of conscious judgment in the application of the rules
modified by knowledge of individual component needs. The heart of
this judgment is to ensure that the complete story can be reconstructed
in later vears and by people who may be unfamiliar with the events.” 1

The destruction of the MKULTRA documents made it impossible
for the Select Committee to determine the full range and extent of the
largest CIA research program invoiving chemical and biological
agents. The destruction also prevented the CIA from locating and pro-
viding medical assistance to the individuals who were subjects in the
program. Finally, it prevented the Committee from determining the
full extent of the operations which made use of materials developed in
the MKULTRA program.™

From the inception of MKULTRA normal Agency procedures were
waived. In 1953, Mr. Helms, then Assistant Deputy Director for Plans,
proposed the establishment of MKULTRA. Under the proposal six
percent of the rescarch and development budget of TSD would be
expended “without the establishment of formal contractual relations™
because contracts would reveal government interest. Helms also voted
that qualified individuals in the field “are most reluctant to enter into
signed agreements of any sort which connect them with this activity
since such a connection ‘would jeopardize their professional reputa-

* Richard Helms testimony. 9/11/93, p. 5.

Many Agency documents recording confidential relationships with individuals
and organizations are retained without pulilic disclosure. Moreover, in the case of
MKULTRA the CIA had spent millions of dollars developing both materials and
delivery systems whicl could be used by the Clandestine Services ; the reconstryc-
tion of the research and development program would he difScult if not impos-
sible, without the documents, and at least one assistant to Dr. Gottlieb protested
against the document destruction on those gronnds.

* Clandestine Services Institution (CS1) 70-10. When asked by the Select
Committee aboug the recularity of the procedure by which he authorized Dr.
Gottlieb to destroy the MK ULTIRA recaords, Helmis responded : .

“Well. that's hard to say whether it would e part of the regular procedure or
not. because the record destruction prograw is conducted according to a certain
pattern. There's a regular record destruction pattern in the Agency monitored by
certain people and done a certain way. Ro that angthing outside of that, 1 suppose,
would have been unusual. In other words, there were documents being destroved
hecause somelady hiad raised this specific issue rather than beecause ther were
encompssed in the regular records destruction program. So 1 think the auswer
to_your fquestion is probably yes." (Helms testimiony, 9/11:93, p. 6.)

T Even prior to the destruction of documents, the MKULTRA records were far
from complete, As the Inspector General noted in 1963 :

“Files ire notably incomplete. poorly organized. and lacking in evaluative state-
ments that might give perspective to management policies over time. A substan-
tial portion of the MKULTRA record appears to rest in the memories of the prin-
cipal afficers and is therefore ahnost certain to he lost with their departures.”
(IG Report on MKULTRA, p. 23.)
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tions™."® Other Agency procedures. i.e., the forwarding of documents
in support of invoices and the provision for regular audit procedures.
were also to be waived. On April 13, 1953, then DCI Allen Dulles
approved MKULTRA. noting that security considerations precluded
handling the project through usual contractual agreements.

Ten years later investigations of MKULTRA by both the Inspector
General and the Audit Staff noted substantial deficiencies which re-
sulted from the waivers. Because TSI) had not reserved the right to
audit the books of contractors in MKULTRA. the CIA had becn
unable to verify the use of Ageney grants by a contractor., Another
firm had failed to establish controls and safegnards which would as-
sure *“‘proper accountability™ in use of government funds with the
result that “funds have been used for purposes not contemplated by
grants or allowable under usual contract relationship.” ™ The entire
MKULTRA arrangement was condemned for having administrative
lines which were unclear. overly permissive controls, and irrespon-
sible supervision.

The head of the Audit Branch noted that inspections and audits:
led us to see MKULTRA as frequently having provided a
device to escape normal administrative controls for research
that is not especially sensitive. as having allowed practices
that produce gross administrative failures, as having per-
mitted the establishment of special relationships with unreli-
able organizations on an unaceeptable basis. and as having
produced. on at least one occasion. a cavalier treatment of a
bona fide contracting organization.

While admitting that there may be a need for special mechanisms
for handling sensitive projects. the Chief of the Audit Branch wrote
that “both the terms of reference and the ground rules for handling
such speeial projects should be spelled out in advance so that diver-
sion from normal channel: does not mean abandonment of controls.

Special procedures may be necessary to ensure the security of highly
sensitive operations. To prevent the erosion of normal internal con-
trol mechanisms. such waivers should not be extended to less sensitive
operations. Moreover, only those regulations which would endanger
security should be waived: to waive regulations generally would
resnlt in highly sensitive and controversial projects having looser
rather than stricter administrative controls. MKNAOMI, the Fort
Detrick CI.A project for rescarch and development of chemical and
biological agents. provides another example where efforts to protect
the security of agency activties overwhelmed administrative controls.
No written records of the transfer of agents such as anthrax or shell-
fish toxin were kept. “because of the sensitivity of the area and the
desire to keep any possible use of materials like this recordless.” # The

™ Memnrandum from ADDP Helms to DCT Dulles, 4737533, Tab. A, p. 2.

™ Memorandum from IG to Chief, TSD. 11/8/63, as quuied in memorandum
from Chief, Audit Branch.

* The memorandum sugeested that administrative exclusions, because of the
importance of such decisions, should reqnire the personal approval of the Deputy
Directar of Central Intellizence on an individual case basis. Present CIA policy
is that only the DCI can nutliorize certain exemptions from regulations.

" Riduey Gotilieb testimony. 10,/18/73, Hearings, Vol. 1, p. 51.
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result was that the Areney had no way of determining what mate-
rils were on hand. and conld not be certain whether delivery systems
such as dart guns, or deadly substances such a~ cobra venom had been
issned to the field,

b Aathor/zativn.—The destruction of the documents regarding
MKULTRA made it diflicult to determine at what level specitie proj-
eetsin the program were authorized. This problem is not solely a re-
sult of the document destruction, however, Fven at the height of
MRULTRA the 1G noted that. at Jeast witl, respect to the surrepti-
tious administration of LS. the “present practice is to maintain no
records of the planning and approval of test prograns.” >

While it is elear that Allen Dulles anthorized MKULTRA. the rec-
ord i~ un-lear us to who authorized specitic projects such as that in-
volving the surreptitions administration of L=D to wnwitting non-
volunteer hunian subjects. Even given the sensitive and eontroversial
nature of the project. there is no evidence that when Johin MeCone
rephiced Allen Dulles as the Director of the Central Intelligence
Agenay hie was briefed on the details of 1his project and asked whether
it should be continued. Even during the 1963 discu-sions on the pro-
priviy of unwitting testing, the DDY? questioned whether it was “neces-
sy to brief General Carter,”™ the De ity Director of Central Intelli-
getice and the Divector's =alter ago,” fn't':m-v CLA ofticers felt it neces-
sary to keep details of the project restricted to an ab~olute minimum
ninber of peoples

I May of 1965, DDP Helrs told the Inspector General that the
COVEIt testing program was anthorized Disaiiee lie Lad gone to the
Divector, briefed ane on it and “the Director indicated no disugree-
ment and therefore the testing will continne.” Such authorization
even for noncontroversial matters is elearly Jess desirable than ex-
phieit authorization s in areas such as the siereptitions administration
of drug=. it ix particularly undesivable, Yot according to testimony

¥ 16 Report on MKULTRA, 1063, B E N

~ Aeroriding to au assistant to br. Gottlieh, there were annual brietings of the
DCLand the DD vy MRULTRA Uy the Chief of TSIr or tas depury, However, a
May 151063 Menarandun for the Revord fron the Inspector General noted that
Mr MeCone had not been briefed in detadl abont the prosrem. Mr, MeCone's Exec-
utive Othcer, Walter Blder, testitiod that it was “jerfecth Alparent to me™ that
neither Mro MeCone tor General Carter, then the DDCL was aware of the sur-
repriticns ahiinistration project “or if they had been brivfed they had not under-
Steend 3107 (FElder, 12 18 75, o130 Mo MeCone testitied thar he “did not know'
wWhether e talked (o anyenc about the project but that Lo one had told Lim about
it in o way that “woulld L e tarned on all the hebes ™ (Yohin MeCoge testiimony,
2306 100

*Aveording to Elder's testimony, “no Depity Director, o Iy knowledire,
hias ever been briefed or WS it ever thonght e essity to brivf them to the extent
to which vou would brief the Directop

16 Manorandum for the Reenrd. © 15 63

On the question of authorization of the COVETT testing progran, Blder testitied
as folloms:

TRt my reasonable indoment js that this was considered 1o he in the area of
continnivg approval, having onee e Approved by the Dijrector,

The theory of authorizatin, CHTTAMILE over from ane adininistration to the next
et partienlarly inappropriaote for oo abtel bighly sensirive sperations
Wlach, unbess bronzit 1. s attention by subordingtes, wWould not couie to the
arterticanof the Diiredtar,
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before the Committee. authorization through lack of agreement -is
even niore prevalent in sensitive situations.*

The unauthorized retention of shellfish toxin by Dr. Nathan Gordon
and his subordinates, in violation of a Presidential Directive, may have
resulted from the failure of the Director to issue written instructions to
Agency officials. The retention was not authorized by senior officials in
the Agency. The Director, Mr. Helms, hau instructed Mr. Karames-
sines. the Dep-ity Director of Plans, and Dr. Gottlieb, the Chief of
Technical Services Division, to relinquish control to the Armiy of any
chemical or biological agents being retained for the CIA at Fort De-
trick. Dr. Gottlieb passed this instruction on to Dr. Gordon. While
orders may be disregarded in any organization. one of the reasons that
Dr. Gordon used to defend the retention was the fact that he had not
received written instructions forbidding it.*

In some situations the existence of written instructions did not pre-
vent unauthorized actions. According to an investigation by the C1A’s
Inspector General TSD officers had been i7z£ormcd orally that Mr.
I]c}ma was to be *advised at all times™ when LSD was to be used. In
addition TSD had received a memo advising the stafl that LSD was
not to be used without the permission of the DDP, Frank Wisner. The
experiment involving Dr. Olson went ahead without notification of
either Mr. Wisner or Mr. Helms. The absence of clear and immediate
punishment for that act must undercut the force of other internal in-
structions and regulations.

One last issue must be raised about authorization procedures within
the Agency. Chemical agents were used abroad unti] 1959 for dis-
crediting or disabling operations, or for the purpose of interrogations
with the approval of the Chief of Operations of the DDP. Later the
approval of the Deputy Director for Plans was required for such
operations. Although the medical stafl sought to be part of the ap-
»roval process for thesc operations, they were excluded because, as the

nspector General wrote in 1057 :

Operational determinations are the responsibility of the
I)Y)Q;P and it is he who should advise the DCI in these
respects, just as it is he who is responsible for the results. It
is compiotely unrealistic to consider assigning to the Chief,
Medical Staff, (what, in effect, would be authority over clan-
destine operations.)™*

Given the expertise and training of physicians, participation of the
Medical Staff might well have been useful.

Questions about authorization also exist in regard to those agencies
which assisted the CIA. For instance, the project involving the sur-
reptitious administration of LLSD) to unwitting non-volunteer human
subjects was conducted in coordination with tﬁe Bureau of Narcotics
and Dangerous Drugs. There is some question as to the Commissioner
of Narcotics’ knowledge about the project.

® \r. Elder was asked whether the process of bringing forward a dexcription of
actions hy the Agency in getting approval through the abisence of disagreement
was a common one. He responded. It was not uncommon. . . . The more sensitive
the project the more likely it would lean toward being a cowmon practice, based
ou the need to keep the written record toa minimum.”

* Nathan Gordan testimony, 9,16/75, Hearings, Vol. 1,

® 1937 IG Report.
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In 1963, the Inspector General noted that the head of the BNDD
had been briefed about the project, but the 1G's report did not indi-
cate the Jevel of detail provided to him. Dr. Gottlieb testified that “I
remember meeting Mr. Anslinger and had the general feeling that he
was aware.” * Another CIA ofticer did not recall any discussion of
testing on unwitting subjects wlhen he and Dr. Gottlieb met with Com-
missioner Anslinger.

In a memorandum for the record in 1967 Dr. Gottlieb stated that
Harry Giordano, who replaced Mr. Anslinger, told Dr. Gottlieb that
when he became Commissioner he was “only generally briefed on the
arrangements, gave it his general blessing, and said he didn’t want to
know the details.” The same memorandum states, however, that there
were several comments which indicated to Dr. Gottlich that Mr. Gior-
dano was aware of the substance of the project. It is possible that
the Commissioner provided a general authorization for the arrange-
ment without understanding what it entailed or considering its pro-
priety. A reluctance to seek detailed information from the CIA, and
the CI.\'s hesitancy to volunteer it, has been found in a number of
instances during the Select Committee’'s investigations. This problem
is not confined to the exccutive branch but has also marked congres-
sional relationships with the Agency.

c. Internal Lleview.—The waiver of regulations and the absence of
documentation make it difficult to determine now who authorized
which activities. Maore importantly, they made internal Agency review
mechanisms much less effective® Controversial and highly sensitive
projects which should have been subject to the most rigorous inspection
lacked effective internal review.

Given the role of the General Counsel and his reaction to the sur-
reptitious administration of LSD to Dr. Olson. it would have seemed
likely that he would be asked about the legality or propriety of any
subscquent projects involving such administration. This was not done.
He did not learn about this testing until the 1470°s. Nor was the Gen-
eral Counsel's opinion sought on other MKULTRA projects. though
these had been characterized by the Inspector General in the 1057
Report on TSD as*“unethical and illicit.” »

There is no mention in the report of the 1957 Inspector General’s
survey of TSD of the project involving the surreptitious administra-
tion of LLRID. That project was apparently not brought to the attention
of the survey team. The Inspector who discovered it during the 1G's
1063 survey of TSD recalls coming upon evidence of it inadvertently,

® Gottlieb, 10/18,/75, p. 2K

* The IG's report on MKULTRA in 1963 stated :

“The original charter documents specified that TSD maintain exacting con-
trol of MKULTRA activities. In =0 doing, however, TSI} has pursued a phi-
lovophy of minimum documentation in keeping with the high sen«itivity of some
of the projects. Some files were found to present a reasonably complete record,
inclnding most sensitive matters, while otbers with parallel olijectives contained
little or no data at all. The lack of eonsistent records precluded use of routine
inspection procedures and raised a variety of questions concerning manage-
ment and fiscal controls.”

" CIA, Inspector General's report on TSI, 1957, p. 217.
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rather than its having been called to his attention as an especially
sensitive project.*

Thus both the General Counsel and the Inspector General, the prin-
cipal internal mechanisms for the control of possibly improper actions,
were excluded from regular reviews of the project. When the project
was discovered the Executive Director-Comptroller voiced strong op-
position to it: it is possible that the project would have been termi-
nated in 1057 if it had been called to his attention when he then served
as Inspector General.

The Audit Statl, which also serves an internal review function
through the examination of Agency expenditures, also encountered
substantial difliculty with MRKULTRA. When MEKULTRA was first
proposed the Audit Staff was to be excluded from any function, This
was soon changed. However, the waiver of normal “contractual pro-
cedures” in MIKULTRA increased the likelihood of *“irregularities”
as well as the difficulty in detecting them. The head of the Audit
Braneh characterized the MKULTRA procedures as “having allowed
practices that produced gross administrative failures.” including 8
lack of controls within outside contractors which would assure proper
accountability in use of government funds.” It also diminished the
CIA's capacity to verify the accountings provided by outside firms.

d. Compartmentation ard J urisdictional Conflict Within the
Agcncy.—As has Leen noted. the testing and use of chemical and
biological agents was treated as a highly sensitive activity within the
CIA. This resulted in a high degree of compartmentation. At the same
time substantial jurisdictional conflict existed within the Agency be-
tween the Technical Services Division, and the Office of Medical Serv-
ices and the Oflice of Security.

This compartmentation and jurisdictional conflict may well have
led to duplication of effort within the CIA and to Agency policy-
makers being deprived of useful information.

During the early 190u’s first the BLUEBIRD Committee and then
the ARTICHOKE Committee were instituted to bring together rep-
resentatives of the Agency components which had a legitimate inter-
est in the area of the alteration of human behavior. By 1957 both these
committees had fallen into disuse. No information went to the Tech-
nical Services Division (a component supposedly represented on the
ARTICHOKE Committee) about ARTICHOKE operations being
conducted by the Office of Security and the Office of Medical Services.
The Technical Services Division which was providing support to the
Clandestine Services in the use of chemical and biologicalpagents, but
provided little or no information to either the Office of Security or the
Office of Medical Services. As one TSD) officer involved in these pro-
grams testified: “Although we were acquainted, we certainly didn’t
share experiences.” ®

» pPven after the Inspector came upon it the 1G did pot perform a complete
investigation of it. It was discovered at the end of an extensive surveyr of TSD
and th> Inspector was in the process of being transferred to another post within
the Agency.

™ Testimony of CIA officer, 11,2175, p. 14.

I~ vl
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QKHILLTOP, another group designed to coordinate research in
thi> area also had little success. The Lroup mct infnquently—ou])
twice a year—and little specific information was exchanged.

Concern over security obviously played some role in the failure to
share information,® but this appears not to be the only reason. A TSD
oflicer stated that the Oftice of Meddical Services simply wasn’t “par-
ticularly interested in what we were doing™ and never sought such
information.* On the otler hand, a representative of the Office of
Medical Serviees consistently sought to have medical personnel par-
ticipate in the use of chemical and biological agents suggested that
TSD did not inform the Office of Medical Services in order to pre-
vent their involvement.

Jurisdietional conflict was constant in this area. The Office of
Sceurity, which had heen assigned responsibility for dircction of
ARTICHOKE, consistently sought to bring TSI operations in-
volving psychiochenieals under the ARTICHOKE umbrella. The
Oftice of Medical Services sought to have OMS physicians advise and
participate in the operational use of drugs. As the Inspector Gen-
eral deseribed it in 1957, “the basic issue js concerned with the extent
of authority that should be excrcised by the Chief, Medical Staff, over
the activities of TSI which encroach upon or enter into the medical
field,” and which are conducted by TSI “without seeking the prior
approval of the Chief. Medical Stafl, and often without informing
him of their nature and extent.™ 7

As was noted previously, because the projects and programs of
TSD stemned directly from operational needs controlled by the
DDP. the 1G recommended no further supervision of these activi-
ties by the Medical Staff

It is completely unrealistic to consider assigning to the
Chicf. Medical Staff, what. in effect. would be authority over
clandestine operations. Fusthermon . some of the actirities
of Chemical 1ivision are ot ouly unorthodor but unethical
and sometimes dlegal. The DDE s in a beteer position to
Coaluate the justipiation for sueh opcrations thaw the Chief,

Medical Staff.~ [Emphasis added. )

Because the advice of the Director of Sceurity was needed for
“evaluating the risks involved™ in the program= and Dbecause the
knowledge that the CLA was “engaging in unethical and illicit activi-
ties would have serions repercussions in political and diplomatic
circles.” the 1G recommended that the Director of Security be fully
advised of TS5 activities in these areas.

Evenafter the Inspector General's Report of 1957, the compartmen-
tation and jurisdictional conflict continued. They may have had a sub-

“The one ket of mintes from g QRHILLTOP mecting indicated that individ-
uals in the Oflice of Medical Services Stressed the need for more contact,

“When asked why information on the sarreptitions administeation of L8]
Wis ot presented to the ARTICHOKE commitres, Dr Gottlivh responded @ ]
inagine the only resson waould luive been a concern for broadening the aware-
ness of its existenee,” .

VCLN atticer 31 2Y AL 14
UG Survey of XDy 1957, o217

" Ibid.
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stantial negative impact on policymaking in the Agency. As the Dep-
uty Chief of the Counterintellizence Staff noted in 1958, due to the
different positions tuken by TSS. the Office of Security, and the Office
of Medical Services on the use of chemical or biological agents, it was
possible that the individual who authorized the use of a chemical or
biological agent could be presented with “incomplete facts upon which
to make a decision relevant to its use.” Even a committee set up by the
DDP in 195x to attempt to rationalize Agency policy did not Eave ac-
cess to records of testing and use. This was due, in part. to excessive
compartmentation, and jurisdictional confliet,

C. Covert TEsTING o HUuMAaN SUBIECTs BY MILITARY INTELLIGENCE
Groves: MateriaL Testing Prosram EA 1729, Prosecr THIRD
CHAXNGE. axp Prodecr DERBY HAT

EA 1729 is the desigmator used in the Army drug testing program
for lyrergic acid diethylamide (LSD). Interest in LSD was originally
aroused at the Army’s Chemical Warfare Laboratories by open litera-
ture on the unusual eflects of the compound.®® The positive intelli-
gence and counterintelligence potential envisioned for compounds like
LRD. and suspected Soviet interest in such materials.’® supported the
development of an American military capability and resulted in ex-
periments conducted jointly by the U.S, Army Intelligence Board and
the Chiemical Warfare Laboratories.

These experiments. designed to evaluate potential intelligence uses
of LRI, were known collectively as “Materiul Testing Program EA
17297 Two projects of particular interest conducted as part of these
experiments, “THIRD CHANCE™ and “DERBY HAT"™, involved
the administration of LRD to unwitting subjects in Europe and the
Far East.

In many respects. the Army’s testing programs duplicated research
which had already heen conducted by the CLA. Thiey certainly involved
the risks inherent in the early phases of drug testing. In the Army's
tests, as with those of the C1A, individual rights were also subordi-
nated to national seeurity considerations: informed consent and follow-
up examinations of subjects were neglected in efforts to maintain the
secreey of the tests. Finally, the command and control problems which
were apparent in the CLA's progreams are paralleled by a lack of clear
anthorization and supervision in the Army’s programs.

P USAINTC staff study. “Material Testing Program. A 1720 101559, p. 4.

™ This snme USAINTC study ecited A 1052 (xseveral years prior ta initial 1°.8,
interest in LRD-25) report that the Saviets purchased a large quantity of LID-25
from the Randoz Company in 1051, reputed to be sufficient for 50 million doses.”
tIhid, o 16

Geuernlly aceepted Roviet methods and counterintellizence concerns were also
Strong wotivating factors in the initintion of this research :

A primars justification for field experimentation in intellicence with A 1520
ix the connter-intellizence or defense implication, We know that the enemys phi-
losophy condones any kind of coercion or violenee for intelligence purposes, There
ix proof that his intellizence corvice has used drugs in the past There is strong
evidence of Keen inferest in KA 1720 Ly hin, 'f for no other purpose than to know
what to expeet from enemy intelligenee use of the material and to, thus, be pre-
pittd ta connter it field experimentation is justified” (Ihid, p. 34)
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1. Scope of Testing

Between 1955 and 1958 research was initiated by the Army Chemical
Corps to evaluate the potential for LSD as a chemical warfare inca-
pacitating agent. In the course of this research, LSD was administered
to more than 1,000 American volunteers who then articipated in a
series of tests designed to ascertain the effects of the drug on their
ability to function as soldiers. With the exception of one set of tests
at Fort Bragg. these and subsequent laboratory experiments to evalu-
ate chemical warfare potential were conducted at the Army Chemical
Warfare Laboratories, Edgewood, Marvland. ‘

In 1955 a new series of laboratory tests were initiated at Edgewood.
These experiments were condncteé as the 1nitial plase of Material
Testing Program EA 1729 to evaluate the intelligence potential of
LD, and included LSD) tests on 95 volunteers.'® As part of these
tests, three structured experiments were conducted :

1. LSD was administered surreptitiously at a simulated
social reception to volunteer subjects who were unaware of
the purposec or nature of the tests in which they were
participating;

2. LSD was administered to volunteers who were subse-
quently polygraphed: and

3. LSI) was administered to volunteers who were then
confined to “isolation chambers™.

These structured experiments were designed to evaluate the validity
of the traditional security training all subjects had undergone in the
face of unconventional, drue enhanced. interrogations,

At the conclusion of the Tuhomtor_\' test phase of Material Testing
Program EA 1729 in 1960, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for
Intelligence (ACSI) authorized operational field testing of LLSD). The
first field te<ts were conducted in” Europe by an Army Special Pur-
pose Team (SPT) during the period from Mav to August of 1961,
These tests were known as Project THIRD CHANCE and involved
eleven separate interrogations of ten subjects, None of the subjects
were volunteers and none were aware that they were to reccive
LSD. A1l but one subject. a UK, soldier implicated in the theft of
classified documents. were alleged to be foreion intellicence sources
or agents. While interrogations of these individnals were only moder-
ately sucees<ful, at least one subject (the U.S. soldier) exhibited
svimptoms of severe paranoia while under the influence of the drug.

The second seriex of field tests, Project DERBY HAT. were con-
ducted by an Army SPT in the Far East during the period
from August to November of 1962, Seven subjects were interrogated
under DERBY HAT. all of whom were foreign nationals cither sus-
pected of dealing in nareoties or implivated in foreien intelligenee
operations. The purpose of this sccond =et of experiments was to col-
leet adiitional data on the ntility of LRD in fichd interrogations, and
to evaluate any ditferent effects the drig might have on ~Orientals.”

¥ Tuspector General of the Army Report, “Use of Volunterrs in Chemieal Acent
Rescarch” 3100 76, 1. 138 :
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2. Inadequate Coordination Among Intelligence Agencies

On October 15, 1959, the U.S. Army Intelligence Center prepared
lengthy stafl study on Material Testing Program EA 1729. The stated
purpose of the stafl study was: “to determine the desirability of EA
1729 on non-US subjects in selected actual operations under controlled
conditions.’®? It was on the basis of this study that operational field
tests were later conducted.

After noting that the Chemical Warfare Laboratories began experi-
ments with LSD on humans in 1955 and had administered the drug
to over 1.000 volunteers, the “background” section of the study
concluded :

‘There has not been a single case of residual ill eflect. Study
of the prolific scientific iterature on LSD-25 and personal
communication between US Army Chemical Corps person-
nel and other researchers in this field have failed to disclose
an authenticated instance of irreversible change being pro-
duced in normal humans by the drug.13

This conclusion was reached despite an awareness that there were
inherent medical dangers in such experimentation. In the body of this
same study it is noted that :

The view has been expressed that EA 1729 is a potentially
dangerous drug. whose pharmaceutical actions are not fully
understood and there has been cited the possibility of the
continuance of a chemically induced psychosis in chronic
form. particularly if a Iatent schizophrenic were a subject,
with consequent claim or representation against the U.S.
Government.1o*

An attempt was made to minimize potential medical hazards by care-
ful selection of subjects prior to field tests. Rejecting evidence that
the drug might be hazardous, the study continued:

The claim of possible permanent damage caused by EA 1729
is an unproven hvpothesis based on the characteristic effect
of the material. While the added stress of a real situation
may increase the probability of permanent adverse effect,
the resulting risk iz deemed to be slight by the medical re-
search personnel of the Chemical Warfarc Laboratories. To
prevent even such a slight risk. the proposed plan for field
experimentation calls for overt. if possible. or contrived-
through-ruse. if necessarv, phvsical and mental examination
of anv real situation subject prior to employment of the
subject.10

This conclusion was drawn six vears after one death had occurred
which could be attributed. at least in part. to the effects of the
very drug the Army was proposing to field test. The USAINTC staff,
however. was apparentlv unaware of the circumstances surround-
ing Dr. Olson’s death. This lack of knowledge is indicative of the

::;'S.-\l.\"r(‘ staff study. “Materinl Testing Program FA 1729." 10/15/59, p. 4.
bid_. p. 4.

™ Ihid.. p 25

™ Ibid.

6-408 O - 7T . T
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weneral lack of interngeney communication on drug related research.
Ac the October 1959 study noted, “there has been no coordination
with other intelligence agencies up to the present.” 1°¢

On December 7.1939, the Avmy Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelli-
wence (ACSI apparently a General Willemis) was briefed on the
proposed operational nse of LRD by USAINTC Project Officer Jacob-
son, in preparation for PProject THIRD CHANCE. General Willems
expressed coneern that the project hiad not been coordinated with the
FRI and the CTAUITe is quated as saying “that if this project is going
to e worth anvthing it {LSD71 <hould be used on higher types of
non-U.S, subject<" in other words statlers.” He indicated this could
be accomplished 3f the CIXA were brought in. The summary of the
briefing prepared by a Major Mchovsky continues: *Of particular note
1= that ACS] dQid not direet coordination with CIA and the FIBI but
only mentioned it for consideration by the planners.”™ %

After the briefine, four colonels, two lieutenant colonels and Major
Mehovzky et to diseuss interagency eooperation with CIA and FBIL
The group conscnsus was to postpone efforts toward coordination:

Lt. Col. Jacobzon commented that before we coordinate with
CLA we should have more factual findings from field experi-
mentation with counterintelligence cases that will strengthen
our position and proposal for cooperation. This approach
was agredd to by the conferees. o
Had sucli coondination heen achieved, the safety of these experiments
might have been viewed differently and the tests themselves might
have been seen as unnecessary.
3. Nulordivation of Todivcidual Riakts to National Security Consid-
erations
Just as many of these experiments may have been nnnecessary. the
nature of the operational tests (polyvgraph-assisted interrogations of
drongeed suspeetz) reflects a bazie disregard for the fundamental
human right= of the subjects. The interrogation of an American
soldier as part of the THIRD CHANCE 1961 tests is an example of
this disregard. )
The “trip report™ for Project THIRD CHHANCE. dated Septem-
ber 6. 1961, reeounts the cirenmstances surrounding and the results of
the tests as follows:

[ The subject] was a U.S, soldier who had confessed to theft
of elassitied docrunents, Conventional methods had failed to
ascertain whether espionage intent was involved. .\ sigmificant
new adiission by subject that he told a fellow soldier of the
theft while he »till had the documents in his possession was
obtained duringe the EA 1720 interrozation along with other
variations of Subjeet’s previous account. The interrogation
results were deemed by the loeal operational authority satis-
factory evidence of Subject’s elaim of innocence in regard to
espionage intent.'*

1 hid., p 6.

A ehovsky Faet Sheet, 127960, p. 1.

bl . 2

' SPT Trip Report. Operation THIRD CHANCE, 9/6/61, p. 5.

———- 4 —
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The subject apparently reacted very strongly to the drug, and the
Interrogation, while productive, was diflicult. The trip report
concluded :

(1) This case demonstrated the ability to interrogate a
subject profitably throughout a highly sustained and almost
incapacitating reaction to EA 1729.

(2) The apparent value of bringing a subject into the EA
1729 situation in a highly stressed state was indicated.

(8) The usefulness of cmploying as a duress factor the de-
vice of inviting the subject’s attention to his EA 1729.
influenced state and threatening to extend this state in-
definitely even to a permanent condition of insanity, or to
bring it to an end at the discretion of the interrogators was
shown to be effective.

(4) The need for preplanned precautions against extreme
paranolac reaction to EA 1729 was indicated.

(5) It was brought to attention by this case that where sub-
ject has undergone extended intensive interrogation prior to
the EA 1729 episode and has persisted in a version repeatedly
during conventional interrogation, adherence to the same ver-
sion while under EA 1729 influence, however extreme the reac-
tion, may not necessarily be evidence of truth but merely the
ability to adhere to a well rehearsed story.1

This strong reaction to the drug and the accompanying discomfort
this individual suffered were exploited by the use of traditional inter-
rogation techniques. While there is no evidence that physical violence
or torture were emploved in connection with this interrogation, physi-
cal and psychological techniques were used in the THIRD CHANCE
experiments to exploit the subjects’ altered mental state, and to maxi-
mize the stress situation. Jacobson described these methods in his trip
report :

Stressing techniques employed included silent treatment be-
fore or after EA 1729 administration, sustained conventional
interrogation prior to EA 1729 interrogation, deprivation of
food. drink. s&oep or bodily evacuation, sustained isolation
prior to EA 1729 administration. hot-cold switches in ap-
proach. duress “pitchies™, verbal degradation and bodily dis-
comfort, or dramatized threats to subject’s life or mental
health,

Another gross violation of an individual's fandamental rights oc-
curred in September 1962 as part of the Army's DERBY HAT tests
in the Far East. A suspected Asian espionage agent was given 6
micrograms of LSD per Lilogrnm of bodyweight. The administration
of the drug was compH'ted at 1035 that morning :

At 1120, sweating became evident, his pulse became thready.
e was placed in a supine position. He began groaning with
expiration and became semicomatose.!?

" Ibid., pp. 17-18,

MUIhid ) p. 13.

"““DERBY HAT" Medical and Pharmacological Report: Case #1, 9/20/62,
p. D1o -2,
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For the next 28 minutes, the subject remained semicomatose.

At 1148, responses to painful stimuli were slightly improved.

At 1155, he was helped to a sitting position.

At 1200, he became shocky again and was returned to supine
position.

At 1212, he was more alert and able tosit up with help.

A1 1220, Subject was assisted to the interrogation table.

At 1230. he began moaning he wanted to die and usually
iznored questions. Rarely he stated “he didn’t know.”

At 1250, his phasic alertness persisted. He frequently re-
focused his eves with evelid assistance. He frequently threw
hix head back with eves closed.

At 1330, he was slightly more alert. He was forced-walked for
5 minutes. He physically would cooperate nuntil he became
shocky again (sweating. thready pulse. pale).**

For the next three hours the subject remained in about the same con-
dition. Continued attempts at interrogation yielded no relevant
answers. Six hours after receiving the drug. the subject began giving
relevant answers to guestions. Eight and one-half hours after the
initial dosage. the subject was polygraphed. The interrogation con-
tinued for scventeen and one-half hours after the drug was ad-
ministered.

There was some psvehological and medical screening of the in-
dividnals tested within the United States, in Enrope, and in
Asia. The proposal for the field experimentation in fact called for
sneh examinations. The fact of prescreening did not climinate the
rick of injury; the availability of medical stafl did. however, limit
injury and may well have prevented the deathi of one or more of the
snbjdets. A~ the medieal corps member of the team which surrepti-
tiously administered the LRI noted. “one subject .. . did collapse after
the interrogation and the presence of the medical officer was not only
of value to the subject but to the interrogation team who were thus
assured that an unnecessary untoward result would not oceur.”™

In the October 15, 1959 USAINTC stafl study. moral and legal
ramifications of covert administration of LD in field conditions were
considered.

It was always a tenet of Army Tntellicence that the basic
American prineiple of the dignity and welfare of the in-*
dividnal will not be vielated. . . . . A more meticulous regard
for the prohibition against violence or duress is taken in
practice when the suspeet is a US citizen or ally as against
an actual or potential enemy. in peace as against war. and in
respect to the nature of the erime. . . . In intelligence, the
stakes involved and the interests of national security may
perniit a more tolerant interpretation of moral-ethical values,
but not legal limits, through necessity. ... Any claim

" Ibid.. p. D10-3.
1 QI'T Trip Report, Operation THIRD CHANCE, T/25/61.p. 1.
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acainst the US Government for alleged injury due to EA
1729 must be legally shown to have been due to the material.
Proper security and appropriate operational techniques
can protect the fact of employment of EA 1720.¢

On the basis of this evaluation, the st *.1v concluded that in view of
“the stakes involved and the interests of national security,” the pro-
posed plan for field testing should be approved. ) i

The surreptitious administration of drugs to unwitting subjects by
the Army ratses serious constitutional and legal issues. The considera-
tion given these issues by the Army was wholly insufficient. The char-
acter of the Army’s volunteer testing program and the possibility that
drugs were simply substituted for other forms of violence or duress in
field interrogations raises serious doubts as to whether national se-
curity imperatives were properly interpreted. The “consent” forms
which eachh American volunteer signed prior to the administration of
LSI) are a case in point. These forms contained no mention of the
medical and psvchological risks inherent in such testing, nor do they
mention the nature of the psychotrophic drug to be administered:

The general nature of the experiments in which I have
voluinteered. liave been explained to me from the standpoint
of j7isible Lazards to'my health. /¢ is my understanding that
the experime (- are so designed, based on the results of
animals and J.i-vious human experimentation, that the antic-
ipated rcsults awill justify the performance of the experi-
ment. T understand further that experiments will be so con-
ducted as to aveid all unnecessary physical and medical
suffering and injury. and that 7 will be at liberty to request

that the cxperiments be terminated at any time if In my opin-
ion T have reached the physical or mental state where con-
tinnation of the experiments becomes undesirable.

I recognize that in the pursuit of certain experiments
transitory discomfort may occur. 1 recognize. also, that under
these circumstances, /7 must rely upon the skill and wisdom
of the physician supcrvising the exrperiment to institute what-
ever medical or surgical measures are indicated. [Emphasis

added.] »*

The exclusion of any specific discussion of the nature of I.SD in
these forms raises serious doubts as to their validity. An “understand-
mg . . . that the anticipated results will justify the performance of

“the experiment™ without full knowledgze of the nature of the experi-

ment is an incomplete “understanding.” Similarly. the nature of the
experiment limited the ability of both the subject to request its re-
quest its termination and the experimenter to implement such a request.
Finally. the enpliemistic characterization of “transitorv discomfort™
and the agreement to “rely on the skill and wisdom of the physician™
combine to conceal inherent risks in the experimentation and may be
viewed as disolving the experimenter of personal responsibility for
damaging aftereffects. In summary. a “volunteer™ program in which
subjects are not fully informed of potential hazards to their persons
is “volunteer™ in name only.

Y USAINTC staff studys, “Material Testing Program EA 1729," 10/15/59, . 26.
' Sample volunteer consent form.
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This problem was compounded by the security statements signed
by each volunteer before he participated in the testing. As part of
this statement, potential subjects agreed that they would:

. . . not divulge or make available any information related
to U.S. Army Intelligence Center interest or participation in
the Department of the Army Medical Research Volunteer
Program to any individual, nation, organization, business,
association, or other group or entity, not officially authorized
to receive such information.

I understand that any action contrary to the provisions of
this statement will render me liable to punishment under the
provisions of the Uniform Code of Military Justice.*®

Under these provisions, a volunteer experiencing aftereffects of the test
might have been unable to seek immediate medical assistance.

This disregard for the well-being of subjects drug testing is in-
excusable. Further, the absence of any comprehensive long-term
medical assistance for the subjects of these experiments is not only
unscientific; it is also unprofessional.

4. Lack of Normal Authorization and Supervision

It is apparent from documents supplied to the Committee that the
Army’s testing programs often operated under informal and nonrou-
tine authorization. Potentially dangerous operations such as these
testing programs are the very projects which ought to be subject to
the closest internal scrutiny at the highest levels of the military com-
mand structure. There are numerous examples of inadequate review,
partial consideration, and incomplete approval in the administration
of these programs.

When the first Army program to use LSD on American soldiers in
“field stations™ was authorized in May 1955, the Army violated its
own procedures in obtaining approval. Under Army Chief of Staff
Memorandum 385, such proposals were to be personally approved by
the Secretary of the Army. Although the plan was submitted to him
on Apri} 26, 1956, the Secretary issued no written authorization for
the project, and there is no evidence that he either reviewed or ap-
proved the plan. Less than a month later, the Army Chief of Staff
issued a memorandum authorizing the tests.}#

Subsequent testing of LSD under Material Testing Program EA
1729 operated generally under this authorization. When the plans for
this testing were originally discussed in early 1958 by ofticials of the
Army Intelligence Center at Fort Holabird and representatives of
the Chemieal Warfare Center at Edgewood Arsenal, an informal pro-
posal was formulated. This proposal was submitted to the Medical
Research Directorate at Edgewood by the President of the Army In-
telligence Board on June 3, 1958, There is no evidence that the plan
was approved at any level higher than the President of the Intelhi-
gence Board or the Commanding General of Edgewood. The approval
at Edgewood appears to have been issued by the Commander’s Adju-
tant. The Medieal Research Laboratories did not submit the plan to
the Surgeon General for approval (a standard procedure) because

W Lample Volunteer Securits Statement, ) . .
= Inspector General of the Army Report, “Use of Volunteers in Chemical

Agent Research,” 3710 76, p. 1090,




il

99
419

the new program was ostensibly covered by the authorizations granted
in May 1956.'% .

The two projects involving the operational use of LSD (THIRD
CHANCE and DERBY HAT) were apparently approved by the
Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelligence (General Willems) on
December 7, 1960.'** This verbal approval came in the course of a
briefing on previous drug programs and on the planned field experi-
mentation. There is no record of written approval being issued by the
ACSI to ruthorize these specific projects until January 1961, and
there is no record of any specific knowledge or approval by the Secre-
tary of the Army.

On February 4, 1963, Major General C. F. Leonard, Army ACSI,
forwarded a copy of the THIRD CHANCE Trip Report to Army
Chief of Staff, General Earl Wheeler. *** Wheeler had apparently
requested a copy on February 2. The report was routed through a Gen-
cral Hamlett. While this report included background on the origins
of the LSD tests, it appears that General Wheeler may only have read
the conclusion and recommendations.’** The office memorandum
accompanying the Trip Report bears Wheeler's initials,??s :

5. Termination of Testing

On April 10, 1963, a briefing was held in the ACSI’s office on the
results of Projects THIRD CHANCE and DERBY HAT. Both
SPT's concluded that more field testing was required before LSD
could be utilized as an integral aid to counterintelligence interroga-
tions. During the presentation of the DERBY HAT results, General
Leonard (Deputy ACSI) directed that no further field testing be
undertaken.'?® A fter this meeting the ACSI sent a letter to the Com-
manding General of the Army Combat Developments Command
(CDC) requesting that he review THIRD CHANCE and DERBY
HAT and “make a net evaluation concerning the adoption of EA 1729
for future use as an eflective and profitable aid in counterintelligence
interrogations.” *” On the same day the ACSI requested that the CDC
Commander revise regulation FM 30-17 to read in part:

. in no instance will drugs be used as an aid to interro-
gations in counterintelligence or security operations without
prior permission of the Department of the Army. Requests
to use drugs as an investigative aid will be forwarded through
intellizence channels to the QACSI, DA, for approval. . ..

Medical research has established that information obtained
through the use of these drugs is unreliable and invalid. ...

It 1s considered that DA [Army] approval must be a pre-
requisite for use of such drugs because of the moral, legal,
medical and political problems inherent in their use for intel-
ligence purposes.'®

! I'bid., pp. 135. 137, 138.

7 Mehovsky Fact Sheet. 12/9/60.

B Memorandum from Leonard to Wheeler, 2/4/63.

:: fGS memorandum to Wheeler through Hamlett, 2/5/63.
bid,

" Maj. F. Baruett. memorandum for the record. &/12/63.

:: )’gx‘nlmki memorandum for the recor